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Financial Summary

HBRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR FeReEREItZEAKEE
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

2023 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT

Revenue
Gross Profit
Profit for the year

Profit attributable to
owners of the parent

BREIEAA

412,004 314,054 284,440 213,629 121,569

251,335 212,741 200,734 156,236 77,190
251,760 126,421 45,245 85,197 31,270
242,301 117,321 40,616 85,197 31,270

* The data of 2019 is extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated — * 20194 & ¥R f 8% 8 A 7] A Bl B20214F6

30 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”).

HIOEMHERER(BRER]D -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL FEeEMBRAE

POSITION

As at 31 December
M12H831H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTIT AREFT T ARBT T ARKTT

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Total equity

* The data of 2019 is extracted from the Prospectus.

FRBEE

mMEEEFE

FRBEME

Bk

321,228 251,502 102,572 18,697 12,766

4,572,588 4,351,727 4,012,989 208,362 101,033

189,772 132,746 113,207 64,078 44,991

4,382,816 4,218,981 3,899,782 144,284 56,042

58,842 38,569 30,161 11,667 2,576

4,645,202 4,431,914 3,972,193 151,414 66,232

* 2019F BIEMBAHKER -

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf



Chairman’s Statement

EERWE

Dear shareholders,

In 2023, following the full relaxation of COVID-19 pandemic
control measures, we experienced a complete recovery of social
life and economic activities. Against this backdrop, the medical
system further advanced its reform and embarked on a new
journey towards high-quality development. During the year, we
witnessed the revitalization and innovation-driven growth of the
healthcare industry.

Capitalizing on the industry transformation and market
opportunities, Medlive has consistently upheld a spirit of
innovation and a pragmatic attitude, enhancing the integration
of technology and healthcare. We are committed to providing
high-quality medical information services, supporting physicians
in making more accurate clinical decisions. Our self-developed
Medlive platform, with its high-quality professional medical
content and extensive product tools, has gained the trust of
a vast number of physicians in China. In 2023, the number of
registered users of the platform reached a record high of 6.8
million, including over 4 million licensed physicians, accounting
for 87% of the total number of licensed physicians in China.
The Medilive platform has not only become a powerful tool for
physicians in clinical diagnosis, learning, and research but also
has allowed us to play a significant role in precise academic
education conducted by pharmaceutical and medical device
companies.

Over the year, we witnessed the rigorous implementation of
regulatory policies in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly
the concentrated efforts to combat corruption in the medical
field, building a solid defence for the healthy development of
the industry. In addition, the normalization of policies such as
volume-based procurement and medical insurance negotiations
has brought new opportunities for the research and launch
of innovative drugs. It has also encouraged pharmaceutical
companies to focus on marketing efficiency, thus accelerating
the development of digital marketing in the pharmaceutical
industry.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report
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In 2023, Medlive leveraged opportunities to achieve steady
growth, recording an increase in both business revenue
and profit. Our strategic investments continued to yield
satisfactory outcomes, further enriching and enhancing our
solutions for pharmaceutical and medical device companies.
Drawing upon our long-term experience in serving physicians,
patients, and pharmaceutical and medical device enterprises
in China, coupled with our robust research and development
and operational capabilities, we have built a comprehensive
ecosystem in the medical industry. This ecosystem not
only helps pharmaceutical and medical device companies
in enhancing industry recognition and promoting medical
exchange but also provides them with a one-stop closed-loop
solution integrating research, formulation of marketing strategy,
and implementation, performance evaluation, tracking and
improvement of marketing plans.

Technological innovation remains the core driving force of our
growth. In 2023, we focused on the research and development
and application of Al technology. Our self-developed Al large
models for specific verticals have been applied in various critical
scenarios and have successfully achieved commercialization.
These models not only assist in improving internal efficiency and
provide more professional, comprehensive information support
and intelligent interaction experiences for physicians and
patients but also enhance the efficiency of pharmaceutical and
medical device companies in patient education and academic
promotion.

Looking ahead, we will continue to refine and enrich our
products and solutions based on the needs of pharmaceutical
and medical device companies through technological
innovation. We firmly believe that digital medical marketing will
usher in huge development opportunities. We look forward to
progressing with all shareholders, jointly witnessing the growth
and achievements of Medlive, delivering sustainable returns to
shareholders, and creating greater value for the society.

Tian Liping
Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

25 March 2024
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Business Overview and Outlook

RERERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

2023 was the first year after the full release of COVID-19
epidemic control measures by the central government. It was
also the year of fully promoting the reform of the medical
system and quality development. At the beginning of the year,
hospital diagnosis and treatment returned to normal, which
brought recovery to the industry. During the year, regulatory
policies for the pharmaceutical industry were frequently issued,
and in particular, the centralized rectification of corruption in
the pharmaceutical sector was launched across the country,
providing a strong safeguard for the long-term and healthy
development of the industry. The normalization of volume-based
procurement and medical insurance negotiation policies has,
on the one hand, created a more favorable environment and
opportunities for pharmaceutical innovation and promoted
the launch and commercialization of innovative drugs. On the
other hand, pharmaceutical and medical device companies
were required to pay more attention to the improvement of its
marketing efficiency, which further stimulated the increasing
demand for precise digital academic education to physicians,
and the pharmaceutical digital marketing industry continued to
develop.

As the leading online professional physician platform in China,
the Group has focused on using technology to support
physicians’ clinical decision making for over 20 years. Our
self-developed Medlive platform is widely recognized by
physicians and other medical professionals in China and has
become the most popular professional medical platform. As
of 31 December 2023, the number of registered users through
our website, desktop application and mobile application was
approximately 6.8 million, over 4.0 million of whom were
licensed physicians in China, representing approximately 87% of
the total number of licensed physicians in China as of the same
date.

With its high-quality professional medical content and rich
medical tools, our Medlive platform meets the three major
needs of physicians in clinical diagnosis, professional learning
and medical research, and is embedded in the daily scenarios
of many physicians in China. In 2023, the average MAUs (without
duplication) of the Medlive platform reached 2.4 million. With a
relatively high coverage rate among Chinese physician users and
relatively high MAUs on our platform, we have a solid foundation
for developing precision marketing solutions.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report
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In 2023, we continued to expand in strategic investments by
further expanding the scope and coverage of our solution
offerings to pharmaceutical and medical device companies.
Relying on the professional advantages of the investee
companies in their segments, coupled with the Group’s
long-term experience and insights in serving Chinese physicians,
patients and pharmaceutical and medical device companies,
as well as its strong R&D and operational capabilities, we are
committed to developing a healthcare ecosystem encompassing
clinical institutions, industry experts, diverse R&D institutions,
patient organizations, and government regulatory bodies. Our
mission is to empower pharmaceutical and medical device
companies to enhance their market recognitions and foster
medical collaboration. In addition, we were able to establish
cooperation with pharmaceutical and medical device companies
in the early stages of product strategy analysis and market
research, and provide forward-looking research and timely
feedback for the implementation of the Group’s digital marketing
solutions through surveys. A one-stop closed-loop integrated
solution was provided to our customers, which covers
comprehensive surveys research, formulation of marketing
strategies, execution of marketing proposals, effectiveness
evaluation, tracking and improvement. As a result, the Group’s
competitive barriers in the pharmaceutical and medical device
companies market has been deepened, and a new growth
driver of our revenue has been formed.

In recent years, artificial intelligence (Al) technology has
developed rapidly. As a high-tech enterprise, Medlive attaches
great importance to the seamless integration of technology
and healthcare, and accelerates the application of advanced
technologies in the healthcare field. Since our inception, we
are committed to applying advanced technologies to various
scenarios that physicians need in their daily work, such as
diagnosis, medication, ward rounds, medical conferences,
medical knowledge retrieval, research writing, patient
management and education. We provide physicians with
comprehensive clinical decision-making support, effectively
solve clinical and scientific research problems faced by
physicians, and help them improve work efficiency. In 2023,
we proactively built a vertical Al model based on the needs
of the Group’s business development. By integrating the
extensive professional knowledge and practical experience of
the healthcare industry into the training and fine-tuning process
of large models, we have rapidly promoted the application of
Al technology in key scenarios such as medical translation,

Business Overview and Outlook
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Business Overview and Outlook

RERERRE

medical information search and the organization and collation
of medical literature. In addition, we have successfully
commercialized the generative Al technology. For example,
our independently developed intelligent medical consulting
system, Medlive 3.0, which provides physicians, patients
and other medical professionals with more professional and
comprehensive information support and intelligent interactive
experience. It can accurately and quickly provide academic
information on problems encountered by physicians in clinical
practice, improving loyalty and operational efficiency of
physicians. Moreover, Medlive 3.0 can also provide support
for pharmaceutical and medical device companies in terms of
employees training and improvement of human efficiency.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group’s revenue was approximately RMB412.0
million, representing an increase of 31.2% as compared with
the same period last year. While expanding revenue, the
Group continuously enhanced its profitability. The Group’s net
profit increased by 99.1% from RMB126.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to RMB251.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The net profit margin increased
from approximately 40.3% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 61.1% for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing an increase of 20.8 percentage points.
The adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately RMB271.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately 86.8% as compared with approximately
RMB145.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
adjusted net profit margin for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately 65.8%, representing an increase of
19.6 percentage points as compared with approximately 46.2%
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Precision marketing and corporate solutions

The majority of the Group’s revenue comes from precision
marketing solutions, which provide digital medical marketing
services to pharmaceutical and medical device companies.
Attributable to the post-pandemic resumption of regular
diagnosis and treatments at hospitals, paired with the
expedited approval process for new drugs, the product sales
and marketing activities of pharmaceutical and medical device
companies have regained momentum rapidly. In response

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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to the market needs, the precision marketing and corporate
solutions provided by the Group empowered our customers
to maintain consistent engagement of physicians throughout
the whole lifecycle of pharmaceutical and medical devices and
provide compliant, precise and effective academic training for
physicians, and have been widely recognized by customers
in the industry. In 2023, the number of customers of these
solutions was 182, increased by 40.0% as compared with 130
in 2022. At the same time, the number of products covered
increased steadily from 284 in 2022 to 386 in 2023. The
growing number of products has allowed us to further convert
registered physician users on the platform into engaged targeted
physicians. The number of engaged targeted physicians
increased from 627,000 in 2022 to 774,000 in 2023. At the
same time, the number of paid clicks also increased from 7.2
million times in 2022 to 9.7 million times in 2023. As a result, for
the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group’s
precision marketing and corporate solutions increased by 29.3%
to RMB372.7 million from RMB288.2 million in the same period
of 2022.

We conduct thorough analysis of the academic features and
life cycle of pharmaceutical and medical device products,
and provide effective and results-oriented precision digital
marketing services. Our digital precision marketing services
offer solutions covering the whole process including the
research and formulation of medical strategy, analysis of
learning profile for experts and specialists, digital production
of educational content, event design and execution, precise
distribution of digital educational content and evaluation of
results. We establish a fully integrated internet ecosystem
through Medlive, connecting all channels including websites,
mobile APPs, WeChat and other social media accounts,
online communities and electronic newsletters. We build a
database system that encompasses massive amount of data on
browsing behavior of physicians, forming rich digital behavior
and cognitive profiles of physicians. Our disease knowledge
base platform is a content aggregation platform as well as a
personal behavior data platform for physicians. Starting from
this platform, we can radiate to various scenarios including
clinical research, information browsing, guideline learning, case
discussion, patient education, internet diagnosis and treatment
and academic conferences. Based on comprehensive and rich
insights into physicians, we use Al technology to establish an
analysis and content recommendation engine for physicians’
online learning. The model not only meets their personalized
learning needs for clinical knowledge and experience, but also
effectively supports the digital education of clinical physicians

Business Overview and Outlook
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Business Overview and Outlook

RERERRE

throughout the entire lifecycle of pharmaceutical and medical
device products in core, intermediate and basic markets. This
empowers the pharmaceutical and medical device companies to
selectively and precisely deliver content to targeted physicians
at their preferred times and through their preferred channels.

We charge the pharmaceutical and medical device companies
based on the number of clicks on their paid content engaged
by targeted physicians. With this solution’s precise access
to Chinese physicians and efficient academic education,
our marketing efficiency has been significantly improved.
For example, in 2023, we cooperated with a pharmaceutical
company on a certain tumor treatment drug. We formulated
a medical strategy and online education plan based on target
physician portraits and initial surveys, focusing on objective
academic diagnosis and treatment information to improve
physicians’ awareness of key drug information in a targeted
manner, break their prescription bottleneck and thereby bringing
changes to their prescribing behavior. We quantify the effect of
precise academic education to customers through real-time data
feedback, which helps them expand their markets efficiently. It
also helps us strengthen our collaboration with our customers
and obtain more marketing budgets from them.

We also offer various corporate solutions that enable
(i) pharmaceutical and medical device companies to
cost-effectively conduct market research; and (i) pharmaceutical
and medical device companies, hospitals and other
stakeholders of the healthcare industry to improve the efficiency
of clinical trials and medical research. In 2023, we leveraged
the brand image of the Medlive platform in the clinical research
field, as well as the close collaboration with pharmaceutical
and medical device companies before and after product
launch, to develop real-world studies (“RWS”), trial design and
protocol writing, medical monitoring and article support, data
management and statistics and scientific research services
for physicians, and have achieved progress in the fields of
oncology, hematology, neurology, pediatrics and cardiovascular
disease.

In recent years, RWS has entered a period of rapid development
and has become an important means of forming medical
evidence in supporting the registration of innovative drugs
and medical devices, expanding indications, revising usage
instructions and assessing medical insurance eligibility.
Pharmaceutical and medical device companies urgently
need clinical research service providers with solid clinical
research experience, digital clinical trial systems and close
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cooperation with clinical physicians to provide efficient RWS
services aimed at generating evidence-based support. In
2023, with its solid foundation and advantages in healthcare,
the Group’s clinical research team continued to expand
project management, clinical operation and data statistics.
Our business has developed rapidly, and clinical trial digital
systems have continued to play a role in clinical research
practice. By relying on our team’s extensive industry experience
in drug pre-launch and post-launch clinical research, solid
medical and statistical capabilities and clinical operation
capabilities to target difficulties and pain points of clinical
research, we provide customized research designs and efficient
solutions. Decentralized clinical trial (DCT) system, digital
patient follow-up system, patient management system based
on big data, centralized monitoring and remote monitoring,
Al equipped journal selection, clinical research center
selection, feasibility assessment, patient recruitment, patient
follow-up, data collection, data quality control and auxiliary
publication, etc., all use digital tools to practice and explore the
efficiency improvement of clinical research, and also provide
empowerment for the execution of the Group’s precision
marketing solutions. Based on our in-depth understanding
of scientific research of clinical physicians, we also provided
support for clinical research (IIT) initiated by many high-level
researchers in 2023.

In the first half of 2023, we established the Medlive Oncology
Clinical Science Committee (ERBEEBRAKABEZET).
The committee gathers top-tier experts from various fields,
such as gastrointestinal cancer, hematological malignancies,
urological cancer, melanoma, lung cancer, breast cancer, and
gynecological cancer. Building upon the extensive collaborations
established between the Group and pharmaceutical companies,
the committee reinforces our business foundation in areas
including clinical research of oncology drugs guided by clinical
science, clinical development strategies for innovative drugs,
clinical science advisory boards, medical monitoring, training for
clinical development, and cultivation of medical professionals.
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In July 2023, we established a profound strategic cooperation
with the Hainan Boao Lecheng International Medical Tourism
Pilot Zone Administration. This collaboration will capitalize on
the policy advantages of the “pioneering and trial” approach
in the Lecheng Pilot Zone, using our advanced and dynamic
medical platform as the driving force, to jointly create the
“Lecheng Pilot Zone Perpetual Pharmaceutical and Medical
Device Exhibition and Academic Platform” (£ 4t 17 [& sk 7 &
BEMES FEMES). It will provide efficient, professional
and compliant services for physicians across the country to
better understand and use pharmaceutical and medical device
products in the Lecheng Pilot Zone, establishing a fast lane
for medical exchanges and interactions between physicians
and patients nationwide. By utilizing the “Medlive Integrated
System” (BxBELE — (L Z#t) to connect physicians and
patients within and beyond the Lecheng Pilot Zone, we will meet
patients’ demand for the use of special pharmaceutical products
in Lecheng and connect real-world data inside and outside the
island. We will also provide real-world research services based
on the integration of clinical research capabilities of the Hainan
Institute of Real World Research (8 & & & it 57 8 i1 75 )
and Medlive, enabling us to become an important convergence
point of domestic and international dual circulation in terms of
pharmaceutical, medical device and clinical science innovations.

Medical knowledge solutions

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the
needs of physicians for continuing medical education and
clinical decision support and the needs of other healthcare
professionals for professional medical information. The Group’s
medical knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge
and intelligent tools through multiple user-friendly channels,
including its website, mobile applications, desktop applications,
WeChat mini-programs and WeChat official accounts. On
the back of the disease knowledge database of the Medlive
Knowledge Base, the Group expanded its clinical decision
support products from cancers to cover other diseases and
areas such as cardiovascular, endocrine, vestibular medicine,
neurological infectious, mental, respiratory, digestive, obstetrics
and pediatrics diseases. These coupled with the other clinical
guides and clinical drug reference tools offered by the Group
provide physicians with a more comprehensive clinical decision
support tool at the point of care, helping them to give diagnosis
and treatment in an effective and efficient manner.
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To further enhance our service quality and gain a deeper
understanding of the needs of physicians, we issued the second
report of the Survey on Digital Life of Clinical Physicians in
China (P B R /K 8 £ 8 F £ EFH)) recently. The survey
collected data from 7,980 clinical physicians, covering more
than 50 departments across 31 provincial administrative
regions in mainland China. Based on insights into physicians’
digital lifestyle in 2022, this report further deepens the analysis
of physicians’ online behavior, digital marketing awareness,
scientific research activities and patient management and
education. In addition, taking into account the in-depth
implementation of the medical anti-corruption policy in 2023
and the significant progress of large model technology, we
have an in-depth study on challenges and pain points faced by
physicians in key areas such as scientific research, learning,
diagnosis and treatment and patient management. Physicians
also anticipate that the large model can empower and meet
their needs. Such insights will guide us in optimizing academic
information services for clinical physicians and ensuring that our
services are more accurate and efficient.

The Group further consolidated our platform advantage by
continuously enriching the professional medical content on our
Medlive platform to maintain the relatively high coverage and
engagement of physician users. With the increasing maturity and
popularity of Al technology, we have conducted in-depth review
and improvement of the entire platform content to provide users
with easier-to-use products and experiences. In 2023, more
than 400 new disease knowledge entries were added to our
Medlive Knowledge Base, bringing the total number of entries to
more than 1,200. Among them, books based on the vestibular
disease knowledge base had already been published, and the
disease knowledge base in cardiovascular and other fields
was also in the process of being published. In terms of clinical
guidelines, we have strengthened our strategic cooperation with
the Chinese Medical Association, Wanfang Medical Database,
NCCN (National Comprehensive Cancer Network of the United
States) and ASCO (American Society of Clinical Oncology),
and added more than 5,000 clinical guidelines to the Medlive
platform. The number of clinical guidelines of the Medlive
platform increased to 28,000. We also cooperated with many
domestic experts to formulate the Chinese version of NCCN
clinical guidelines, integrating guidelines, drugs and disease
knowledge bases to achieve an integrated intelligent retrieval to
improve the efficiency of physicians’ clinical decision-making.
In terms of medication reference, we have added more than
3,000 entries on common drug interactions and more than
4,500 entries on medications for special groups to assist clinical
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physicians and pharmacists in using drugs more rationally and
safely. Our video platform, eBroadcasting, completed the text
translation of 70,000 videos and corrected the content through
large model technology. The accuracy of the text is over 98%,
enabling users to search for video contents and quickly learn
the essence of videos.

In order to better enhance the scientific research capability
of Chinese physicians, we continue to step up our strategic
layout in the field of scientific research and accelerate the
deployment of “scientific research efficiency enhancement”
products, in order to allow digital technology to better assist
clinical research. We launched the eClinicalResearch platform,
aiming to support physicians’ scientific research to be more
efficient through technology, continuously expand the service
model for physicians and improve the service level of the
platform. In 2023, we upgraded the eMedical Papers Service
platform, introducing the SCI manuscript submission feature
with intelligent journal selection services specially designed
for physicians aiming to publish their research findings in core
journals. Leveraging the strength of artificial intelligence (Al)
technologies, our platform empowers physicians to select the
most suitable journals, thus increasing the success rate of
publication and overcoming the challenges of journal selection
and submission. In addition, we have embedded & £ Xt £
into the large Al model and launched a new intelligent literature
assistant to support document summarization, interpretation
and PDF document translation. Furthermore, we have added
functions such as Al expansion and Al polishing of academic
writing to help users improve their scientific research efficiency
more intelligently.

Since 2022, the Group has entered into cooperation with the
National Health Commission’s Capacity Building and Continuing
Education Center. In the first half of 2023, we conducted
research to understand the specific needs and current
conditions of oncologists across county-level institutions.
Through the research, we gained insights into the establishment
of oncology departments, talent development, prevalent tumor
types, available treatment options, and the requirements for
ongoing education and training in these regions. Based on the
findings, we co-published the Research Report on the State of
Oncology Diagnosis and Treatment in County Areas of China
(KR ZEEREZHERMAIRE)). Based on the report,
the two parties jointly formulated a county oncologist capacity
training strategy, which mainly includes the “ £ ” expert
team training program, that is, on a provincial basis, tertiary
hospitals are set as training bases, and county hospitals are
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set as cultivation bases, using mentoring model to improve
the capabilities of primary oncologists. There are also expert
grassroots ward round clinic plans, case competition plans, and
tumor surgery observation and teaching programs. In 2023, we
completed the launch of standardized training bases for tumor
treatment in various hospitals. It is expected that the base
construction of at least 60 hospitals will be completed in the
next three years.

Intelligent patient management solutions

The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive single disease management services, including
(i) monitoring and improving management services of diseases
knowledge dissemination and treatment compliance to patients
through Internet hospital; and (ii) condition-specific patient
education services in collaboration with non-profit organizations.
We connect physicians and patients by disease types, and
provide physicians with management tools and medical contents
through an innovative full-course disease management platform
to help clinical physicians to make diagnosis and manage
patients accurately and efficiently, and improve patients’ return
consultation rate and medication compliance. In addition, it
provides patients with online diagnosis and treatment, disease
education, patient management and other services, ultimately
improving the patients’ quality of life and benefiting the
patients. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s chronic disease
management services platform had accumulated approximately
377,000 users and in addition approximately 105,000
participating physicians.

As the number of our patients increases, the effects of
intelligent patient management solutions are gradually becoming
apparent, and successful cases continue to emerge. For
example, we provide integrated physician-patient services in the
central nervous system (CNS) field for a large pharmaceutical
company. Based on the characteristics and life cycle of the
customer’s drug in this disease field, together with the clinical
manifestations and diagnosis and treatment issues of the
disease, on the one hand, we conducted physician education
to improve the level of standardized diagnosis and treatment.
On the other hand, physicians within the project were invited
to cooperate in patient management. We have established an
exclusive patient group for each physician with a single disease,
and provided medical assistance to help answer questions and
solve patients’ problems in a timely manner. We continued to
carry out systematic, targeted and multi-form patient education
interactions based on the pain points of physicians and patients.
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During the implementation of the solution, we promptly reported
patient needs and interactive effects in an organized manner
to physicians to dynamically optimize the management plan.
After a period of physician-patient management, the return
consultation rate of patients and the average dosage and
frequency of medication have increased significantly.

In 20283, to further enhance patients’ satisfaction with online
consultations and address the challenges of limited high-end
medical resources, our Internet hospital launched the “ & 4/ 77"
expert video consultation platform. This platform congregates
numerous clinical experts with deputy chief titles or above from
China’s top 100 hospitals. Through video consultations, we
aim to closely replicate the experience of an in-person hospital
visit, thus enhancing the overall user experience for healthcare
consultation. Users can easily browse and select from a roster
of qualified physicians on the platform, ensuring they can obtain
reliable and timely responses to their health concerns.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In the ever-changing healthcare industry, opportunities and
challenges coexist. In order to maintain and strengthen the
Group’s leading position in the industry, we plan to make full
use of our existing advantages and resources and continue to
develop our business with the strategy of “horizontal expansion
+ vertical extension”.

° Horizontal expansion — Specialized construction
and operation by department

Specialty classification management: We will continue
to enrich the professional medical information and product
tools on the Group’s Medlive platform, expand our
businesses by specialty and disease classification, conduct
in-depth research on disease types and related innovative
pharmaceutical and medical device products, and enhance
the professionalism of specialized content. We will also
provide full life cycle digital solutions for different disease
segments and treatment fields. For example, in the field
of pain, we have newly opened a pain specialist channel
and a WeChat official account. In the field of oncology,
we have reached a strategic cooperation with the Chinese
Anti-Cancer Association and will further strengthen the
provision of the latest clinical guidelines, medication
references and clinical research development for specialists
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related to various tumor types, thereby helping to improve
the diagnosis and treatment capabilities of doctors in this
field, and driving the development of clinical, scientific
research, patient education and other aspects.

Expert resource integration: We will build an expert
resource database by department and integrate the
data, research results and clinical experience of experts
in various fields. By working closely with such experts,
we will be able to provide physicians with higher quality
academic resources and clinical guidance. For example,
based on expert resources in the field of neurology,
we expand the participation and coverage of oncology
IT research, combine the clinical research training of
physicians with the implementation of clinical research, and
superimpose the advantages of our strong medical team to
form a comprehensive healthcare support, covering from
formulation of clinical research strategy to generation of
clinical research evidence.

Specialty patient management: We will continue to
connect physicians and patients by disease type and
continue to expand disease coverage and the number of
patients. Based on our service experience in specialized
fields and the recognition of the majority of physicians
in China, we will leverage our advantages in product
research and development and patient management to
provide physicians with management tools and medical
content, and effectively promote physicians to participate
in patient education and management. In the future, we will
continue to expand into other cancers, chronic diseases,
rare diseases and other disease areas on the basis of our
existing coverage of breast cancer, lung cancer, lymphoma,
diabetes, Parkinson’s, stroke and other diseases.

Collaboration between specialties: Specialties on the
Medlive platform are relatively independent but closely
coordinated. We will continue to explore and strengthen
cross-specialty connections and cooperation through
in-depth understanding of the characteristics and needs
of each specialty. Various specialties can share resources,
physician insights and product tools. In addition, we will
also use advanced technological means, such as Al and
big data, to deeply explore the interconnections between
specialties and improve service efficiency.
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Vertical extension — Extending the drug life cycle
from marketing to the upstream and downstream of
the value chain

Expanding our customer coverage: We will closely
follow the trend of digital transformation of pharmaceutical
and medical device companies and continue to leverage
the unique advantages of our online professional
physician platform. We will further expand our coverage
of pharmaceutical and medical device companies users.
In particular, in the field of innovative drugs and medical
devices, we will further leverage the advantages of
the Medlive platform in supporting clinical research of
physicians, integrate academic resources from various
associations and academic leaders in various specialty
fields, and capitalize on our platform’s extensive physicians
resources to help pharmaceutical and medical device
companies promote professional academic content in both
core markets and the vast primary market. Efforts will be
made to enhance customer loyalty through high-quality
service levels, attracting more digital marketing expenditure
from pharmaceutical and medical device companies.

Enriching our solutions: Based on the Group’s
advantages in precision marketing, we will further expand
our solutions that focus on the needs of pharmaceutical
and medical device companies in medicine, clinical
research and other aspects, thereby gaining more
budget share from our customers. In particular, we will
continue to invest in developing comprehensive solutions
which comprise medical strategy, market strategy and
multi-channel digital strategy. By capitalizing on the
increasing demand for clinical research in the industry,
we will further extend the depth and breadth of clinical
research services, provide more extensive support
to pharmaceutical and medical device companies in
accumulating evidence through RWS, and support clinical
decision-making and marketing. Patient management has
increasingly become an important need of pharmaceutical
and medical device companies. We will also further
improve our “patient-centered” integrated medical service
that supports the entire life cycle of drugs, including digital
patient community management, patient management
based on internet hospitals, patient call centers, patient
self-management tools, patient education knowledge
bases, patient assistance services, physician-patient and
patient-patient interaction tools as well as patient surveys.
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Making strategic investments and mergers and
acquisitions: By taking advantage of the platform
advantages and financial advantages as a listed company,
we will explore strategic partnerships and integrate
industry resources through investments and acquisitions.
Leveraging our proprietary platform of professional
physicians and based on our existing business, we wil
actively seek quality target enterprises that possess high
synergies with the Group and conduct business integration
after acquisition. We will continue to leverage our
advantages and industry insights in physician resources,
medical content, product research and development
and user management, grow together with our investee
companies, and further consolidate the Group’s leading
position in the industry

Business Overview and Outlook
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2023, the Group generated revenue from three solution
categories, namely (i) precision marketing and corporate
solutions; (i) medical knowledge solutions; and (iii) intelligent
patient management solutions. The Group’s revenue increased
by approximately 31.2% from approximately RMB314.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB412.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to
the revenue increase from its precision marketing and corporate
solutions.

Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions

Revenue from precision marketing solutions is primarily derived
from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare customers for the
Group’s digital detailing, digital marketing consulting and digital
content creation services. Revenue from corporate solutions
is primarily derived from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare
customers for its digital market research, electronic data capture
("EDC”) and clinical data management system (“CDMS”)
solutions, RWS support solutions, patient recruitment service,
as well as application software development service related to
precision marketing and corporate solutions.

Revenue from precision marketing and corporate solutions
increased by approximately 29.3% from approximately
RMB288.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB372.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to (i) an expansion of the Group’s
healthcare customer base from 130 for the year ended 31
December 2022 to 182 for the year ended 31 December 2023;
and (ii) an increase of number of healthcare products marketed
using the Group’s precision marketing and corporate solutions
from 284 for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 386 for the
year ended 31 December 2023, resulting from user growth and
increased user engagement as illustrated by the increase in the
number of paid clicks from approximately 7.2 million in 2022 to
approximately 9.7 million in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Medical Knowledge Solutions

Revenue from medical knowledge solutions is primarily
derived from provision of professional medical information
covering continuing medical education and clinical decision
support, including licensing software to physicians, other
registered users, including other healthcare professionals, and
pharmaceutical companies. Revenue from medical knowledge
solutions increased by approximately 31.6% from approximately
RMB12.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB16.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, primarily due to the Group’s increased offerings of
medical knowledge products as well as the introduction of a
variety of membership marketing methods, effectively increasing
the unit price of users.

Intelligent Patient Management Solutions

Revenue from intelligent patient management solutions was
primarily derived from fees paid by non-profit organizations
with medical focus and pharmaceutical companies for
provision of patient education services to patients and non-
profit organizations, including content development, application
software development and other related services. The Group
also started to generate revenue from commissions on fees paid
by patients for online consultation services and prescription
services on its Internet hospital since the first half of 2021.
Revenue from intelligent patient management solutions
increased by approximately 70.2% from approximately RMB13.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB23.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly
because the single-disease patient management platform
established by the Group has achieved initial results and scale.
While academically educating physicians and improving the level
of standardized medical care, the platform effectively connects
physicians and patients to scientifically and efficiently implement
patient management and education services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) employee benefit
expenses relating to salaries and benefits for employees involved
in operating the Group’s platform and developing content; (ii)
content development cost primarily relating to fees paid to
content contributors and service fees paid to content production
service providers; (iii) technology service fees relating to cloud
content delivery network and telecommunication services as
well as licensing fees; and (iv) other expenses primarily relating
to consulting fees, equipment rental expenses, travel and
transportation expenses. The Group’s cost of sales increased by
approximately 58.6% from approximately RMB101.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB160.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was
primarily due to the fact that (i) in 2023, the cost ratio of newly
acquired subsidiaries and clinical research projects is higher
than that of traditional precision marketing projects, resulting in
a higher rate of growth in cost as compared with the growth rate
of revenue; and (i) the number of offline meetings has increased
in 2023, and the cost ratio of offline meetings are higher than
that of online meetings.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased
by approximately 18.1% to approximately RMB251.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB212.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Group’s gross profit margin was approximately 61.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which decreased compared
to the gross profit margin of 67.7% for the year ended 31
December 2022.

OTHER INCOME

Other income and gains primarily consist of (i) bank interest
income; (ii) investment income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and (iii) government subsidy. The Group
recorded other income and gains of approximately RMB188.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, compared to
approximately RMB75.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The increase was primarily attributable to (i) a substantial
increase in interest income derived from bank deposits as a
result of repeated increase in market interest rates during 2022;
and (i) recognition of government subsidy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily consist
of (i) expenses for promotion activities to drive user growth
and engagement; (i) employee benefit expenses relating to
salaries and benefits for employees in selling and distribution
functions; and (iii) other expenses primarily relating to business
development expenses. The Group’s selling and distribution
expenses increased by approximately 13.4% from approximately
RMB28.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB32.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, primarily due to an increase in the number of the Group’s
sales personnel.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of (i)
research and development costs primarily relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in research and development
functions; (i) employee benefit expenses relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in management as well as general
and administrative functions; (iii) depreciation of assets,
which includes depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to
the Group’s leases and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment; (iv) taxes and surcharges; (v) maintenance expenses
primarily relating to technology and telecommunication service
fees, as well as service fees for outsourced administrative
services; and (vi) other expenses primarily relating to rent, travel
and transportation expenses and general office expenses. The
Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
18.0% from approximately RMB122.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB144.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to recognition of
(i) increased expenses in maintaining and upgrading the Medlive
platform, in particular, the investment in vertical large models
in the medical field has increased; and (i) increase in research
and development fees, while other administrative expenses have
been effectively controlled.
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FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs consist of interest on lease liabilities.
Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the lease
periods so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liabilities for each period. Lease
liabilities decrease over the periods of the leases, resulting in
higher finance costs at the beginning of lease periods. The
Group’s finance costs decreased from approximately RMBO0.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMBO0.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit Before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit before tax
increased by approximately 87.5% from approximately
RMB135.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB253.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expense decreased by approximately
84.1% from approximately RMB8.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB1.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, primarily because the share
options granted under the pre-IPO share option scheme started
to vest and were exercised since July 2022 and the number of
share options exercised in 2023 was more than that for 2022.
The share-based compensation is deductible for income tax
purposes, resulting in lower income tax expenses in 2023 as
compared with 2022.

Profit for the Year and Profit Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased by approximately 99.1% from approximately
RMB126.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB251.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the Group’s profit attributable to owners
of the parent increased by approximately 106.5% from
approximately RMB117.3 million to approximately RMB242.3
million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s net profit margin (calculated on the basis of the
profit for the year) increased by 20.8 percentage points from
40.3% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 61.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Non-HKFRS Measures — Adjusted Net Profit

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements
which are presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), the Company also used
unaudited non-HKFRS adjusted net profit as an additional
financial measure in order to evaluate its financial performance
by eliminating the impact of items that it does not consider
indicative of the performance of its business. The term “adjusted
net profit” is not defined under HKFRS. Other companies in the
industry which the Group operates in may calculate such non-
HKFRS item differently from the Group. The use of adjusted net
profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted
net profit does not include all items that impact the Group’s net
profit for the Reporting Year and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s results as
reported under HKFRS.

The following table sets out the calculation of adjusted net profit
for the years indicated:
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The adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023,
adjusted by excluding share-based compensation to key
employees, fair value adjustment of contingent consideration
and foreign exchange difference, was approximately RMB271.1
million, increased by approximately 86.8% as compared
to approximately RMB145.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The adjusted net profit margin for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately 65.8%, up 19.6
percentage points from approximately 46.2% for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The fair value adjustment of contingent consideration is added
as an adjustment item in presenting the unaudited non-HKFRS
adjusted net profit starting financial year ended 31 December
2023 as this item relates to the deferred consideration payable
by the Group for its acquisitions of certain subsidiaries in 2021,
2022 and 2023. Moreover, the deferred consideration amounts
can be reduced if the guaranteed net profits of the acquired
subsidiaries are not met. This item is a non-cash item and the
amount of fair value adjustment does not represent the actual
amount of deferred consideration payable, nor does it reflect the
financial performance of the relevant subsidiaries for the relevant
reporting periods. As the Group continues its strategy of making
synergetic acquisitions with possibly deferred consideration as a
term of the acquisition, it becomes more meaningful to eliminate
the impact of fair value adjustment of contingent consideration
as this item is not indicative of the performance of the business
of the relevant acquired subsidiaries.

The foreign exchange difference is related to the initial public
offering of the Company’s shares (“Shares”) in July 2021 (the
“Global Offering”). The proceeds from the Global Offering are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the foreign
exchange difference mainly arises from the currency fluctuation
of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. Such foreign exchange
difference is non-operational in nature and the amount
does not directly correlate with the underlying performance
of the Company’s business operations. The share-based
compensation relates to the pre-IPO share options to subscribe
for a total of 26,754,000 Shares granted to certain directors and
key employees and share awards representing 500,000 Shares
granted to a key employee, and is a non-cash item.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group financed its
operations primarily through cash generated from the Group’s
operating activities and the net proceeds received and interest
income derived from the Global Offering. The Group intends to
continue to finance its expansion and business operations using
a combination of cash generated from operating activities and
the net proceeds received and interest income derived from the
Global Offering.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy. The Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time. Taking into account the net proceeds received from the
Global Offering and the current cash position of the Group, the
Board considers that the Group has sufficient working capital to
meet its operation needs for at least the next 12 months.

The net proceeds received by the Company from its Global
Offering in July 2021 which are not put into use immediately,
have been placed in fixed deposits with licensed financial
institutions. Please refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds
from the Global Offering” for details regarding the use of idle
proceeds from the Global Offering.

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits

The Group operates its business in the PRC and its transactions
and revenue were primarily denominated in Renminbi. As such,
the Group did not have material exposure to fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates for cash generated from its
operating activities. However, the net proceeds received by
the Company from the Global Offering are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and the Company is exposed to fluctuation
of exchange rate between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB4,358.3 million and non-
current time deposits of approximately RMB42.0 million,
which primarily consisted of cash at bank, as compared to
approximately RMB4,187.3 million of cash and cash equivalents
and approximately RMB92.4 million of non-current time deposits
as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023, over 36.4%
of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and non-current time
deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, around 10.5%
are denominated in RMB and around 53.1% are denominated in
US dollars.
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The Company raised approximately RMB4,677 million from
its global offering in July 2021. As at 31 December 2023,
approximately RMB640.4 million of the proceeds have been
utilised and the remaining amount of approximately RMB4,036.1
million will be utilised in accordance with the usage set out in
the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Listing” in the Report
of Directors. In addition, beginning in 2024, the Company has
used certain idle proceeds to subscribe for or purchase wealth
management products and none of such subscriptions or
purchases constitutes a notifiable transaction of the Company.
The amount of cash and cash equivalent in excess of the
proceeds from the global offering will be used for the general
replenishment of the working capital of the Company and for
other general corporate purposes.

The Group currently does not have any hedging policy for
foreign currencies in place. However, the Board will remain alert
to any relevant risks and, if necessary, consider to hedge any
material potential foreign exchange risk.

Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any short-term or long-term bank borrowings and had no
outstanding bank and other borrowings and other indebtedness
apart from lease liabilities for the relevant lease terms amounting
to approximately RMB8.2 million in aggregate.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing borrowings
by total equity, was zero since there was no borrowing as of 31
December 2023.

Charge on assets

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB88.2 million,
which mainly comprised capital expenditures recorded for the
acquisition of 60% interests in Beijing Medcon Information
Consulting Co., Ltd* (It RE#EE(E B A AER AR (“Beijing
Medcon”), 50% equity interest in Beijing SCMedcon Co., Ltd.*
JtRAKREEZRNER AT (“SCMedcon”) and 60% equity
interest in Linberg Consulting & Intelligence (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*
(PEMIEEBEBALE)BERAT) (“Linberg Consulting”),
and expenditures on IT equipment, as compared to
approximately RMB46.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Group funded its capital expenditure by using the
cash flow generated from its operation and the net proceeds
received from the Global Offering.

Contingent liabilities and guarantees

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material
litigation against the Group.

Material acquisitions or disposals and future plans for major
investment

On 11 October 2021, the Company, through its subsidiary,
Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. (1t = 2 k & &
B % & BB 2 7)) (“Yimaihutong”), entered into an equity
transfer agreement to acquire 60% equity interest of Beijing
Medcon for a cash consideration of RMB100,253,400. The
cash consideration shall be paid by Yimaihutong in four
installments. The consideration will be adjusted downwards
according to the terms of the equity transfer agreement if
Beijing Medcon’s audited net profit for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023 do not reach RMB17,000,000 and
RMB19,540,000, respectively. As the audited net profit of Beijing
Medcon for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023
exceeded RMB17,000,000 and RMB19,540,000, respectively,
no adjustment to the consideration has been made and
Yimaihutong has paid the first, second and third installments
totalling RMB90,220,000.
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On 12 June 2023, Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & X k(3
BB AR QA (“Kingyee Beijing”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
transfer agreement pursuant to which Kingyee Beijing acquired
50% equity interest of SCMedcon for a cash consideration of
RMB65,000,000.

SCMedcon is principally engaged in the business of organising
medical exhibition conferences and exchange meetings for
pharmaceutical and medical device companies and institutions
serving the medical industry, and provision of related medical
training services and medical content services. Utilising the
expertise of its employees, SCMedcon is also engaged in the
provision of a comprehensive range of management consulting
and medical technology services to pharmaceutical and
medical devices companies such as the production of medical
knowledge materials and medical data management and
analysis.

The sellers of the 50% interests in SCMedcon have undertaken
to ensure that the accumulated audited net profit of SCMedcon
for the four years ending 31 December 2023, 2024, 2025
and 2026 in total shall be no less than RMB58,080,000 (the
“SC Medcon Guaranteed Profit”). The cash consideration
of RMB65,000,000 is payable in five instalments. The first
instalment of RMB35,750,000 has been paid. The remaining
amount is payable over the next four years after the audited
financial results of the Group and SCMedcon for the relevant
year have been issued. The consideration may be adjusted
downwards if the SCMedcon Guaranteed Profit is not met.

The sellers have also granted an option to Kingyee Beijing so
that if less than 55% of the SCMedcon Guaranteed Profit is met,
Kingyee Beijing has the right, but not an obligation, to require
the sellers to repurchase interests in SCMedcon held by Kingyee
Beijing. Further details of this acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 12 June 2023. The acquisition
completed in June 2023.

On 12 October 2023, Kingyee Beijing entered into an equity
transfer agreement pursuant to which Kingyee Beijing
acquired 60% equity interest of Linberg Consulting for a cash
consideration of RMB33,930,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Linberg Consulting is principally engaged in the business of
providing research services to pharmaceutical companies. It has
a professional research team of 17 people, providing a full range
of research services to pharmaceutical companies including
research in areas of market attractiveness, new product
concept testing, market segmentation of physicians and target
physicians positioning, usage and concept tracking and market
share tracking.

The sellers of the 60% interests in Linberg Consulting have
undertaken to ensure that the accumulated audited net profit
of Linberg Consulting for the four years ending 31 December
2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026 in total shall be no less than
RMB21,720,000 (the “Linberg Consulting Guaranteed
Profit”). The cash consideration of RMB33,930,000 is payable
in five instalments. The first instalment of RMB17,000,000 has
been paid. The remaining amount is payable over the next
four years after the audited financial results of the Group and
Linberg Consulting for the relevant year have been issued.
The consideration may be adjusted downwards if the Linberg
Consulting Guaranteed Profit is not met.

The sellers have also granted an option to Kingyee Beijing so
that if less than 50% of the Linberg Consulting Guaranteed Profit
is met, Kingyee Beijing has the right, but not an obligation, to
require the sellers to repurchase interests in Linberg Consulting
held by Kingyee Beijing. Further details of this acquisition are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 12 October
20283. The acquisition completed in October 2023.

The Group will continue to selectively pursue suitable strategic
investments and acquisitions that can generate convincing
synergies with the Group’s existing solutions offerings, expand
its customer base and/or enhance its technological capabilities.
The Group will utilize proceeds from the Global Offering for the
purpose of any such acquisition.
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EMPLOYEES AND STAFF COSTS

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 742 full
time employees, all of whom, except for one employee based
in Hong Kong, were located in mainland China. In particular,
186 employees are responsible for the Group’s content
management, 239 employees for platform operation and
customer service, 176 employees for research and development,
63 employees for general and administration and 78 employees
for sales and marketing. The total staff cost incurred by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB159.2 million compared to approximately RMB152.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was
primarily due to increased headcount in sales personnel and
platform development staff.

The Group provides orientation and training to new recruits as
well as ongoing in-house training for junior employees, which
the Group believes can enhance the skills and productivity
of its employees. The Group compensates employees with
base salaries and performance-based bonuses. The Company
has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a post-IPO
share option scheme and a share award scheme to incentivize
employees and senior management and to align their interests
with that of the Company.

Further details of the principal terms of the abovementioned
share incentive schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Incentive Schemes” in the Report of Directors.
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Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

The biographies of the Company’s current directors, senior
management and joint company secretaries are set out below.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (H 3 ), aged 57, is the Chairwoman, the Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company. Ms.
Tian is primarily responsible for formulating and implementing
the overall development strategies and business plans of the
Group and overseeing the overall development and operations
of the Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in June 1996 and
has been a Director of the Company since April 2013. She has
been the executive director and chief executive officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (2 E XK (It R)EH B A A since August
2013 and is currently a director of each of the principal operating
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Tian has over 21 years of
experience in the medical information technology industry. Prior
to founding the Group, from 1988 to 2003, Ms. Tian successively
worked at Institute of Software, Chinese Academy of Sciences (F
Bl £} BT $F AT 38 FT) and as a system engineer at Technocraft
Co., Ltd. Tokyo Japan (k=& +t-77./7Z>7 ) (“Technocraft
Japan”). While working at Technocraft Japan, Ms. Tian founded
the Group with Mr. Tian Lixin.

Ms. Tian received her bachelor’'s degree with a major in
computer software from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t & 32
T KZ) in the PRC in July 1988 and obtained her EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School (7 B B B T 75
E07) in the PRC in November 2017.

Ms. Tian is the elder sister of Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun.
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Mr. Tian Lixin (H 3 ), aged 55, is the President, the head of
the Medical Information Science Research Unit and an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for
overseeing and managing the operations of the Group. Mr. Tian
founded the Group in June 1996 and has been a Director of
the Company since December 2013. He has been the president
of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (£ E XK (It R)RI AR A A])
since August 2013. Mr. Tian has over 27 years of experience in
the medical information technology and software development
industry. Mr. Tian was an independent director of Vanfund Urban
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (& 7B EZEERMD
BBRA7A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 000638) from December 2016 to May 2019. Prior
to founding the Group with Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian worked at
the Research Institute of Beijing 701 Factory (1t =+ O —
ZL FfT) as the institute director from 1992 to 1996.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
3= e

engineering physics from Tsinghua University (/& # X £) in the
PRC in July 1992.

Mr. Tian is a younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and the elder
brother of Mr. Tian Lijun.

Mr. Tian Lijun (B3 E), aged 50, is an executive Director of
the Company, a vice president of the Group and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. Mr. Tian is
primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the research,
development and innovation of the products and technologies
of the Group. Mr. Tian joined the Group in June 1996 and has
been a Director of the Company since December 2013. He
has been the chief technology officer of Kingyee (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd. (£ ZE XK AL R) B AR A A]) since August 2013. Mr.
Tian has over 21 years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Mr. Tian previously worked at Technocraft
Japan as a software engineer.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
computer science and engineering from Beihang University (1t
T2 i K< K22) in the PRC in July 1996.

Mr. Tian is the younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian
Lixin.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Zhou Xin (A fR), aged 43, is an executive Director of
the Company and a vice president of the Group. Ms. Zhou
is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the
digital marketing operations of the Group and responsible for
multichannel business development of healthcare marketing
and innovation and implementation of solutions. She has been a
Director of the Company since July 2018. She joined the Group
as a secondee from M3, Inc. in January 2016 and has served
as vice president of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& ZE XA (1t
)R AR A7) since joining. Ms. Zhou has over 18 years
of experience in marketing strategy and business management
and over 10 years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou
successively worked at Deloitte Tohmatsu Consulting LLC as a
senior consultant, Ernst & Young Advisory & Consulting Co., Ltd.
and Xrossface Inc. as the manager of the strategy and operation
consulting department from April 2006 to September 2013.
Ms. Zhou joined M3, Inc. in December 2013, where she served
as the head of China business unit at corporate and business
development group of M3, Inc..

Ms. Zhou received her bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Kyoto University in Japan in March 2004 and obtained her
master’'s degree with a major in essential informatics from
University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya ($8/E % =), aged 59, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tsuchiya is primarily responsible
for providing professional advice and judgment to the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”). He has been a Director
of the Company since December 2013. Mr. Tsuchiya has over
37 years of experience in insurance and financial consulting
and over 17 years of experience in the healthcare technology
industry.
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Mr. Tsuchiya joined M3, Inc. in August 2006 and currently is an
executive director of M3, Inc.. M3, Inc. is a company listed on
the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2413.T). Prior to joining
M3, Inc., Mr. Tsuchiya worked at Asahi Mutual Life Insurance
Company from April 1987 to January 2000, where his last
position was deputy manager of asset liability management
development group. From February 2000 to February 2001, Mr.
Tsuchiya served as a strategy consultant at Deloitte Tohmatsu
Consulting LLC (previously known as ABeam Consulting Ltd.)
in Japan. From September 2001 to August 2006, Mr. Tsuchiya
served as a financial adviser at KPMG FAS Co., Ltd., (previously
known as GMD Corporate Finance) in Japan.

Mr. Tsuchiya received his bachelor’'s degree in commerce from
Waseda University in Japan in March 1987 and obtained his
MBA degree from University of California, Irvine in the United
States in June 1997.

Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo (£ & — &), aged 46, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kanairo is primarily responsible
for providing professional advice and judgment to the Board.
He has been a Director of the Company since April 2023.
Mr. Kanairo has over twelve years of experience in M&A and
corporate development, and over eleven years of experience in
management advisory.

Mr. Kanairo joined M3, Inc. in March 2014 and is currently the
head of India & Southeast Asia business and director of global
corporate development of M3, Inc.. Mr. Kanairo worked at
McKinsey & Company, Inc. from April 2003 to August 2008,
where his last position was associate. From July 2010 to
February 2014, Mr. Kanairo worked at JPMorgan Securities
Japan Co., Ltd. where his last position was associate.

Mr. Kanairo received his bachelor’'s degree with a major in
aeronautics and astronautics engineering and master’s degree
with a major in aeronautics and astronautics engineering from
the University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2001 and March
2003, respectively. Mr. Kanairo obtained his MBA degree from
University of California, Berkeley in the United States in May
2010.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh (E ), aged 55, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Yeh was an executive director and chief operating officer
of I-Mab Biopharma (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (NASDAQ: IMAB)
from April 2022 to February 2024. Mr. Yeh was the chief
financial officer and the head of strategic operations at Abbisko
Therapeutics Co., Ltd (EBFMEBEYEER T ERAF), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2256),
since November 2020 and became an executive director of this
company since 5 January 2021, until he ceased all positions
with this company in April 2022. Mr. Yeh was the chief financial
officer of CStone Pharmaceuticals, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2616), from July 2018 to April
2020. Prior to joining CStone Pharmaceuticals, Mr. Yeh was a
managing director and the business unit leader of Asia Pacific
healthcare equity research at Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C.
in Hong Kong from July 2015 and July 2018. Before that, Mr.
Yeh worked at Citigroup Capital Markets Asia Limited from
July 2009 to June 2015 where he last served as the head of
China healthcare research team. In October 1995, he joined
Amgen Inc., a leading global biotechnology company traded
on the NASDAQ (stock code: AMGN), as a research associate
conducting drug discovery research.

Mr. Yeh obtained an MBA from Cornell University in the United
States in May 2002 and a Master of Science in medical
biophysics from the University of Toronto and Ontario Cancer
Institute in Canada in November 1995. Mr. Yeh received a
Bachelor of Science with a major in biochemistry from University
of Manitoba in Canada in May 1993.

Dr. Ma Jun (5 &), aged 69, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and is responsible for providing
independent advice to the Board.

Dr. Ma has been working at Harbin No.1 Hospital (¥ 8 & ™ & —
22B%) since July 1971 and has served as the director of institute
of hematology and oncology of Harbin No.1 Hospital since July
1988.
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Dr. Ma has been the chairman of the board of supervisors of the
China Society of Clinical Oncology (f B IKfEEZ2E) (‘CSCO”)
and the chairman of anti-leukemia association of CSCO since
September 2019 and May 2018, respectively. Dr. Ma was
the chairman of the expert committee of the anti-lymphoma
alliance of CSCO from September 2013 to September 2015.
From September 2013 to September 2016, Dr. Ma served as
the deputy director of the hematology branch of the Chinese
Medical Association (¥ 2 2 <), From June 2011 to June
2014, Dr. Ma was the deputy chairman of hematology branch
of the Chinese Medical Doctor Association (FF B 2/l % &)
(“CMDA”"). From December 2010 to December 2013, Dr. Ma
was the deputy chairman of oncology branch of CMDA. Dr. Ma
obtained the researcher qualification from Heilongjiang Human
Resources Bureau (& 8 )L 4 A = ) (currently known as
Heilongjiang Human Resources and Social Security Bureau (&
BIIEAANERMTERER)) in November 1991.

Ms. Wang Shan (E #t), aged 50, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Ms. Wang has served various roles at a joint venture company,
Beijing Hitachi Huasun Information Systems Co., Ltd. (1t &= H
VEBEREERERSARRQT), since July 1995 until July 2022
when the term of the joint venture company expired. Her last
position at the joint venture company was director of the finance
division of the management supervision department. From
November 2022 to September 2023, Ms. Wang worked at the
chief financial officer-led department at Hitachi Solutions (China)
Co., Ltd. (HXZ B xR FR(PE)BR QA and is responsible
for conducting liquidation jobs. Ms. Wang retired in September
2023.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree in applied
mathematics from Beijing Union University (1t R Bt & KE) in
the PRC in July 1995. She obtained the primary accountant
qualification (¥4 & &t B & 4&) from Ministry of Finance of the
PRC in May 1999 and the medium level accountant qualification
(R A& =B EHE) from Beijing Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau in October 2012. Ms. Wang is a PRC Certified
Public Accountant, who has obtained her qualification from
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2001,
and is also a PRC Certified Tax Agent, who has obtained her
qualification from the China Certified Tax Agents Association in
November 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management team comprises the executive Directors
of the Company, biographies of whom are set out above, and
the following members:

Mr. Xin Jiangtao (¥ 3L &), aged 47, is a vice president of the
Group. He joined the Group in January 2004 and is responsible
for the research and development and innovation of the Group’s
products and services. Mr. Xin has over 20 years of medical
software development experience. Mr. Xin has served as the
product manager at Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& % Xk (1t
)R AR 2 F]) and Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology Co.,
Ltd. (dt =& EXBER B R AR since January 2004 and
June 2007, respectively.

Mr. Xin received his bachelor’s degree with a major in computer
science and engineering from Peking University (165 X&) in
the PRC in June 2007.

Mr. Yang Liancheng (1% E &), aged 45, is a vice president of
the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in September 2016 and
is responsible for executing overall development strategies and
business plans of the Group and implementing the marketing
strategy of the Group. He has over 19 years of experience in
consulting and over five years of experience in the medical
information technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Yang worked at Accenture (China) Co Ltd. (2 #& % (F E)E R A
A]), a subsidiary of Accenture plc, a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: ACN), from July 2004 to November
2007. From December 2007 to September 2010, he worked at
Fair Isaac Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B2 {5z &
B AT (b =) B BR A F), a subsidiary of Fair Isaac Corporation, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: FICO),
where his last position was consultant. From October 2010 to
August 2016, Mr. Yang rejoined Accenture (China) Co Ltd. as a
senior manager.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor’s degree with a major in trade
and economics from Nankai University (FFAZ) in the PRC
in June 2001 and obtained his master’s degree with a major in
finance from Peking University (1t X A2) in the PRC in June
2004. Mr. Yang also obtained an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School (FFEIEE T E6T) in
China in November 2017.
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Mr. Jiang Nan (Z B), aged 36, is the medical director of the
Group, the chief editor of the content team and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. He joined
the Group in September 2013 and is responsible for overseeing
the professionalism of the medical content and medical team
management of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over 10 years of
experience in the medical information technology industry. Mr.
Jiang was the editor-in-chief of medicine of Kingyee (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (2 E R (IL ) BB R A F]) from September 2013
to August 2016 and the director of medicine of Beijing Jinye
Tiansheng Technology Co., Ltd. (It R & E X EEHBRQRF)
since August 2018.

Mr. Jiang received his bachelor’s degree with a major in clinical
medicine from Qingdao University (55 A£) in the PRC in
June 2010 and obtained his master’'s degree with a major in
psychiatry and mental health from Peking University (1t &= KX
2) in the PRC in July 2013. Mr. Jiang received the Physician
Practicing License from Beijing Municipal Health Bureau (it
F T E £ B) (currently known as Beijing Municipal Health
Commission (It R &£ FEZ E ®)) in September 2012.

Ms. Liu Juan (£/18), aged 40, is the assistant to Chairwoman
and the chief client officer of the Group. She joined the Group in
October 2010 and is responsible for assisting the Chairwoman
of the Group in managing day-to-day operation, sales team and
client communication. Ms. Liu has been the assistant to Ms. Tian
Liping since October 2013 and the chief client officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XK (It ) EH BB A F]) since July
2016. Ms. Liu has approximately 16 years of experience in human
resources management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liu worked
at Suning.com Group Co., Lid. (BRZ ZFHEEBERMHBER QA a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002024), from July 2007 to August 2009 and was responsible for
management work. From May 2010 to October 2010, she worked
at Guangzhou Blue Moon Industrial Co., Ltd. (EME AZE%H
FR A |]), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Blue Moon Group
Holdings Limited (82 A& BB R A F]), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 06993) and was responsible
for human resources and administration management work. In
October 2010, Ms. Liu joined Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology
Co., Ltd. (AR & EX KB AR AF]), where she served as
head of human resources department until October 2013.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’s degree with a major in business
administration from Beijing Forestry University (3t 2 #k % K £2)
in the PRC in July 2007 and obtained her MBA degree from
University of International Business and Economics (¥f ¥ 4% 75 &
2 K2 in the PRC in July 2017.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yang Yanling (1 % ¥%) was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on 4 March 2021. Ms. Yang joined
the Group in March 2018 and currently serves as a human
resources manager of the Group and is in charge of the overall
management of the human resources department and assists
in the management of other operation departments including
medical, design and creative departments. Before joining the
Group, Ms. Yang served as human resources specialist in
Beijing Suifang Information Technology Co., Ltd. (1t =& (=
BT AR AR from August 2015 to February 2018, a human
resources specialist in Beijing SDL Technology Co., Ltd. (It =
HEMBBRMAR AR from December 2014 to July 2015 and
worked in the human resources department in Beijing Zeyuan
Huitong Technology Development Co., Ltd. (1t 528 =@ Tl i
ERARAF]) from March 2013 to November 2014. Ms. Yang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in agriculture from Hebei North
University (AT dE 75 2 Bx) in June 2013.

Ms. Chu Cheuk Ting (% = &) was appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company on 12 June 2023. Ms. Chu
currently serves as a manager of the listing services department
of TMF Hong Kong Limited and is responsible for provision
of corporate secretarial and compliance services to listed
company clients. Ms. Chu has accumulated over 12 years of
experience in the professional company secretarial field, and
she is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is the leading online professional physician platform
in China. The Group has focused on using technology to
support physicians’ clinical decision making for over 20
years. Its self-developed Medlive (Eiki®) platform is widely
recognized by physicians in China as the most popular
professional medical platform. The Medlive platform is available
through the Company’s website, desktop application and mobile
application.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. The Group derives most of its
revenue from precision marketing solutions, which offer digital
healthcare marketing services to pharmaceutical and medical
device companies. The Group also offers various corporate
solutions that enable (i) pharmaceutical and medical device
companies to cost-effectively conduct market research; and (ii)
pharmaceutical and medical device companies, hospitals and
other stakeholders of the healthcare industry to improve the
efficiency of clinical trials and medical research.

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the needs of
physicians for continuing medical education and clinical decision
support and the needs of other healthcare professionals
for professional medical information. The Group’s medical
knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge content through
multiple user-friendly channels, including its website, mobile
applications, desktop applications, WeChat mini-programs and
WeChat official accounts.
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The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive single disease management services, including
(i) diseases knowledge dissemination and treatment compliance
monitoring management services to patients through Internet
hospital; and (i) condition-specific patient education services in
collaboration with non-profit organizations. The Group’s Internet
hospital-based chronic disease management currently focuses
on breast cancer, lung cancer, ovarian cancer, Parkinson’s,
lymphoma, stroke and diabetes management and will gradually
expand to other chronic diseases in the future. As at 31
December 2023, the Group’s chronic disease management
services platform had accumulated approximately 377,000 users
and in addition approximately 105,000 participating physicians.

A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, together with their
places of incorporation and operation, principal activities and
particulars of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF THE YEAR

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023, a discussion and analysis on the Group’s
future business development and the key financial and
operational performance indicators employed by the Directors in
measuring the performance of the Group’s business are set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 22 to 34 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is not subject to any significant health, safety or
environmental risks. The Group is committed to fulfilling social
responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development,
protecting the environment and giving back to community
and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such are set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report issued
by the Company on the same date as this annual report. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report contains the
information required under Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various PRC laws and regulations in
relation to its business in the PRC, including, without limitation,
in the aspects of online drug information services, Internet
advertising, Internet security, data privacy protection, value-
added telecommunication services and Internet hospital
business.

As far as the board of Directors (the “Board”) is aware, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group and have obtained all material
licenses, approvals and permits from relevant regulatory
authorities for the operations of the Group in the PRC. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, there has been no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes various stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

The remuneration of employees of the Group will be based
on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
remuneration. The remuneration package of employees includes
basic salaries and performance-based bonus. Moreover, the
Group has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a
post-IPO share option scheme and a share award scheme. The
remuneration policy of the Directors is reviewed and determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the Directors’
experience, responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the
Group and performance of the Group.

The Group’s customers primarily include (i) pharmaceutical
companies, medical device companies, hospitals, research
institutions and contract research organisations or CROs for
precision marketing and corporate solutions, (ii) physicians
and other users, including other healthcare professionals, for
medical knowledge solutions and (iii) patients, pharmaceutical
companies and non-profit organizations for intelligent patient
management solutions.
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The Group’s top suppliers are primarily providers of information
technology services, telecommunication services, customer
services, product procurement services, property rental services
and others.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
shareholders of the Company through focusing on business
strategies that aim to achieve sustainable profit growth and
rewarding shareholders with dividend payouts taking into
account the business development needs and financial health of
the Group and/or growth in the Company’s valuation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the Group’s business. The Board
is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks and the
principal risks and uncertainties are summarized below:

° the growth of the Group depends on its ability to monetize
the Medlive platform. Failure to successfully implement
the Group’s monetization strategies or business initiatives
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations;

° the Group’s customers primarily include pharmaceutical
and medical device companies. A limited number of
customers have contributed a significant portion of the
Group’s revenues in the past. The Group’s high customer
concentration exposes it to risks faced by its major
customers and the Group may be subject to significant
fluctuations or declines in revenues;
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even though the Company implements measures to
review medical knowledge information and sponsored
information in light of the relevant laws and regulations as
well as internal guidelines before they are published on the
Company’s platform, such measures may not be effective
and the Company may still be held liable for information
displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the Company’s
platform or created by the Group;

any damage to the reputation and recognition of the
Group’s brand names, or failure to maintain or enhance
users’ trust in the Company’s platform, may materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business operations and
prospects;

failure to manage external physicians with whom the
Group collaborates to offer Internet hospital services may
subject the Group to penalties or medical liability claims
in connection with its Internet hospital services under the
intelligent patient management solutions, which could
cause the Group to incur significant expenses and be
liable for significant damages if any claim is not covered by
insurance;

the Group’s clinical research services under the corporate
solutions rely on hospitals and their physicians and other
supporting staff to update and enrich healthcare data
through their diagnosis and research activities and the
Group is not able to guarantee the accuracy, quality and
timeliness of such data;

the Company may become subject to claims, lawsuits and
liabilities in connection with its patient recruitment service
under the corporate solutions if any of these patients
incur personal injury or other harms from drugs or devices
tested on them;

failure to keep up with rapid changes in technologies
or adapt the Company’s platform to changing user
requirements or emerging industry standards, or if the
Group’s efforts to invest in the development of new
technologies are unsuccessful or ineffective, its business
may be materially and adversely affected; and
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° the Group is subject to extensive and evolving regulatory
requirements. The Group may be adversely affected by the
complexity, uncertainties and changes in PRC regulations
of healthcare, digital healthcare and Internet-related
business and companies, including limitations on its ability
to own key assets.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to
the Group’s efficient and effective operation. The Company’s
management assists the Board in evaluating material risk
exposure arising internally and externally from the Group’s
business, including operational risks, financial risks,
regulatory risks, etc. and proactively setting up appropriate
risk management and internal control mechanism which is
embedded in daily operation management.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING YEAR
There was no important event affecting the Group which

occurred after the end of the Reporting Year up to the date of
this report.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2024

In 2024, the Group will continue its efforts to further solidify its
position as the leading online professional physician platform
in China by pursuing the strategies set out in pages 18 to 21 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, the Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Dr. Li Zhuolin

(resigned with effect from 14 April 2023)
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo

(appointed with effect from 14 April 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to 43 of this
annual report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company on 18 June 2021, and each
of the Company’s non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors have signed letters of appointment with
the Company. The service contracts with each of the executive
Directors and the letters of appointment with each of the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive directors
are for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 18
June 2021 in the case of the executive Directors and from the
date of listing of the Company’s shares (“Shares”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
i.e. 15 July 2021 (the “Listing Date”) in the case of the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
(other than Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo whose term of appointment
commenced from 14 April 2023). The service contracts and
letters of appointment may be terminated in accordance with
the respective terms thereof. The service contracts may be
renewed in accordance with the Company’s second amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”) and the applicable Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Tian Liping, Ms. Zhou Xin and Dr. Ma Jun shall retire by
rotation at the annual general meeting (the “Annual General
Meeting” or “AGM”) and they being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Richard Yeh, an independent non-executive director of the
Company, has resigned from all positions at I-Mab Biopharma
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (NASDAQ:IMAB) in February 2024.

Ms. Wang Shan, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, retired in September 2023 and no longer served at
Hitachi Solutions (China) Co., Ltd. (B f#AR R (hE)ER A ).

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
Directors’ biographical details which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Directors believe that effective talent management is the
foundation for the Group’s successful long-term development.
The Group greatly values its employees and will continue to
attract, cultivate and retain talent. The Group has adopted
comprehensive training program, pursuant to which employees
regularly receive training from management, technology,
regulatory and other internal speakers or external consultants.
All employees are eligible to attend relevant internal trainings and
they may also attend external trainings upon their supervisors’
approvals. The Group compensates employees and executive
Directors with base salaries and performance-based bonuses.
The Group has designed annual review systems to assess the
performance of its employees and executive Directors, which
forms the basis of the determinations on salary raises, bonuses
and where applicable, promotion. The Directors believe the
salaries and benefits that the Group’s employees receive are
competitive with market standards. In addition, the Company
has adopted share incentive schemes to incentivize employees
and senior management and to align their interests with that of
the Company.
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PENSION SCHEME

Details of the Group’s pension scheme are set out in notes 2.4
and 6 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Group has three share incentive scheme, namely the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme (as defined below). The Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme are
regulated under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 June 2021, a post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was approved
and adopted by the shareholders of the Company. The
purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to incentivize
and reward the employees (whether full time or part-time) or
directors of members of the Group or associated companies of
the Company (the “Eligible Persons”) for their contribution to
the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company. Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, the Board (including any committee or delegate of the
Board appointed by the Board to perform any of its functions
pursuant to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme)
may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to an
Eligible Person to subscribe for such number of shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) as the Board may determine.

The total number of Shares available for issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme is 69,017,600 Shares (representing 9.49% of the total
number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023), or such
higher limit as may be permitted following compliance with
the applicable Listing Rules (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.
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No options and share awards shall be granted to any Eligible
Person under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Scheme which, if exercised, would result in such
Eligible Person becoming entitled to subscribe for such number
of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares
already issued or to be issued to him under all options granted
to him (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer of
such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.
Any further grant of options to an Eligible Person in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his close
associates (or if such Eligible Person is a connected person of
the Company, his associates) abstaining from voting.

Share options granted shall be open for acceptance for a period
of not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the date of
offer of the share options, provided that no such offer shall
be open for acceptance after the expiry of the duration of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. An offer of share options not
accepted within this period shall lapse. An amount of HK$1.00
is payable upon acceptance of the grant of share options and
such payment shall not be refundable and shall not be deemed
to be a part payment of the exercise price.
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The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the
Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of offer of the share option; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
qguotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Shares.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2023, the remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately 7.5 years.

Any share option shall be vested on an option-holder in
accordance with any vesting schedule and/or conditions
specified in the offer of the share option, provided that the
vesting period shall not be less than 12 months. Any vested
share option which has not lapsed and which conditions have
been satisfied or waived by the Board in its sole discretion
may, unless the Board determines otherwise in its absolute
discretion, be exercised at any time from the next business day
after the offer of share options has been accepted. Any share
option which remains unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry
of the option period, which period shall be determined by the
Board and shall not exceed ten years from the offer date of the
share option.

No share options have been granted, vested, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and there are no
outstanding share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme. The total number of options and share awards
available for grant under the scheme mandates of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme as
at both 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 is 69,017,600,
representing approximately 9.49% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 March 2021, a pre-IPO share option scheme (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was
adopted. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is intended to provide employees of the Group (including
management) with an opportunity to enjoy its success and
incentives to their future performance. The principal terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are nearly the same as the terms
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme except for the following:

(@)

save for the Pre-IPO Share Options granted on 2 April
2021, no further Pre-IPO Share Options has been granted
or will be available for grant on or after the Listing Date;

the option period in respect of the Pre-IPO Share Options
granted shall be from the Listing Date until the 5th
anniversary of the Listing Date, after which unexercised
Pre-IPO Share Options shall lapse and the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall terminate. Accordingly, the remaining
life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately
2.5 years;

the Pre-IPO Share Options shall be vested in four equal
tranches with the vesting date on the first, second, third
and fourth anniversary date of the Listing Date;

the total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Pre-IPO Share Options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 26,754,000 Shares, representing 3.68% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report and representing 3.71% of the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (being 721,911,495) during the
year ended 31 December 2023; and

the exercise price per Share shall be RMB0.38 per
Share, which was determined with reference to the net
assets value of the Company and the historical financial
performance of the Company prior to the Listing of the
Company and with a view to incentivising the grantees of
the Pre-IPO Share Options.
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Pre-IPO Share Options for an aggregate of 26,754,000 Shares,
representing 3.68% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report, have been granted to 62 grantees
on 2 April 2021 and all grantees have accepted the grant. No
further share options have been granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme after that date and no further share
options can be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
after the Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange. Each
Grantee is required to pay RMB1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant of the Pre-IPO Share Options. Particulars of the
outstanding share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023 are set out below:

No. of Shares
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share Share Options
options as at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price (RMB
Name/Category of grantees Date of grant 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 per Share) Exercise period"
20238 2023
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RRARE/EH RHRR Ro#E  EREE  EAGR EAEE FAAR RG&E (BRARYW) fREHy
Tian Liping (Chairwoman, Chief Executive 2 April 2021 9,428,000 - 4,359,000 - - 5,089,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Offcer and executive Diector)
BIT(EER BRAGERHEE) ANE4RA 201ETRI6RE26ETRI6A
Tian Lixin (xecutive Digctor) 2 April 2021 2,090,000 - 815,000 - - 1,275,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
ihkittE 2 14 R 2ETABAZABETAA
Tian Lijun executive Director) 2 April 2021 2,090,000 - 815,000 - - 1,275,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
RuEH £ M1F4RR 2ETASAZNBETAE
Zhang Xiaoteng (Soouse of Ms Tian 2 April 2021 75,000 - 25,000 - - 50,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Liping)
RREFTTLT2E8) E4RR WAETABAZABETAE
Liu Lingd! pouse of Mr: Tian Livin) 2 April 2021 75,000 - 25,000 - - 50,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
YERTFiE2 0 1548 2ETABAZNBETAE
Employees 2 April 2021 9,293,500 - 3675500 - - 5,618,000 03815 July 2021 10 15 July 2026
8 AETEH: 21ETRI6RE6ETR IR
Total 23,061,500 - 9714500 - - 18,337,000
it

©) The above share options shall be vested in four equal tranches with
vesting date on 15 July 2022, 15 July 2023, 15 July 2024 and 15 July
2025.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the Pre-IPO Share Options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
HK$7.39.

1 LoEREANNESEHAAREE F8
H 8 5 Bl £2022F7H15H « 202347815
B - 2024578158 2025978158
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board adopted a share award scheme which took effect
from 24 December 2021 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
main purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to encourage and
retain selected personnel to work for the Group or to make
contribution to the Group and to provide additional incentive for
them to achieve performance goals, with a view to achieving the
objective of increasing the value of the Company and aligning
the interests of the selected personnel with the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration
of the Board or any committee of the Board delegated with the
power and authority by the Board to administer the Share Award
Scheme from time to time (the “Administration Body”).

The eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme are
employees (full time or part time), directors, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company, its subsidiaries or holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries and associated companies of the
Company (the “Eligible Participants”).

The Administration Body may, at its absolute discretion and in
fulfilment of the purposes of the Scheme, grant such number of
share awards to any Eligible Participant at the grant price and at
such vesting price as the Administration Body may determine.
The grant price, which is payable by the Eligible Participant
upon accepting the share awards, shall be US$0.00001 per
underlying Share of the share awards, being the par value of
the Shares. The vesting price, which is payable by the Eligible
Participant upon vesting, shall be such amount per underlying
Share of the share awards as determined by the Administration
Body at the time of grant, having taken into account factors
such as the position and past performance of the relevant
Eligible Participant. The vesting price can be nil. The Eligible
Participant shall also pay all fees, expenses and taxes in relation
to the transfer of Shares to him upon vesting.

The Administration Body shall determine and set out in the
grant letters the vesting conditions, which shall include minimum
period for which the share awards must be held before they
vest. Such minimum period shall not be less than one year and
shall not be more than 10 years. Other vesting conditions may
include performance targets of the individual Eligible Participant
and/or the Company. Share awards may be clawed back, i.e.
withheld or reduced, if the applicable performance targets are
not reached.
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The total number of Shares available for issue pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme (together with Shares to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme), shall not exceed 69,517,600 Shares (the “Share
Award Scheme Mandate Limit”), representing approximately
9.56% of the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December
2023. The Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit may be
refreshed by approval of shareholders of the Company, as
permitted and in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules. No individual Eligible Participant shall be granted
share awards where such grant will result in him being granted in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant, share
awards and share options in aggregate over 1% of the Shares
in issue at the time of grant (or such percentage limit permitted
under the Listing Rules from time to time), unless such grant is
approved by shareholders of the Company in a general meeting
where the grantee and his close associates have abstained from
voting.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on 24 December 2021. Accordingly,
as at 31 December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 8 years.

On 17 January 2022, the Company appointed Futu Trustee
Limited as an independent trustee for the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme. Futu Trustee Limited is a trust company
registered under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter
29 of the Laws of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent
of and not connected with the Company and/or any of its
connected persons.

Particulars of the outstanding share awards granted under the
Share Award Scheme as at 31 December 2023 are set out
below:
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No. of Shares No. of Shares
involved in involved in
unvested unvested
share awards Vested and share awards
asat Granted  exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price (RMB
Category of grantees Date of grant 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 perShare) Exercise period®
H2023% 12023
1F1BAER 12ANARER
kL] EhER RH%A fifef
RRAEH RLAs FUROER  EARE Rk EREE ERAM FURGEE (BRARW) ffEHe
Employee 17 January 2022 500,000 - 62,500 - - 437,500 =119 July 2023 to 19 July 2030
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Notes:

(1) The grantee paid US$0.00001 per share award upon acceptance of
the 500,000 share awards. No further consideration is payable by the
grantee upon vesting and exercise.

(2)  The share awards shall be vested in eight equal tranches with the
vesting date on 19 July of each year beginning in 2023 and ending in
2030.

(3)  No shares award was granted and no Share was issued pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The total number of share awards and options available for
grant under the scheme mandates of the Share Award Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as at both 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023 is 69,017,600, representing
approximately 9.49% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the Share Awards were vested and
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
HK$6.70.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December
2023, none of the Directors or their respective associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.
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DEEDS OF NON-COMPETITION BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the Company’s controlling shareholders, namely Ms.
Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun and Tiantian Co.,
Limited (as one group) and M3, Inc., has entered into a deed of
non-competition dated 18 June 2021 in favor of the Company
pursuant to which, each of them has undertaken, in summary,
not to carry on or engage in any business in the PRC which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of any member of the Group as at the date
of the deeds of non-competition (the “Principal Business”),
for so long as they remain as controlling shareholders. In
addition, the Company and M3, Inc. have undertaken to each
other that if either of them intends to carry on or conduct the
Principal Business outside of the PRC (the “Business Plans”),
such party shall inform the other party in writing and explore
collaboration opportunities regarding the Business Plans with
the other party.

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed in writing
that it has complied with its respective deed of non-competition
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of the
compliance by the controlling shareholders of the deeds
of non-competition, and were satisfied that the controlling
shareholders have duly complied with the Deeds of Non-
Competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, during the
year ended or as at 31 December 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

A. CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group is primarily engaged in the operation of an
online professional physician platform and mainly offers
three types of solutions, namely precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions and
intelligent patient management solutions.

Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. (1t = & ik &
BRI AR AR (“Yimaihutong”) operates the Group’s
Medlive website and desktop and mobile applications. The
provision of medical knowledge solutions on the Medlive
website and desktop and mobile applications involves
the provision by Yimaihutong of medical information
and content for fees (including membership fees) and
therefore is subject to restrictions under PRC regulations
relating to value-added telecommunication. Furthermore,
Yimaihutong is engaging in the business for any foreign-
related market investigation and planning to engage in
the production of online medical radio and television
video shows and programs. Once such production
commences, Yimaihutong will be engaging in the
production of radio and television video and programs and
Internet culture business. Yimaihutong holds the relevant
licenses, including the value-added telecommunications
business operating license for provision of Internet
information services (the “ICP License”), the radio and
television program production license (the “Radio and
TV License”), the Internet cultural operation license
(the “Internet Culture License”) and the License for
Foreign-Related Investigation (the “Foreign-Related
Investigation License”), required for carrying out
the above services and operating the aforementioned
businesses. In addition, the business focus of Yinchuan
Yimaitong Internet Hospital Co., Ltd. (§8 || & ik i@ & B
BB AR AAF) (“Yinchuan Yimaitong”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Yimaihutong, is to provide online
consultation and e-prescription services through its own
platform through cooperation with a qualified hospital
in Ningxia Autonomous Region, or Internet hospital
services. Yinchuan Yimaitong holds the medical institution
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practicing license (the “Medical Institution Practicing
License”), required for carrying out the Internet hospital
service. Furthermore, the business scope of Shanghai
Yimaitong Huilin Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Huilin”), a 60% subsidiary of Yimaihutong, includes
data processing and storage support services which
are subject to foreign investment restrictions. In October
2021, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of Beijing
Medcon Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (1t RE#E(E
B ##HARAR) (“Beijing Medcon”). Beijing Medcon
is a well-known software as a service or SaaS solution
platform for academic conferences in the PRC and is one
of the leading professional and prominent technology
providers in academic conference management focusing
on medical conference. Beijing Medcon currently holds (i)
the Radio and TV License; (ii) the Internet Culture License;
and (iii) the ICP License. The aforementioned businesses
conducted by Yimaihutong, Yinchuan Yimaitong, Shanghai
Huilin and Beijing Medcon (together the “Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”) are considered to involve (i) value-
added telecommunications services; (i) foreign-related
market investigation business; (iii) radio and television
program production business; (iv) Internet culture business;
(v) data processing and storage support services; and/or
(vi) Internet hospital services, which are subject to foreign
investment restrictions and/or prohibition under applicable
PRC laws and regulations.

The revenue contribution of all of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the Group amounted to approximately
21.2% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the total
assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in aggregate
represent approximately 4.9% of the total assets of the
Group. In particular, the total assets of Beijing Medcon
represent approximately 1.5% of the total assets of the
Group.
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Because the businesses carried out by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities are subject to foreign ownership
restrictions and/or prohibitions, the Company does not
directly own any equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Yimaihutong is held by Ms. Tian Liping as
to 50% and Mr. Tian Lixin as to 50%, Yinchuan Yimaitong
is wholly-owned by Yimaihutong and Beijing Medcon is
owned as to 60% by Yimaihutong.

Pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 14 April
2023, Dr. Li Zhuolin transferred his 50% equity interest in
Yimaihutong to Mr. Tian Lixin. Prior to such transfer, Dr. Li
Zhuolin was the registered holder of 50% equity interest
in Yimaihutong. Details of such transfer and the impact on
the Contractual Arrangements (as defined below) are set
out in the Company's announcement dated 14 April 2023.

In line with common practice in industries in the PRC
subject to foreign investment restrictions, the Company
gains effective control over, and receives all the economic
benefits generated by the businesses currently operated by
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the contractual
arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
between the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (@ EXRKELR)BFHABRAF) (Jinye
Tiancheng”), on the one hand, and Yimaihutong (which
holds the equity interests in Yinchuan Yimaitong and
Beijing Medcon) and Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
(together, the “Registered Shareholders”), on the
other. The Contractual Arrangements allow the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to be consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Group under
HKFRS as if they were subsidiaries of the Group.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of
economic benefits from Yimaihutong to the Group as
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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—— denotes direct legal and beneficiary ownership in the equity

---- denotes contractual relationships under the Contractual Arrangements

[ ZZ1 denotes the equity interests controlled by the Group under the Contractual Arrangements
[—1 denotes Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Notes:

(1) The Registered Shareholders are Ms. Tian Liping and Mr.
Tian Lixin, who holds 50% and 50% of the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, respectively.

(2)  The Exclusive Operations Service Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Loan Agreements, Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Spouse
Undertakings (summaries of which are set out below) together
form the legal relationship under the Contractual Arrangements.

Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin are shareholders of
Tiantian Co., Limited, a controlling shareholder of the
Company and both Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
are Directors of the Company and therefore they are
both connected persons of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. As they each holds 50% of
the equity interests in Yimaihutong, each of Yimaihutong
and its subsidiaries is an associate of each of Ms. Tian
Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin and a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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A description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.

Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

The Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong have
entered into exclusive operation services agreement
with Jinye Tiancheng on 14 April 2023 (the “Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Yimaihutong agreed to engage Jinye Tiancheng as its
exclusive provider of technical support, consulting services
and other services in exchange for a service fee.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
provide advice, support and assistance relating to the
operation of medical information business, investigation
business and e-detailing business, operation, project
and membership management and accounting and tax
management; (i) formulate plans relating to Yimaihutong’s
current and future assets and business operations
and be responsible for implementing these plans; (iii)
provide opinions, suggestions and management to
improve Yimaihutong’s human resources and operational
capabilities; (iv) assist Yimaihutong in collecting technical
and commercial data and conducting market research and
provide industry information and management strategies;
(v) screen and recommend customers for Yimaihutong
and provide recommendations and strategies relating
to promotion; (vi) second Jinye Tiancheng’s technicians
and employees to Yimaihutong to provide technical
operation monitoring, market strategy research, and
formulate operating strategies; (vii) provide suggestions
and opinions on the establishment and improvement of
company structure, management system and department
configuration; (viii) screen and recommend suppliers for
Yimaihutong; (ix) license Yimaihutong the right to use all
necessary intellectual property rights of Jinye Tiancheng;
and (x) other relevant technical services, operation
and maintenance, equipment and facilities provision,
management and consulting services provided from time
to time at the request of Yimaihutong as permitted by the
laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Jinye Tiancheng has exclusive proprietary rights and
interests to all the intellectual properties developed or
created by itself from the performance of these services
and has the right to use such proprietary rights free of
charge.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
service fee shall be an amount equal to 100% of the
distributable net profit of Yimaihutong of a given audited
financial year, after deducting losses from the previous
financial years (if any) and any statutory provident fund
(if applicable). Apart from the service fees, Yimaihutong
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, reimbursed payments
and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Jinye Tiancheng
in connection with the performance of the Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement and provision of services.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall become
effective from signing and shall continue to be effective
until being terminated in accordance with the terms
therein. According to the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, unless otherwise required by applicable PRC
laws and regulations, none of the parties to the agreement
(except Jinye Tiancheng) is entitled to unilaterally
terminate the agreement. Furthermore, pursuant to the
Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, it may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance
of the obligations of the agreement will result in violation
of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of the
Stock Exchange, (i) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Exclusive Option Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the exclusive
option agreement (the “Exclusive Option Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, (i) each of the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any
time, itself or through its designated person(s), when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, (a) all or
any part of the equity interests in Yimaihutong and (b)
the Registered Shareholders’ present and future rights,
interests, income, claims, current or future receivables
and compensations related to their equity interests in
Yimaihutong and dividends and other payments distributed
from Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time
to time and (i) Yimaihutong irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any time,
itself or through its designated person(s), when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets
of Yimaihutong. The transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC law, and each of the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong will undertake that she/
it will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer of equity
interests or assets to Jinye Tiancheng.
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The Registered Shareholders undertake to develop the
business of Yimaihutong and not to take any action which
may affect their asset value, goodwill and effectiveness
of business licenses. Furthermore, in the absence of
prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders shall not (i) transfer or otherwise dispose
of any option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or
create any encumbrances thereon; and Yimaihutong shall
not assist in transferring or otherwise disposing of any
option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or creating
any encumbrances thereon; (ii) require Yimaihutong to
distribute dividends or other forms of profit distribution in
respect of their equity interest of Yimaihutong. In any event,
if the Registered Shareholders receive any of Yimaihutong’s
income, profit distribution, or dividends, the Registered
Shareholders shall, within the scope permitted by laws and
regulations of the PRC, waive the receipt of such income,
profit distribution, or dividends, and immediately pay the
same to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s); (iii)
directly or indirectly (by itself or through the entrustment
of any other natural person or legal person entity) carry
out, own or acquire any business that competes with or
will likely compete with the business of Jinye Tiancheng or
the Group; and (iv) engage in business operations or any
other conduct which will adversely affect Jinye Tiancheng’s
reputation.

In the absence of prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng,
Yimaihutong shall not (i) directly or indirectly dispose
or dilute the rights and interests of its subsidiary and
branches; (i) change its principal business, conduct any
business activities that may have a significant impact on
its assets, business, rights and operations; (iii) carry out
merger, form partnership or joint venture with any person,
acquire or invest in any person, carry out division or
reorganization, amend its articles of association or any joint
venture contract and change registered capital or the form
of the company; and (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow
any debt, except (a) debts generated in the normal course
of business other than through loans; and (b) debts that
have been disclosed to, and approved in writing by, Jinye
Tiancheng.
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In addition, the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong
undertake that, upon Jinye Tiancheng issuing the notice
to exercise the option in accordance with the Exclusive
Option Agreement, they will implement necessary actions
to effect the transfer and relinquish any pre-emptive
right, if any. Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option
Agreement confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a
dissolution or liquidation of Yimaihutong under the PRC
laws, all the residual assets which are attributable to the
Registered Shareholders shall be transferred to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) at the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law, and each of the
Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong undertakes that
they will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s), (i) in the event of
bankruptcy, death or incapacity divorce of the Registered
Shareholders, change of shareholders or any other event
which causes changes to the Registered Shareholders’
shareholding in Yimaihutong, the successor of the
Registered Shareholders’ equity interest in Yimaihutong
shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements, and
(i) any disposal of shareholding in Yimaihutong shall be
governed by the Contractual Arrangements unless Jinye
Tiancheng consents otherwise in writing.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall become effective
from signing. The Exclusive Option Agreement has an
indefinite term and a termination provision which stipulates
that the Exclusive Option Agreement may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance of
the obligations of the agreement will result in violation of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations,
the Listing Rules or the requirements of the Stock
Exchange, (i) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
directly holds all the equity interests in Yimaihutong,
and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity interests
in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Loan Agreements

Pursuant to the loan agreement dated 6 November 2013
between Jinye Tiancheng and Ms. Tian Liping (the “Tian
Liping Loan Agreement”) and the loan agreement dated
14 April 2023 between Jinye Tiancheng and Mr. Tian
Lixin (together with the Tian Liping Loan Agreement, the
“Loan Agreements”), Jinye Tiancheng (i) made a loan
in an amount of RMB1,000,000 to Ms. Tian Liping for the
capitalization of Yimaihutong, (i) made a loan in an amount
of RMB1,260,998.02 to Mr. Tian Lixin primarily for the
payment of the consideration for the transfer of 50% equity
interest in Yimaihutong from Dr. Li Zhuolin to Mr. Tian Lixin.
Pursuant to these loan agreements, Ms. Tian Liping and
Mr. Tian Lixin can only repay the respective loans by the
sale of all of their respective equity interest in Yimaihutong
to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person. They must
sell all of their respective equity interests in Yimaihutong
to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person and pay
all of the proceeds from sale of such equity interests or
the maximum amount permitted under PRC law to Jinye
Tiancheng. In the event that any of them sell their equity
interests to the Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person
with a price equivalent to or less than the amount of the
principal, Jinye Tiancheng shall waive the repayment of the
remaining amount. If the price is higher than the amount
of the principal, the excess amount will be paid to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person. The consideration of
RMB1,260,998.02 received by Dr. Li Zhuolin for the transfer
of 50% equity interest in Yimaihutong to Mr. Tian Lixin was
used to repay in full the loan due to Jinye Tiancheng by Dr.
Li Zhuolin under the loan agreement dated 2 March 2021
between Jinye Tiancheng and Dr. Li Zhuolin. The Loan
Agreements do not have a term and the loans must be
repaid immediately under certain circumstances, including,
among others, (i) the death of the Registered Shareholders
or when the Registered Shareholders become persons
with limited capacity, (i) the Registered Shareholders are
suspected of criminal activities or (iii) breach of the terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreements.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the
shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and
unconditionally agree to authorize Jinye Tiancheng (and its
successors or liquidators) or a natural person designated
by Jinye Tiancheng (the “Attorney”) to exercise all of his/
her rights and powers as a shareholder of Yimaihutong (as
applicable), including without limitation:

o to suggest, propose and attend shareholders’
meetings of Yimaihutong and to execute any
and all meeting notices, written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to file documents with the relevant companies
registry;

° to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s
voting rights in accordance with PRC laws and the
constitutional documents of Yimaihutong, including
but not limited to (i) deal, manage and obtain the
assets of, and obtain the income of, Yimaihutong; and
(i) the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all
of the equity interests in Yimaihutong;

o to nominate or appoint the directors, supervisors,
general manager and other senior management of
Yimaihutong; and

° to make decisions on major matters related to
Yimaihutong’s business and review and approve all
relevant reports and plans.

As Jinye Tiancheng is a subsidiary of the Company, the
terms of the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
will give the Company control over all corporate decisions
made by such Attorney and exercise management control
over Yimaihutong.
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The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement shall
become effective from signing and has an indefinite
term. The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
may only be terminated in the event that (i) continued
performance of the obligations of the agreement will result
in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of
the Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholders
agree to pledge (i) all of their respective equity interests
in Yimaihutong to Jinye Tiancheng, and (ii) the Registered
Shareholders’ present and future rights, interests, income,
claims, current or future receivables and compensations
related to their equity interests in Yimaihutong and
dividends and other payments distributed from
Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time to
time, to secure performance of, among other things, their
obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement.

If Yimaihutong declares any dividend during the term
of the pledge, Jinye Tiancheng is entitled to receive all
dividends or other income arising from the pledged equity
interests, if any. In case of any breach of obligations by
any of the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong, Jinye
Tiancheng, upon issuing a written notice to the Registered
Shareholders, will be entitled to all remedies available in
the Contractual Arrangements including but not limited to
disposing of the pledged equity interests.
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In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the
Registered Shareholders undertake to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to transfer their pledged equity
interests and not to create or allow any pledge or
encumbrance thereon that may affect the rights and
interest of Jinye Tiancheng without its prior written
consent. Yimaihutong undertakes to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to consent to any transfer of the
pledged equity interests or to create or allow any pledge
or encumbrance thereon without Jinye Tiancheng’s prior
written consent.

The pledge in respect of Yimaihutong takes effect upon the
completion of registration with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce and shall remain valid until
after (i) all the contractual obligations under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed; (ii)
all the outstanding debts under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully paid; (i) Jinye Tiancheng,
as permitted by the laws and regulations of the PRC,
decides to purchase all the equity interest in and/or assets
of Yimaihutong held by the Registered Shareholders in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement; and (iv)
the equity interest of the Registered Shareholders has been
transferred to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
in accordance with the laws and regulations of the PRC
and Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s) can legally
engage in Yimaihutong'’s business.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
signing. The Equity Pledge Agreement has an indefinite
term and a termination provision which stipulates that the
Equity Pledge Agreement may only be terminated in the
event that (i) continued performance of the obligations of
the agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or the requirements of the Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) directly holds all the
equity interests in Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered
Shareholders’ equity interests in Yimaihutong or all of
the assets of Yimaihutong attributable to the Registered
Shareholders are transferred to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations; or (iii) Jinye
Tiancheng unilaterally terminates the agreement.
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SPOUSE UNDERTAKINGS

The spouses of each of the Registered Shareholders have
each signed an undertaking (the “Spouse Undertakings”)
to the effect that he/she has no right to the respective
50% equity interests in Yimaihutong held by the Registered
Shareholders. Each of the Spouse Undertakings does not
have a term.

The above arrangements provide protection to the
Group even in the event of death or divorce of the
Registered Shareholders and the death or divorce of such
shareholder would not affect the validity of the Contractual
Arrangements, and Jinye Tiancheng or the Company can
still enforce their right under the Contractual Arrangements
against the Registered Shareholders and their successors.

OTHER KEY TERMS THEREUNDER
Dispute Resolution

Each of the agreements under the Contractual
Arrangements contains a dispute resolution provision.
Pursuant to such provision, in the event of any dispute
arising from the performance of or relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, any party has the right to
submit the relevant dispute to the Beijing Arbitration
Commission for arbitration, in accordance with the then
effective arbitration rules.

Succession

The provisions set out in the Contractual Arrangements
are also binding on any successor(s) of the Registered
Shareholders as if such successors were a signing party
to the Contractual Arrangements. As such, any breach by
the successors would be deemed to be a breach of the
Contractual Arrangements. Under the PRC Civil Code, the
statutory successors include the spouse, children, parents,
brothers, sisters, paternal grandparents and maternal
grandparents. In the case of a breach, Jinye Tiancheng
can enforce its rights against the successors.
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Conflicts of Interests

Each of Registered Shareholders undertakes that,
during the period that the Contractual Arrangements
remain effective, they shall not take or omit to take
any action which may lead to a conflict of interest with
Jinye Tiancheng or Jinye Tiancheng'’s direct or indirect
shareholders. If there is any conflict of interest, Jinye
Tiancheng shall have the right to decide in its sole
discretion on how to deal with such conflict of interest
in accordance with the applicable PRC laws. Registered
Shareholders will unconditionally follow the instructions
of Jinye Tiancheng to take any action to eliminate such
conflict of interest.

NO MATERIAL CHANGE TO CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Save for the transfer of 50% equity interest in Yimaihutong
from Dr. Li Zhuolin to Mr. Tian Lixin and the associated
reproduction and re-execution of the agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements on 14 April
2023, there has been no material change to the terms of
the Contractual Arrangements during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up until the date of this report.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

There are the certain risks that are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the operations
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC do
not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if these laws or regulations or the interpretation of
existing laws and regulations change in the future,
the Group could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual
Arrangements and may be forced to relinquish its
interest in those operations.

° Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership.
The Consolidated Affiliated Entities or the Registered
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements and the
Registered Shareholders may have potential conflicts
of interest with the Company.
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o The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that
the Group owes additional taxes could negatively
affect its financial condition.

° The Group’s current corporate structure and business
operations may be affected by the Foreign Investment
Law, which is relatively new and uncertainties exist
in relation to its interpretation and implementation,
and it remains uncertain whether the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed to be in violation of the
market access requirements for foreign investment in
the PRC.

° The Group may lose the ability to use, or otherwise
benefit from, the licenses, approvals and assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities if any of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities declares bankruptcy
or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

° The Group does not have any insurance which covers
the risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder.

MITIGATION ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY

The Company’s management works closely with its
external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the
regulatory environment and developments in PRC laws
and regulations to mitigate the risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements.

The Group has adopted measures to ensure the
effective operation of the Group’s businesses with the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and its
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including,
among others:

()  major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review
and discussion as and when they arise;
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(i) the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at
least once a year;

(i) the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
the annual reports;

(iv) the Company will engage external legal advisers or
other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the
Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Jinye
Tiancheng and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
deal with specific issues or matters arising from the
Contractual Arrangements; and

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will review
the compliance of the Contractual Arrangements
on an annual basis and their confirmation will be
disclosed in the Company’s annual report.

WAIVER FROM THE STOCK EXCHANGE

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock
Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver (i) pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from
strict compliance with the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements,
and (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the
transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under
Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement
of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to
three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to certain conditions. For details, please refer to
the section “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus and the Company’s announcement dated 14
April 2023.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
of the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2023
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by
Yimaihutong to the holders of its equity interests which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group; and (i) no new transactions, contracts and
agreements or renewal of existing agreements have been
entered into between the Group and Yimaihutong during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions in connection with Contractual
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2023, in
particular, confirming that the transactions have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements,
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the
holders of their equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED LICENSE AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated License Agreement
entered into by the Company, Yimaihutong and M3, Inc.
on 29 March 2021, (i) M3, Inc. granted to the Company a
non-transferable, exclusive license during the term of the
Amended and Restated License Agreement to (a) use and
integrate know-how concerning MR-kun and (b) provide
services relating to MR-kun (“MR-kun Services”) within
the mainland of the PRC (the “Territory”); and (i) M3,
Inc. will provide the Company with continuous assistance,
update and know-how related to MR-kun including (a)
MR-kun marketing support and (b) provide support and
assistance in respect of e-detailing to the extent related to
the MR-kun Services.

The Amended and Restated License Agreement became
effective on 29 March 2021 and is valid until December 31,
2023. On 22 November 2023, the Company, Yimaihutong
and M3, Inc. entered into the 2023 License Agreement to
renew the Amended and Restated License Agreement on
the same terms for a tenure of three years, commencing
on 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026.

In respect of the MR-kun Services, the Company shall
pay M3, Inc. a license and service fee which equals to ten
percent (10%) of the Gross Revenue generated from clients
of the Group that purchase or use the MR-kun Services
(“Clients”). “Gross Revenue” shall mean the total revenue
the Group receives from Clients in any way directly or
indirectly related to the MR-kun Services, excluding content
production fee and operation fee, and excluding any
discounts granted to Clients, unless otherwise agreed by
the parties from time to time in writing. “Content production
fee” shall mean the fee payable by the Clients to our Group
in consideration of its digital contents development service
for the relevant promotion campaign, and “operation fee”
shall mean the fee payable by the Clients to our Group in
consideration of its service for operating MR-kun portal
directly for the Clients’ project.

The license and service fees payable to M3, Inc. were
determined on the basis of arm’s length negotiations
between the parties which are the same as the rates M3,
Inc. charged its subsidiaries and the companies in which
M3, Inc. has an equity interest.
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The annual caps for the license and service fees payable
by the Group under the Amended and Restated License
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
RMB3.38 million. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the amount of license and service fees payable
by the Group under the Amended and Restated License
Agreement was approximately RMBO0.56 million. As it is
expected that the amount of license and services fees
payable by the Group each year under the 2023 License
Agreement will be below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, transactions contemplated
under the 2023 License Agreement are fully exempt from
compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and no
annual caps were set for the transactions contemplated
under 2023 License Agreement.

PRECISION MARKETING AND CORPORATE
SOLUTIONS SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement entered into by
the Company and M3, Inc. on 18 June 2021, the Company
provides digital market research services and digital
content creation and digital detailing services to M3, Inc.
and/or its associates.

The Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement became effective on 15 July 2021
and is valid for one year.

The service fee receivable by the Company under the
Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement is determined on normal
commercial terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis, on
similar basis as the Group conducts businesses with
other independent third parties and shall be at rates no
less favorable than rates at which the Company and/or its
subsidiaries charge independent third parties for similar
services.

On 24 March 2022, the Company and M3, Inc. entered into
a renewal agreement to extend the term of the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement to 31 December 2024 and to revise the annual
caps to RMB13.6 million, RMB13.6 million and RMB13.6
million for the years ended and ending 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. Details of the renewal
agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 24 March 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount of
service fees payable by the Group under the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement was approximately RMB8.97 million.

M3, Inc. is a controlling shareholder of the Company
and is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Amended and Restated License
Agreement and the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement (together, the
“M3, Inc. Continuing Connected Transactions”)
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Waivers from the Stock Exchange

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver under Rule
14A105 of the Listing Rules from strict compliance with
the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Amended and Restated License Agreement.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT
OF THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected Transactions
and confirm that the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected
Transactions were entered into by the Group (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions and on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF
THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transaction
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young has issued an unqualified letter containing
their conclusion in respect of the M3, Inc. Continuing
Connected Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date
of this annual report, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in accordance with the
provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.

Further details on related party transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement and the
Amended and Restated License Agreement disclosed
in this Report of Directors, none of the related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction that are subject to the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

() INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY

Name of Director/
Chief Executive
B
BEITHRABHS

Nature of interest
EanHE

Ms. Tian Liping®
Y ¥zt

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE S

Beneficial interest®

et E

Interest of spouse®

FLiBEzm©

Mr. Tian Lixin®
B FkEe

Interest in controlled corporation
R LAEER

Beneficial interest®

B

Interest of spouse®

B EmY

Mr. Tian Lijun®®
R <7 % 4 £ @10

Beneficial interest

o St e A
EmEn
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BB A e AN R N B R BT EY RE S sOK
B BEERBEFLBEKNIMNEBIE
NEEXERARENETNAR) K
BIE(EFRBEEG)FEI2E AL HERN
AARREFENELMAOEZR AR &
BELTBETAETETEFRINEZ
EFR((BETFHDEMNSANG KRB
R R AT

() FLFEEREGTHRARMGE
o

Approximate
Number of percentage of

underlying shareholding
Shares interest
HEROHE BAREES
267,540,000 36.80%
10,494,500 1.44%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.80%
2,550,000 0.35%
100,000 0.01%
2,200,000 0.30%



Notes:

(1)

@)

All interests stated are long positions.

Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun are brothers
and sister of each other. Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to
48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr.
Tian Lijun, respectively. Tiantian Co., Limited directly holds
267,540,000 Shares, and Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
are deemed to be interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by
Tiantian Co., Limited.

Ms. Tian Liping is interested in 5,425,500 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 5,069,000 Shares. Ms. Tian
Liping is deemed to be interested in the 50,000 Shares and
Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for 50,000 Shares held by
her spouse, Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng.

Mr. Tian Lixin is interested in 1,275,000 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 1,275,000 Shares. Mr. Tian
Lixin is deemed to be interested in the 50,000 Shares and Pre-
IPO Share Options to subscribe for 50,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Liu Lingdi.

Mr. Tian Lijun is interested in 925,000 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 1,275,000 Shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 726,962,500.
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(1) INTEREST IN THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARY,
BEIJING YIMAIHUTONG TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.

Name of Director/

Chief Executive Nature of interest
B

BEESTHRABH®S EEME

Ms. Tian Liping Beneficial owner
B+ EmiEA A

Mr. Tian Lixin® Beneficial owner

B FEEn EmEA A

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors were
aware, as of 31 December 2023, no persons (excluding
the Company) were directly or indirectly interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group.

Note:

1) Pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 14 April
2023, Dr. Li Zhuolin transferred his 50% interest in Beijing
Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. to Mr. Tian Lixin.
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(1) RFLFMELAFILREREEH
BRRAFMHER

Registered Percentage of
capital interest

EMER EEEHD

RMB5,000,000 50%
registered capital
EERIIIEC N
A K #5,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000 50%
registered capital
EERIIE =
A K #5,000,0007T

rEMFEEEIN REEAAN R
2023%F12H31H & A £ (K27
BAINEEZXEEHEERSERN TR
FRELATERSEEREMKE
RAIMBRRARAE L& ZEXE [ LB 5
M AT E10% 80 A A2 o

GEX

(1) 1R B H A2023F47148 09 I #E &
Eha TERELTEAYHLE
EZHRNEREREBEREARA
Al HI50% HE 2 -



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature of interest

mE BB EEME

Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng Interest of spouse®

oR B I % A4 EERO
Interest of spouse®
Bic 18 #E 25 @
Beneficial interesﬂS)
& *’E iy

Ms. Liu Lingdi Interest of spouse®
B AW+ Bic 18 #E 25 @
Interest of spouset
EERY
Beneficial interest®

Tiantian Co., Limited® Beneficial owner
ExnBEAA

M3, Inc.?® Beneficial owner

ERmBEBA

Sony Group Corporation® Interest in controlled corporation

R rERER

FIL Limited® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry rE R

Pandanus Associates Inc.® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry rE R

Pandanus Partners L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry rE R
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RikE

R20283F12A318  MEEMA * THIA
T(EFHAQRAEHITHRABBRIND
RO BEERDTHEERBE(ESFRAE
& BIYEXVERE2 K235 3 15 XA [ AN A A)
BEMERKIAR  HBEECLEREGE
AR EE G F)FEIB6E R ER LB
e ERS AR

Approximate

Number of percentage of
underlying shareholding
Shares interest

HEROBE SARERSL

267,540,000 36.80%
10,494,500 1.44%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.80%
2,550,000 0.35%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.80%
267,540,000 36.80%
267,540,000 36.80%
64,912,871 8.93%
64,912,871 8.93%
64,912,871 8.93%
%H)ﬁzﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ’&?

TECC=EER
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Notes:

=

)

All interests stated are long positions.

Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng is the spouse of Ms. Tian Liping. Mr. Zhang
Xiaofeng is deemed to be interested in 267,540,000 Shares held by
Tiantian Co., Limited in which Ms. Tian Liping is interested, as well as
the 5,425,500 Shares and the Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
5,069,000 Shares held by Ms. Tian Liping.

Includes 50,000 Shares and Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
50,000 Shares held by Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng.

Ms. Liu Lingdi is the spouse of Mr. Tian Lixin. Ms. Liu Lingdi is
deemed to be interested in 267,540,000 Shares held by Tiantian Co.,
Limited in which Mr. Tian Lixin is interested as well as the 1,275,000
Shares and the Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for 1,275,000
Shares held by Mr. Tian Lixin.

Includes 50,000 Shares and Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
50,000 Shares held by Ms. Liu Lingdi.

Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to 48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian
Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun, respectively.

Sony Group Corporation is interested in approximately 33.95% of
the shares of M3, Inc.. Sony Group Corporation is deemed to be
interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by M3, Inc.. Sony Group
Corporation is the largest shareholder and an affiliate of M3, Inc..

Pandanus Associates Inc. has 100% control over Pandanus Partners
L.P., which in turn has 39.60% control over FIL Limited. Therefore,
Pandanus Associates Inc. and Pandanus Partners L.P. are deemed
to be interested in the 64,912,871 Shares in which FIL Limited has a
notifiable interest.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 726,962,500.
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FrERmBARER -

FREELEEABBYFR T Z2EB - REE
ErXERAERBYFLTHEETONA
Tiantian Co., Limited#§ & 267,540,000 %
BHFREERET  TEARBRYFYLZL
155 195,425,500 8% I 19 & 7] 52 f£ 5,069,000
BB ERN AFESAERETEEE

5o

B 5 i o e U1 O A 15 B #950,000 8 B 0 K2
A R BE50,000/ B {9 w9 B IR A B & E AT BB
P #E

BB LT ABALHEEZERB - 2E
B TBEAERBYLNEERERENA
Tiantian Co., Limited# & #267,540,0000%
BHFHEERZ TRAENRBEILINTE
¥ 8 /91,275,000 8% f% 19 & 7] 72 881,275,000
BRONERXAFASEEEREPHEE

m °

B 45 B 2 B 5 2+ 5 B #1950,0000% A% 5 K&
A R EE50,0008% IR 15 B B IR A B3 S AT
g

Tiantian Co., Limited D Bl A FL £ -
B EERBIEEEHEFI8% - 37%
N15% % o

Sony Group Corporation # A& M3, Inc.
#933.95% & 15 # z= ° Sony Group
Corporation # & # M3, Inc. AT #
267,540,000/ fx 1 #F % B # % - Sony
Group CorporationZM3, Inc.H) & KX % &
REtB AR -

Pandanus Associates Inc. ¥ Pandanus
Partners L.P. §100% & | #& i & & ¥
FIL Limited £39.60% 2 I # - [l
Pandanus Associates Inc. } Pandanus
Partners L.P.#5 1% &R FIL Limited 5 B2 T
SR AE 25 164,912,871 IR0 HE B A 25 ©

2023F12A31H * "R R E E TR )
#28 73726,962,500/% °



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who had any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2023 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age)
to acquire benefits by an acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether for
the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenues from the
Group’s top five customers accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s total revenue.

All of the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended
31 December 2023 are independent third parties of the
Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or previous Director or any of their close associates or
to the best knowledge of the Directors, any shareholder of the
Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5.0% of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or any of their close associates or to the best knowledge of
the Directors, any shareholder of the Company (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
not entered into any contract with any individuals, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or trusts or otherwise in relation
thereto in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 123 to 124 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
RMBO0.1248 (equivalent to HK$0.1375, based on the rate of
HK$1.10142 to RMB1.00, being the official exchange rate of HK
dollars against Renminbi as quoted by the People’s Bank of
China on 22 March 2024) per Share. Subject to the passing of
the relevant resolution at the annual general meeting, the final
dividend will be paid at HK$0.1375 per Share in Hong Kong
dollars. The final dividend will be paid on or around 24 June
2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 3 June 2024.
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Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the annual
general meeting, which is proposed to be held on 24 May 2024,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 30
May 2024 to 3 June 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose
of determining shareholders’ entitlements to the final dividend.
In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by relevant share certificates, must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 29 May 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands comprise the share premium and retained profits
totaling approximately RMB3,965.8 million (2022: approximately
RMBS3,919.3 million).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations amounting to
RMB116,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 July 2021.
The net proceeds from the Company’s global offering (including
the exercise of the over-allotment option) was approximately
HK$4,677 million (the “IPO Proceeds”), which were to be
utilized for the purposes as set out in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”). On 12 June
2023, the Company announced re-allocation of the use of the
IPO Proceeds, the extension of timing of the use of the IPO
Proceeds and the possible utilization of idle IPO Proceeds to
subscribe for or purchase wealth management products (the
“Announcement”). For further details and reasons for such
changes, please refer to the Announcement. The following table
shows a summary of the allocation of the intended use of the
IPO Proceeds as adjusted and set out in the Announcement,
and the utilization as at 31 December 2023:

IHmERRABAE

AR a) fg D 20215 7158 £ BE X BT £
Me ARABEHRBEEMERBFEBEE
TEBBEERE N R4eTTEEST(E
RABMBENBRED  BARARFH
Hi B2021F6A30H v B =R ([BRE
BDFAEAS - N2023FE6A12H - AR
AMEN P REERX AHAEEMSNER
B CEREBAAHABEMSREDAE
MALAESABEBERARAEEME
RERBIEEERERTEBLAES(A
ED  BEHRFBLRZEARNERERE  #2
BMAGE TREBINEBALAHAEEFRER
HRTETAEN OB AEMHLARE)
NE E2023F12A31HNBHAHBEREE

Allocation of intended Remaining balance as
use of IPO Proceeds Utilization as at at  Expected
Intended use of IPO proceeds (as adjusted) 31 December 2023 31 December 2023 time of use
EROBRE
i BE2023% HZ2023%
REREAE 128318 12A31H
ERORBERBRARERE (£R%) BELER: NeE RADARE
(HKS millions) (HK$ millons) (HKS millons)
(BE#T) (BE#T) (BE#T)
A.  Business Expansion
KHER
(1) enhance medical knowledge solutions of the Company 280.7 36.2 2445 Defore December 2027
and enrich medical knowledge information and tools on
the platform of the Company
PEARANESAZRAFE VUEARATAN 2027F12R5
ESNBESRIA
2 improve patient care offerings 187.1 38.7 15634 Dbefore December 2027
RASEERRE 2007512 A8
(3)  strengthen intelligent clinical research solutions 140.3 36.8 103.5  Dbefore December 2027
FEERBAMARA R 200112 R
(4)  strengthen the relationships with the existing customers 1871 433 1438 before December 2027
of the Company and develop and attract additional
customers in pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical
device industries
ERARNAERARPHBR FERRIESRE 200112

ENRMRERRRORNER
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Allocation of intended Remaining balance as
use of IPO Proceeds Utilization as at at  Expected
Intended use of IPO proceeds (as adjusted) 31 December 2023 31 December 2023 time of use
ERDHRE
fiERE HZ2023% HZ2028%
REREAE 128318 127318
ERAMBERGRERERR &Ly BBALE WeE EIDRARE
(HKS millons) (HKS millons) (HKS millons)
(BE#T) (BE#T) (BE#T)
() enhance user growth and engagement through targeted 1403 29.2 1111 before December 2027
sales and marketing activities
RASTHEHERTZEHED REAPERES 2027512850
ag
B.  Investment in technology and enhancement of research and development capabilities
REGHRREFERD
(1) recruit talent and collaborate with experts 461.7 83.6 3841 Dbefore December 2027
REATREZRAH 200112 R0
()  develop and expand the application scenarios of 374.2 56.7 317.5  before December 2027
technology of the Company, particularly, machine
learning, natural language processing, knowledge graph
and user understanding
RERBRALARMOERES LERREEE. 2007F 2R3
BREERE NBEEREFER
(3 build up the data center of the Company and strengthen 93.6 19.1 745 before December 2027
the computing power and storage capabilities of the IT
infrastructure of the Company
BUARANEETORRBARATEARR BMGE 2027F12R%
wORREE
C. Pursue strategic investments or acquisitions 2,338.6 195.8 21428 N/A
opportunities
BEERREGLERS AR
D.  General replenishment of the working capital of 467.7 106.0 3617  NA
the Company and for other general corporate
purposes
RERANR-REBEELRAM-REERR MR
Total 4,671.3 640.4 4,036.9
@t
%Mﬁﬂ&ﬁmﬁﬂ
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As at 31 December 2023, unutilised IPO Proceeds were
deposited with licensed financial institutions and no IPO
Proceeds have been used for the subscription or purchase of
wealth management products.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Year, the Company repurchased a total of
100,000 Shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) for an aggregate consideration of
HK$744,945 before expenses. The repurchased Shares were
subsequently cancelled. The repurchase was effected for the
enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. Details of
the Shares repurchased are as follows:

R2023F12A310 * ABA 2 H XA
EMSRBEFAFERSREE  BX
EERAFABEMESREANRELE
BEEYE®R-

ME  HERROFLF LHESF

RBEFERN  ARAREAHAERLS
FT A BR A=) ([ B3 ATl LA 48 R {B744,945
BT (REHF X)) R4 100,000 B fn -
BORGOHEWTHE #ETEBEEER
RITERREE BRROHFBOT:

Repurchase consideration

per Share
BRERRE
Aggregate
Month of repurchase No. of Shares Highest Lowest Consideration
in the Reporting Year repurchased price paid price paid paid
i [l
BEFEANERA®R v = &S E A REE T BEKE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
October 100,000 7.48 7.41 744,945
+ A
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of [ EXFIHEBEEIN  RBEEFER K

its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed
securities of the Company during the Reporting Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Incentive Schemes — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”
above. Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreement will
or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company in 2023
or subsisted at the end of 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 96 to 114 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing
Rules, pursuant to which the minimum percentage of the Shares
from time to time held by the public shall be 24.98% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Waivers and Exemptions from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules and the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.
Based on the information that is publicly available and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of more than 24.98% of the
Company'’s issued shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. A
resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

Medlive Technology Co., Lid.

Tian Liping

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024

Report of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the
firm belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the
principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code on the Stock Exchange (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions as set forth in
Part 2 of the CG Code, except for a deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of the chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Details of such deviation are
summarized below in the subsection headed “Chairwoman and
Chief Executive Officer”.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
code for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, it is confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required of a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time in performing
them. The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises nine Directors. During the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has four executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Dr. Li Zhuolin

(resigned with effect from 14 April 2023)
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo

(appointed with effect from 14 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has, at
all times, met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
requirement set out in the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
35 to 43 of this annual report.
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time
to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, the Directors do not have any other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one
another.

CHAIRWOMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Ms. Tian Liping (“Ms. Tian”) is the chairwoman and chief
executive officer of the Company. With extensive experience
in the medical information technology industry, Ms. Tian is
responsible for formulating and implementing the overall
development strategies and business plans of the Group
and oversees the overall development and operations of the
Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in 1996 and is instrumental
to the Company’s growth and business expansion since its
establishment. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairwoman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior
management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises
four executive directors (including Ms. Tian), two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors and
therefore, in the Company’s view, has an appropriate level of
independence element in its composition.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract (in the
case of the executive Directors) or has been issued a letter of
appointment (in the case of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific term of three
years, which is renewable by mutual consent and subject to the
Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the next following general
meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. These include
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company; reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Directors and employees of the Company; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code from time to time
adopted by the Company and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be contained in the Company’s annual
report.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgment on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company. Furthermore, during the year ended 31 December
2023, independent professional advisers such as legal advisers
and/or auditors attended all relevant Board meetings to provide
input to subject matters discussed at Board meetings and
to answer questions of Directors. The Board considered that
such mechanism is an efficient and effective way to provide
independent views to the Board.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that they remain informed and relevant for their
contribution to the Board.

In 2023, the Company organized two focused training sessions
conducted by qualified professionals on directors’ duties
and responsibilities and enforcement cases studies (“First
Session”) and applicable PRC laws and regulations to the
Group (“Second Session”). All the Directors have also been
provided with training materials in relation to the First Session
and the Second Session.

Each of Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun, Ms. Zhou
Xin, Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya, Dr. Li Zhuolin, Mr. Richard Yeh and Ms.
Wang Shan attended the First Session. Each of Ms. Tian Liping,
Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun, Ms. Zhou Xin, Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr.
Ma Jun and Ms. Wang Shan attended the Second Session. Mr.
Kazutaka Kanairo received an induction training on directors’
duties and responsibilities shortly after he was appointed as a
Director of the Company.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings
and Board Committee meetings of the Company held during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the table below:
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Ms. Tian Liping 777 - - 11
HZ¥R+
Mr. Tian Lixin 717 - - —
Bk
Mr. Tian Lijun 777 — — -
HyELAE
Ms. Zhou Xin 7/7 - - -
ARzt
Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya 717 — — —
BER-%AE
Dr. Li Zhuolin 11 - - —
FERET
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo 6/6 - - -
2E-EXLE
Mr. Richard Yeh 6/7 5/5 11 11
BEREA
Mr. Ma Jun 4/7 5/5 11 11
SERM
Ms. Wang Shan 777 5/5 1/ 1/
Tt

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
held seven Board meetings in total to, among other things,
approve the Company’s 2022 annual results and report, the
2023 interim results and report, consider the amendments to
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
consider and approve the appointment of Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo
as a non-executive Director, consider and approve the entering
into of new contractual arrangements, consider and approve the
appointment of Ms. Chu Cheuk Ting as joint company secretary,
consider and approve the acquisition of 50% equity interests
in SCMedcon, consider and approve the acquisition of 60%
equity interests in Linberg Consulting and to review the Group’s
financial performance in the first quarter and the first three
quarters of 2023.
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The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year ended
31 December 2023. The Audit Committee also met the external
auditors once during the year ended 31 December 2023 without
the presence of the executive Directors and the management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting and the
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

All the members of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and the
majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Shan, Mr. Richard Yeh
and Dr. Ma Jun. Ms. Wang Shan, being the chairwoman of the
committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section D.3 of the
CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal controls system of the Group, oversee the audit
process, review and oversee the existing and potential risks
of the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
held five meetings to review the 2022 annual results and report,
the 2023 interim results and report, the financial performance
of the Group for the first quarter and the first three quarters
of 2023 and significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma
Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, all being independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Richard Yeh is the chairman of the committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section
E.1 of the CG Code. The main duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and make recommendations on the same as well as employee
benefit arrangement and to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The executive Directors are remunerated with base salaries and
performance-based bonuses. Non-executive Directors are not
compensated by the Group whereas independent non-executive
Directors receive a fixed annual director’s fee which was
determined with reference to the amounts of director’s fee paid
by comparable companies.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

ERERE

BREZESH-EZBIIERNTERTHANX
BEMZLt EFRLEELFTEERM- - £
MztEEZEaeER  FE(EMRAD
F310Q MI2MERERNER -

BTRIE — A DI ERR - EZ
ZEENIZ2BER/RTLREEASKHE
M ERRIE  AREENAIREE
HE - SEEEZRE FEEELARH
BEMNBERR YBTEEFSEIRD
HibBEREME -

REE2023F12A831BILFE  BEXEE
FROITRAARGH  BH2022FFE %
BRHRE 20230 HIXEBERRE - &
SE0BFFEF—FTERB_FTEUKE
BMNEBTHERMEEEFNELRS
B ASZEHERRBRERERS -

FHER®

ARBIRUFHEES HAEMBESR
FadEmRADEIBHEREEER
SRl HMEZEER =R EAK B
EnicsL BEBOLAIWMXE BA
BIUFNTEF -ERALLEEETZES
EFE e

FHESRNBRRERITLLOEE
B % = S EAE AT E E 5 o B
BEEMIEMELNE ENEFR
BREEEHTMBEREE R
EERAZHELEEURENE &
Bk E TR BB+ s AR
el FEE -

/

WA B

0

3

HITESFNHFMEREARTEMERE
BMEONRE - FRTEETITEAEEN
BMMBLFATESEFUNET S
HNEREHRT ZEFREDH2EAL
NAXMMEEREEE -

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf

105



106

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

REE2023F12A31BILEE - HFEEE
SRTTAEEH  BERE2ZNTHH -
WhREESRMEEZE -

RIELCEERTRSFAIEXFEELSK
HE2023F12A31BHILFE ol EE=
(BEEBRINOEFBFBOT

Number of

employee(s)

EE®E

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,0017% 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001/ 7t £3,500,0007% 7T -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,0017% Jt £4,500,0007 7T 1

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Tian Liping, the chairwoman and chief executive officer,
Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, being
independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Tian Liping is the
chairwoman of the committee. The majority of the Nomination
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section B.3 of
the CG Code. The main duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment of Directors and Board succession.
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The Company has formulated and adopted the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions concerning the diversity
of board members. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach adopted by the Board regarding diversity of Board
members.

The Company recognizes the importance of achieving diversity
in the Board and the Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach to include and make good use of differences in the
talents, skills, knowledge, regional and industry experience,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, gender, length
of service and other qualities of the members of the Board.
In particular, there will be no discrimination on the ground of
race, age, gender or religious belief. These differences will be
considered in determining the optimum composition of the
Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, one-third of
whom are female Directors, including the Chairwoman of the
Company, Ms. Tian Liping, who is also a controlling shareholder
of the Company; Ms. Zhou Xin, an executive Director who was
originally seconded to the Company from MS3. Inc., another
controlling shareholder of the Company and Ms. Wang Shan, an
independent non-executive Director. The Company is of the view
that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been achieved.
Of the 742 employees of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
492 are female, including one senior management member.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is
also achieved in its workforce generally.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023 and is of the view that such
policy has been effectively implemented.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
which sets out a set of nomination procedures and selection
criteria for Directors. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate
and select candidates based on the criteria by reference to
character and integrity, business experience relevant and
beneficial to the Company, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills and knowledge that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the
Board and other significant commitments, present needs of the
Board for particular expertise, skills or experience and whether
the candidates would satisfy those needs, requirement for
the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules and whether the candidates for independent
Directors would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and the
board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board as well as to consider and make
recommendation to the Board in relation to the election of Mr.
Kazutaka Kanairo as a non-executive Director, based on the
nomination policy described above.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining
sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s
risk management and internal control systems provide a
comprehensive and organized structure with clearly defined
scopes of responsibilities, authorities and procedures. The Audit
Committee supports the Board to oversee the effectiveness of
the risk management system on an ongoing basis.
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The Company has a designated risk management and internal
control team (the “team”) which is responsible for identifying
and monitoring the Company’s risks and internal control issues
and reports directly to the Board of any findings and follow-up
actions. Risks and internal control issues are identified through
close watch of regulatory environment, market conditions and
issues or matters concerning competitors or other industry
participants. All departments of the Company are required
to adhere to the Company’s internal control procedures and
report to the team of any risks or internal control issues. Once
any potential risk or internal control issue is identified, a cross
department meeting will be held to address such issue and
to the extent necessary, new policies will be established to
manage such risk. The risk management and internal control
system described above are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee of the Board also reviews the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems
at least once a year.

The Board has received confirmation from the management that
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023:

— the financial records have been properly maintained and
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
operations and finances of the Group; and

— the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a discussion
session attended by all the Directors and relevant external
professional advisers was held. This session has specific
emphasis on risk management and internal control matters and
the compliance status of the Company with the updated CG
Code was reviewed. This session provides the forum for the
Board to review and make comment and recommendations on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve internal control defects although no
material defect was identified. Furthermore, in light of the
various acquisitions made by the Company after its Listing, the
Company established an internal audit function in 2022, initially
focusing on the acquired subsidiaries.
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Based on the framework for risk management and internal
control systems established by the Group (including the internal
audit function), the Board and the Audit Committee considered
that, through the review of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, it can evaluate and improve their
effectiveness. The Board, with the concurrence of the Audit
Committee, considered that the Company’s internal control
systems, including financial, operational and compliance, as
well as the internal audit function, were effective and adequate
for the year ended 31 December 2023 based on the work
performed and report prepared by the team, the confirmation
letter received by the management, and most importantly, the
review conducted by the Board. The Company will perform
ongoing assessments to update all material risk factors on
a regular basis. In any case, review of risk management and
internal control systems by the Board will be conducted
annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board will conduct regular review and assessment of
inside information, discuss with the management or authorized
persons of the Company about disclosure of inside information
who have responsibility to report to the Board once any inside
information is identified for dissemination.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 115 to
122 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles of
Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the members of the Company but no dividend shall
be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. No dividend shall be declared or payable except out of
the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for
distribution, including share premium. No dividend shall carry
interest against the Company. The Company may distribute
dividends by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate, based on various factors such as the
Company'’s results of operations, cash flows, financial condition,
shareholders’ interests, capital requirements, payment to the
Company of cash dividend by its subsidiaries and other factors
that may be relevant. The Company will continue to re-evaluate
its dividend plan in light of its operation needs, earnings,
financial condition, working capital requirements and future
business plans as the Board may deem relevant at such time.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to RMB2.0 million and nil, respectively.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged TMF Hong Kong Limited, external
service provider, and Ms. Szeto Kai Yee Cynthia (until 11 June
2023) and Ms. Chu Cheuk Ting (from 12 June 2023) have been
appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company. Their
primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Yang Yanling,
the other joint company secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries attended sufficient professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to update their skills and
knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights (on
a one vote per share basis) of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out
in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director” of the
Company which is posted on the Company’s website.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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CONTACT DETAILS

The contact details of the Company are set out in the
Company’s website (http://ir.medlive.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquiries. An annual general meeting was held on 9 June
2023, at which meeting all the Directors were present either in
person or by video conference to address any enquiries that
shareholders might have.

The Company maintains a website at http://irmedlive.cn as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.

Meetings with investors were held after annual results and
interim results announcements in 2023. The Company also
received from time to time queries from shareholders which
were adequately addressed. As such, the Company is of the
view that its shareholders’ communication policy is effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
made certain amendments to the Memorandum and Articles
of Association for the purpose of, among others, (a) reflecting
the core shareholder protection standards as set out in the
revised Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which took effect on 1
January 2022; (b) bringing the Articles of Association in line with
amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable law
and procedures in the Cayman lIslands; and (c) incorporating
certain house keeping changes. Details of the proposed
amendments to the Articles of Association are set out in the
shareholders’ circular dated 26 April 2023.

Save for the above, the Company has not made any changes to
its Articles of Association.

The current version of the Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.
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Ernst & Young X EFT AN B T
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

AN — 2712

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 256, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

Accounting for acquisition

On 12 June 2023, the Group acauired a 50%
equity interest in Beiing SCMedcon Co, Lid.
("SCMedcon’) at a cash consideration of
RMB65,000,000.

On 12 October 2023, the Group
acquired a 60% equity interest in Linberg
Consulting & Intelligence (Shanghai) Co,
Ltd. (‘Linberg’) at a cash consideration
of RMB33,930,000. Management
engaged external appraisers to evaluate
the fair values of identifiable assets and
liabilities and contingent consideration
with respect to the acquisition of
SCMedcon and Linberg, respectively.
This matter is significant to our audit
because the fair value determination in
the accounting for business combination
relied on significant management
estimation in respect of fair value
assessments.

The Group’s disclosures about the
acquisitions are included in note 2.4
Material accounting policies and note 30
Business combination, which specifically
explain the accounting policies and
management’s accounting estimates.

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

We obtained and read the equity
fransfer agreements and examined the
payment of considerations. We assessed
the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external appraisers
engaged by the Group to perform the
valuation. We involved our internal
valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodologies
adopted and the assumptions used in
the valuation of identifiable assets and
liabilities and contingent consideration
with respect to the acquisitions of
SCMedcon and Linberg, respectively.

We also evaluated the adequacy of
the related disclosures in the financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’
BY ZEENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements amounted
to RMB192,525,000 as at 31 December
2023. The Group has performed an annual
impairment test on the recoverability of
goodwill in accordance with HKAS 36.
No impairment charge against goodwil
has been recorded in the current year.
Management’s impairment test is important
to our audit because the assessment
process is complex and requires significant
judgement and estimates on assumptions
including cash-generating unit identification,
gross margin and discount rate.

The Group's disclosures about impairment
testing of goodwill are included in note
2.4 Material accounting policies, note 3
Slgnificant accounting judgements and
estimates and note 15 Goodwill, which
specifically explain the accounting policies
and management’s assumptions and
accounting estimates.

s Report

(Continueqd)

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

We reviewed and tested management's
future forecasted cash flows and key
assumptions by comparing to the Group’s
development plan, budget and financial
projections and analysis of the industry.
We involved our internal valuation specialist
fo assist us in evaluating the key valuation
parameters such as the discount rate
applied and the valuation model with
forecasted cash flows.

We also evaluated the adequacy of
the related disclosures in the financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Management
Discussion and Analysis of the Annual Report (but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Statement, the Business
Overview and Outlook, the Report of Directors and the
Corporate Governance Report, which are expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed
on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Business
Overview and Outlook, the Report of Directors and the
Corporate Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate
the matter to the Audit Committee.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBEaRkHEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #; £22023F 12931H i F &

Notes 2023 2022
k3 2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% TR AREF L
REVENUE I 3 5 412,004 314,054
Cost of sales HEMA (160,669) (101,313)
Gross profit EF 251,335 212,741
Other income and gains HAn A Rl g 5 188,483 75,739
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (32,778) (28,899)
Administrative expenses THHEY (144,481) (122,443)
Other expenses EuEY (9,071) (1,582)
Finance costs BEKA 7 (361) (531)
Share of profit of an associate AEEE RAER 17 5 12
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B FfT 18 Bt A0 & A 6 253,132 135,037
Income tax expense FEfAY 10 (1,372) (8,616)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERER 251,760 126,421
Attributable to: ATFATER:
Owners of the parent SRAIHEAEA 242,301 117,321
Non-controlling interests kiR 9,459 9,100
251,760 126,421
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO B AREEEZEAEAEN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF SREA
THE PARENT
Basic N 12 RMB33.56 cents RMB16.42 cents
AR¥33.560  ARK16.42%
Diluted &5 12 RMB32.99 cents RMB15.93 cents
AR¥32997  AR%1593%
BIKBEREAERATR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEBEERHEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & £Z2023F 12931H 1 F &

2023 2022
2023% 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®E TR ARETFT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 251,760 126,421
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hiy 2
Other comprehensive loss that may be REBERRIEeENIE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ERGEMNHEMZEEE:
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BERIEBZERER
operations (6,261) (23,272)
Other comprehensive income that will not be REEHRTEEHNIER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BamEmEERE:
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BERRATBRRRZT
the Company’s financial statements into BEECERZEZR
presentation currency 69,317 353,159
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FREMZEKS (BHNK
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BiE) 63,056 329,887
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRAEXEKNELE
THE YEAR 314,816 456,308
Attributable to: PATATREL
Owners of the parent NEEARA 305,357 447,208
Non-controlling interests kiR 9,459 9,100
314,816 456,308

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBRRE

31 December 2023 2023412 4314

Notes 2023 2022
B 2 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BENEE 13 2,620 3,268
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 8,455 11,304
Goodwill EBES 15 192,525 111,518
Other intangible assets EMEREE 16 66,736 24,336
Investment in an associate R E RE IR E 17 360 355
Time deposits 7E B 17 K 22 42,014 92,438
Deferred tax assets BEEHIBEE 26 8,518 8,283
Total non-current assets IERBEEBLE 321,228 251,502
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 99 199
Trade receivables 2 5’ RIE 18 109,871 95,079
Contract assets BHEE 19 46,049 29,132
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE - H A B YR
other assets B R HEAME E 20 15,674 10,413
Financial assets at fair value through AR EBEEEE#
profit or loss it AN EmE
= 21 42,640 29,640
Cash and cash equivalents HehkReEEY 22 4,358,255 4,187,264
Total current assets mMBEERE 4,572,588 4,351,727
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B 5 M IR 23 14,771 2,709
Other payables and accruals H b & < 5038 K&
EstE M 24 135,238 85,913
Contingent consideration payables ER S ARE 25 18,242 13,956
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 4,549 5,136
Tax payable JE 1< B8 18 16,972 25,032
Total current liabilities MEBEERE 189,772 132,746
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 4,382,816 4,218,981
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERRBERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,704,044 4,470,483
BIKBEREAERATR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE MBIk R

31 December 2023 2023412 H31H

Notes 2023 2022
B 3E 2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 3,643 6,126
Contingent consideration payables R SARE 25 47,663 27,803
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIEAE 26 7,536 4,640
Total non-current liabilities FEREBEERSE 58,842 38,569
Net assets BEFHE 4,645,202 4,431,914
EQUITY &=
Equity attributable to owners HRRIHEAABMLER
of the parent
Share capital fi& 2 27 46 45
Reserves 1 29 4,597,323 4,400,978
4,597,369 4,401,023
Non-controlling interests JEIZ B B = 47,833 30,891
Total equity L ek 4,645,202 4,431,914
Ms. Tian Liping Mr. Tian Lixin
HiI¥&Zt Hi#HEE
Chief executive director Director
BREHITE EE

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREEX

Year ended 31 December 2023 #; £22023F 12931H i F &

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEARE
Share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share payment surplus  fluctuation ~ Retained controlling
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests Total equity
Notes WRBREE  tEB&®  ERED
(i3 ke ROEEE HRAREE R i BREW B FEREE  EREH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARBTR AR%TR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 27)  (note 29) (note 28)  (note29)  (note 29)
(Wstar)  (W&k29)  (Wies)  (Wit2e)  (K&t20)
At 1 January 2022 2020%1A1H 4 3,898,396 14,257 13,640 (53,264) 75629 3,948,702 2491 3,072,198
Profit for the year i - - - - - 17,321 117,321 9,100 126,421
Other comprehensive income ERABEENE:
for the year:
Exchange differences ERZZ - - - - 320,887 - 329,887 - 329,887
Total comprehensive income EMRENGEE
for the year - - - - 329,887 117,321 447,208 9,100 456,308
Transfer to surplus reserve ERTRUAERE - - - 5,534 - (5,534) - - -
Acquisiton of a subsidiary RENBLR - - - - - - - 3,004 3,004
Issue of shares Rk 1 - - - - - 1 - 1
Share-based payments NRABEENMT - - 17,245 - - - 17,245 - 17,45
Dividend declared PEERE - - - - - () (1219 - 2
Dividends paid o  non-controling BEERRERE
shareholder - - - - - - - (4,704) (4,704)
At 31 December 2022 and 2020%F12A31BR2023
1 January 2023 F1A1R 45 3,898,396 31,502 19,174 216,623 175,283 4,401,023 30,801 4,431,914
Proft for the year EREH - - - - -t 202301 9459 251760
Other comprehensive income FREpZENG:
for the year:
Exchange differences ERZZ - - - - 63,056 - 63,056 - 63,056
Total comprehensive income ER2ENEEE
for the year - - - - 63,056 242,301 305,357 9,459 314,816
Transfer to surplus reserve ERTRHAERE - - - 7,093 - (7,993) - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries YERBLF 30 - - - - - - - 12,084 12,084
Issue of shares ¥kt a 1 5,943 - - - - 5,944 - 5,944
Shares repurchased BEERA - (683) - - - - (683) - (683)
Share-based payments HRHBEENF 2 - - 10415 - - - 10415 - 10415
Dividend declared BEERE 1 - - - - - (188 (124687) - (12488)
Dividends paid o a non-contraling BEERRERE
shareholder - - - - - - - (4,601) (4,601)
At 31 December 2023 2023F128310 46 3,903,656 Ho1 21,161 339,679 284904 4,597,369 47833 4,645,202

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB4,597,323,000 (2022: RMB4,400,978,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

* ZEREBEBRANGEAVEBRRARPOEE
&% A R #4,507,323,0007T (20224F : A B2
#4,400,978,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & 220234 12 A31H 1+ F /&

Notes 2023 2022
B =E 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax bR %5 Bl s A 253,132 135,037
Adjustments for: RTINS EEHFZE:
Finance costs B & A 7 361 531
Share of profit of an associate ol o) AN b 17 (5 (12)
Interest income B WA (183,496) (65,273)
Investment income from financial assets BERARBEFEAEE
at fair value through profit or loss B AERNEREE
BREKA 5 (786) (720)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEREBITE
equipment 13 1,594 1,464
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 14(a) 5,301 6,095
Covid-19-related rent concessions from HEAFEZEHEER
lessors eEE 14(b) - (768)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Himp EEHH 16 2,476 1,428
Impairment of trade receivables, net B ERFKIBRETFE 18 505 (232)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BERKZEE
plant and equipment BREE 6 4 91
Fair value adjustment of contingent KAREBHRAEER
consideration B 25 2,161 1,201
Share-based payment expense AR 17 B B R 5 51
53 28 10,415 17,245
91,662 96,087
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL/ (M) 100 (105)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 MW IR IE N (1,164) (17,127)
Increase in contract assets ABHEEEMN (15,153) (7,923)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables T8 {1 Fk I8 « H b fE UL 3¢
and other assets BREAMEEEN (1,999) (1,288)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables SR EE M, O
) 6,247 (4,170)
Increase in other payables and accruals Hih e ERENE
A& 33,981 21,040
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 113,674 86,514
Income tax paid BERFEH (11,808) (9,325)
Net cash flows from operating activities RELTHMEREME
FRE 101,866 77,189

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n _\éiﬁu %ﬁ%ﬂj—%

Year ended 31 December 2023 & 220234 12 531H 1F F /&

Notes 2023 2022
B =E 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFEHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 KA 8 153,214 43,513
Increase in time deposits EH T SOE (693,438) (8,579,697)
Purchases of items of property, BEYWE BMEERK
plant and equipment #%IE B (750) (1,346)
Additions to other intangible assets REHMEBEREEE (31,776) (6,142)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERANEEFZAR
through profit or loss HEHTABRNEH
BE (9,000) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ HEZ A REE EJr 8
at fair value through profit or loss HEHTAEZNEH
BEMSNIE 2,410 -
Receipts of investment income from WEUR A ﬁfﬁfﬁ iFER
financial assets at fair value through profit ~ E& Bt A S HIEFH
or loss EREENRERA 786 720
Payment of contingent consideration for SN G ANENG BT
acquisition of a subsidiary KE 25 (10,020) (20,050)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g4 =N 30 (46,371) (22,553)
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REEBFARESTE
FRE (634,945) (3,585,555)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFESRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BITROABRIEA 5,944 1
Repurchase of shares Hﬂ\ o (683) —
Dividends paid to equity holders of ENFARERERFEA
the parent gy (124,687) (12,133)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT R R E
shareholders (4,601) (4,704)
Principal portion of lease payments MERNFAS D (5,542) (5,013)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEAEBENENHE (361) (531)
Dividend paid to the then shareholders of ~ E 1 i /B X 7] & i i 3R 7
a subsidiary 2 (3,200) —
Net cash flows used in financing activities ~ BEESHFARE T E
FRE (133,130) (22,380)
%Hﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂj
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & 220234 12 A31H 1+ F /&

Note 2023 2022
B & 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BeRkBRLEENF
EQUIVALENTS A (666,209) (3,530,746)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FOHeIREEEY
of year 678,245 3,879,104
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EXBENTEFH
net 63,056 329,887
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERESREESEEY
END OF YEAR 22 75,092 678,245
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBREeEEYER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS oM
Cash and bank balances Re MRITER 75,092 92,039
Time deposits EHTE 4,325,177 4,187,663
Less: Non-current time deposits B IERBEBHER 42,014 92,438
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BRI R FTSIR & R
the statement of financial position ReEEYD 4,358,255 4,187,264
Time deposits with original maturity of over ESRZ|H B BB =14
three months when acquired ABEBER (4,283,163) (3,509,019)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RE) /ﬁ EXRMIRE R
the statement of cash flows cEEY 75,092 678,245

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 8 April 2013. The registered
address of the Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally
engaged in the provision of precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions, and
intelligent patient management solutions.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company does not
have an immediate holding company or ultimate holding
company. Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun and
Tiantian Co., Limited (as one group) and M3, Inc., which
is incorporated in Japan, are the controlling shareholders
of the Company, as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

1.

Notes to Financial Statements

b e E e
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LFIREEEH

N AR &= — M R20183F4H8H 1
MERSIMA LN BRAA -
AN ) FE it 3 B PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands °

ARR A/ —BREZERAR - XA
FE ARAMNBARANEEER
RIERBELHROEBRT R
BEHNBBANRERLRERBEETR
BRORTTER o

BERE ARATEEEERA
Al EEER AR - By F&+ -
M 37575 &~ B E % & KTiantian
Co., Limited (£ & — &l & &) & M3,
Inc. (RBAFMAKZH QR ABEAR
AEERR(EERGEBHEAERS
FTERAREHLMRAN) -

B 2R & #

ARREEWMBARFBEHIIWNT :

Percentage of equity

registration and place of registered share attributable to the
Name operations capital Company Principal activities
EMAL/ EREER BRAEE/ KRR KSR

1 EXnE ARBAEE RERDL TEXE

Direct Indirect

E& A&
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited Hong Kong US8495,000 100% - Investment holding
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited R 495,000% REER
Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Lid. (Jinye People’s Republic of China RMB309,000,000 - 100% Provision of precision
Tiancheng’) () (‘PRC")/ marketing and corporate
Chinese Mainland solutions, medical
knowledge solutions,
and intelligent patient
management solutions
SERR(ER)BHARLT TEARLME  AK%309,000,0007T RUBEZHREZBRS
([EEXK) () ("wE))/mEn R BEABRANRRE

REEEEBRATR

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. LAFREEFIH(Z
(Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) MEATEEZ)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRR EBWBRBFBHINDOT
follows: (Continued) (%)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and place of registered share attributable to the
Name operations capital Company Principal activities
AMAY/ ZRHEER BRAER/ ERAER
8 EXnE AMRAEE REBDL EX:$
Direct Indirect
E& A&

Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100% Provision of precision

Ltd. ("Yimaihutong’) (il (ii marketing and corporate
solutions, medical

knowledge solutions,

and intelligent patient

management solutions

IRBRERREARAT hE/hEME  AR%10000,0007 REREEHROCEBAT
(BAREB]) (i) £ BERNZBANERE

REEERBANE

Shijiazhuang Maili Technology Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100% Research and development
Ltd. ("Shijiazhuang Maili") (i

AREBHNRARAT hE/RERY  ARK20000007T T
(RFHER]) i)

Yinchuan Yimaitong Internet Hospital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100% Provision of internet hospital
Co,, Ltd. ("Yinchuan Yimaitong’) services
(i) (i)

RNERREBBERERAR hE/RERE  ARE10000,0007T RETHBERRE

(TSR I AR ) (i) i)
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Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 20234127315

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFREEETIHZ)
(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) MEAREE2)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AR EEWBAAIGFEHIIWMT
follows: (Continued) (#&)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and place of registered share attributable to the
Name operations capital Company Principal activities
AMAY/ ZRHEER BRAER/ ERAER
8 HE3 AMRAEE REESL TRER
Direct Indirect
E# A&

Beijing Medcon Information PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 60% Provision of precision
Consulting Co., Ltd. (‘Medcon’) (i marketing and corporate
(i) solutions, medical

knowledge solutions,
and intelligent patient
management solutions

IREEREEAABRAA(E hE/HER AR 1,000,000 REBESHRERBAN
&) (i R BREABBANRLE

REEEBRANE

Beijing Focus Innovation Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 60% Planning and publication of
Co., Ltd. (‘Focus Innovation’) (i medicine guidelines and

medical CONsensus

FRETEFMEARLA(EEA hE/wERE  AR1,0000007T REUGREREAREEL
#1) (i) &

SCMedcon ii PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,500,000 - 50%  Organising medical exhibition

conferences and provision
of medical services

IRARBEERAERAT hE/hER AR #1,500,0007C ARETRECLRMER
(TRAEZ]) i) R

Linberg (i) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 60% Provision of research

services to pharmaceutical
companies

PETRELEA(LB)ERLA hE/ AR ARE1,0000007T RREDRREMERE
(TFBta) (i

BEENEERAT
—m-=rgy 133



134

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

This entity is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
under the PRC law.

These entities are limited liability enterprises established under
the PRC law.

These entities are controlled by the Company through a
series of contractual arrangements entered into between
Jinye Tiancheng and these entities (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). They are collectively referred to as the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”.

During the year, the Group acquired SCMedcon
and Linberg from third parties. Further details of the
acquisitions are included in note 30 to the financial
statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and contingent
consideration payables which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 17
BB HEERFE175
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

RRE#

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

B

SEITEFIRNEBM B RE

EREBREFR25H (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 8
2 &R FE85% (1B FT A)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB

B

)

@ ERE1258 (B ET K)
Amendments to HKAS 12
@R E125 (B 5T AN)

BaT R < K E
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2 EEBEE)

22 EMBRREZEREH

AEBRAFENMBERRA
BREB T REETE
BB RE LR -

Insurance Contracts

Single Transaction

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are
described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note
2 to the financial statements. The amendments
did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the
Group’s financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
BH A2 EH

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a

HE—XZEFr cBEERBEGBIELRIE
International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BRI 2B — X VKRR

HEARKNEE 2 AT RGBT
EEMBRELENOMEE k¥
- ElGN NN

(a)

BB e EREIRUER]
RBREBREHEHEKX
SRBREMMIETES
AR o W E R B8 M
BEAAHMBER—HERE
SR BRREMANAETRE
HeyE8BaRMB®RERY
TEEREREZXFNH
WRELHORE - Bl
BB REMBEX - &
BB REER BB RS
FRUERT R IEH B B
BEZMEZH RN ESR
ARRZBEBETEREER
1 8 2 12 4 3F 98 Y 1 4
5l AEBEE RN HBHK
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(o)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement technigues
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.
Since the Group’s approach and policy align
with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12
so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. Since the Group’s policy aligns
with the amendments, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 172 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to
help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 BHBEE)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 ERMERREBNEEME
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HmEER
The Group has not applied the following revised AEBEVWARZETHHREA
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet FERETHEREMGERERERZ
effective, in these financial statements. The Group KAER] BB B R ELER] o K
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, SEBRRNZSEKEIEAETHG
when they become effective. WEERABE T ERM
WA -
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®
EB MW EERIE1058 & REZHRBE A E DX FHEELE R )TES
BB G TR 285 (BF]A)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
& B R S 2RI SB165% (B 5T 4) EXHBHEERE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments’)" 4
EB T ERIE15R (BFTA) B &SR3 B 3 I B ([20204F (55T AK)) 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments’)! 4
BB GRS (BAT ) Wi %5 22 5% 69 3F 7k B) B (& ([20224F (& 5] 2K)) " 4
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7
BB ERNBETR K HIE B & LB
EAEMBREERNBTHR (EFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
BB G ERE215 (BAT &) R Z Al
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 M2024F1A1H 3k 2 1% B 18 &Y
January 2024 FEHMER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 20251 B1H sk 2 % B4 19
January 2025 FEHA RS AR A
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 3 MAETERE AKBE R
for adoption FE®
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 4 VE B 20204 (& £ 7N ]2 2022 FF (&
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation ARG R BAEREESYE
of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower BIBREMZIH — (EEAH
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand BERELEERATHE
Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording A S EITIEE]  LAEAE
with no change in conclusion EEARF -—BmEHRRET
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report

2

BHBEE)
2.4 BEXEHBEK

REERBNRE

2

BERRRARBERFBAER
—RADR20% M IRA IR RHRE
WHEEERFENNER -

EXFENENRE2EREY
SN B NEERRNES
18 2 4% il 2 KR 2 ) 72 F
RHEN -

AEERBZERRNKRE DR
AEBREBEES ST ER
1h & BEFERE AR E B’
%é%ﬁ#ﬁ%ﬂ% REH
DIEBERRNPEBEREAR
HipzmWm o bl ABREE
mREAREMEmKER o It
Sh o M EE N E AR RS
ﬁmﬁﬁ ‘‘‘‘‘‘ B AAKEEER
FEARGAERZEHRER
Eﬁﬁ%&ﬂ“@ N Tp:E
HE & REIHR S0 REH W
mRBEEUAARNEEREE QA
MIRERRYHE  ERARER
BEAMEREENEBENER
QBRI - BB 2 DA E LM
BEAGEASBEREE Q7
RER—#D -



ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 BHBEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EXEHBRE)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation M MERRZRBURITE (&)
(Continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis TENBEFERREMGEAEA
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant FHMBESEDE - f%&nx
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated EORKAEEFHREBEFE
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this ﬁﬁé‘lﬁtﬁﬁﬁZE?&ifttTﬁﬂ
purpose are as follows: T
Electronic equipment BT RE 19.0% to 31.7%
19.0% £31.7%
Office equipment WAERME 19.0%
19.0%
Leasehold improvements HEMEERE 20.0% to 50.0%
20.0% %50.0%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and EME - -BEMKBEE S
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of ?E@Ef@fﬁizﬁﬂlfﬁﬂ Bl
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among % HE =D E"Jﬁ}$ﬂ—r AR
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. EWROE - mEBIEEFIT
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation £ FIsREE  AIEAFHR
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at Tﬁ%ﬁ?£§9ﬁéﬁﬂﬁ\ﬁﬁif§¢
least at each financial year end. gjﬁ‘%ﬁ 27 WAEEEF LA
An item of property, plant and equipment BREEVIERH T ERH
including any significant part initially recognised DEME - BERZEHABR
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future % & T8 air%ﬁ)fﬁ/ﬁk.‘jj%Z(
economic benefits are expected from its use or P A5 R R AR ) 2 B 4% UL T
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement W NAERIFERFEEA
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is 8 3R BE 0 AE 98 a5 P E SR KO
derecognised is the difference between the net sales o] 22 65 )5 5 B & B B9 (B P
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant BREFHREARBENEZRE -
asset.
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) BILEE(BERMN
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured B S 0 A B ) 48 B
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 573 H%EEX$§*§ ° @ﬂﬁﬁ/ﬁ\
assets acquired in a business combination is the TﬁHXT%Wﬁﬁ3§EE@W$EW
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives s H 8 E’]’D\ﬁj{g@ ° ?ﬁiﬁéﬁ&
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite H) AT 68 B F B ) 3 B IR A ok A
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are R - FREINEP A ERME
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life RA{ERREF IS YR
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an EFSRBRENEEARE LR
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. BB RE - BRAE A
The amortisation period and the amortisation method FHOELEENEED LS
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that they may be impaired.
Such intangible assets are not amortised.

Software

Purchased patents and software are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 10 years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship is stated at cost less
any impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10
years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of
the underlying products not exceeding ten years,
commencing from the date when the products are put
into commercial production.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Office premises
2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

()

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented
separately in the statement of financial position.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
() Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office premises (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 180 days past
due. The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due
presumption of default based on reasonable and
supportable information, including the Group’s credit
risk control practices and the historical recovery rate
of financial assets over 90 days past due. However,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BHBEE)
24 BEXEHEEK(Z)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.
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Stage 1

E1HEER

Stage 2

F2fE B

Stage 3

ATNEBRETDE -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

EERBREVNEEANRERERBRZEMNERTE  FREGR T _EAR
HEEERFE

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
EERREBVEBAUREDBEZENESHFEERESREENERIE B
BEREER2HEREEBEREMNE

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

FIER — RREAHECEEREQLIFEE LRI

HEEBETE
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on market historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, contingent consideration payables and
lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the specific
identification. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
the amount of income recognised in accordance with
the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of the reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The Group transfers control of goods or services over
time and recognises revenue over time, if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.

The Group derives revenue mainly from rendering
of services of precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent
patient management solutions.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions

The Group is engaged in providing precision
marketing and corporate solutions which include
precision marketing solutions and corporate
solutions to pharmaceutical and medical device
companies, hospitals and research institutions,
and contract research organisations (“CROs”).

(i) Precision marketing solutions mainly include
precision digital detailing service (including
online meeting delivery), digital marketing
consulting service, digital content creation
service, application software development
service and other relevant services.

For precision digital detailing service, digital
marketing consulting service and digital
content creation service, the Group agrees
to the sales price for each service with the
customers upfront and bills the customers
based on the actual service rendered and
completed. Revenue is generally recognised
at the point in time when the services are
rendered and accepted by the customers.

For application software development
service, the software developed
customised for each customer, therefore
the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customer for its
performance completed to date according
to the contracts. As a result, revenue from
application software development service is

recognised over time.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Input method is used to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the Group has
an enforceable right to payment from the
customer for its performance completed to
date according to the contracts. The input
method recognised revenue on the basis of
the labour hours expended relative to the
total expected labour hours to complete
satisfaction of the service.

For certain application software
development service, the Group also
provides related maintenance service for
a specific period (normally one year after
the customer’s acceptance) after sale
as stipulated in the same contract. The
maintenance service is provided to maintain
the effectiveness of the application software
and therefore is accounted for as a
separate performance obligation. Revenue
from the provision of maintenance service
is recognised over the service period.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions
(Continued)

(i

Corporate solutions mainly include
the provision of application software
development service, digital market
research service and other relevant
services.

For certain application software
development service, revenue is recognised
over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service. For certain
application software development service,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the service is completed and
accepted by the customer.

Digital market research service is generally
delivered in the form of medical technical
survey report or samples. The contract
usually contains multiple deliverable units
and each of the deliverable units has an
individual selling price specified within the
contract. The Group recognised revenue at
the point of time when the deliverable units
are delivered to the customers.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

Medical knowledge solutions

Medical knowledge solutions involve the
provision of professional medical information
covering continuing medical education and
clinical decision support, including licensing
software to physicians and other healthcare
professionals.

Revenue from software licensing service is
recognised over the estimated lifespans of the
software, which are determined based on the
expected usage periods, because there is an
explicit or implicit obligation of the Group to
update the software content and allow users to
gain access to it.

Intelligent patient management solutions

Intelligent patient management solutions involve
the provision of patient education services
to patients, pharmaceutical companies and
non-profit organisations with medical focus,
including medical conference service, application
software development, patient counselling
service and other relevant services.

For the delivery of conference service, the
revenue is recognised at the point in time when
the conference is completed.

For application software development service,
revenue is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service.

Revenue from patient counselling service is
recognised over the scheduled period on
a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or
services to a customer before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the contract
terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets
are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to
trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to (the statement of profit or loss) for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government and the central
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB.
The functional currency of the Company is the United
States dollar (“US$”). The Group’s presentation
currency is RMB because the Group’s principal
operations are carried out in Chinese Mainland. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profits or losses are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates or the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Contractual Arrangements

The Consolidated Affiliated Entities are engaged in the
value-added telecommunication services business, internet
hospital services, production of radio and television video
and programs and internet cultural business. Under the
scope of “Encouraged Industry Catalogue for Foreign
Investment (2020 version)” and “Special Administrative
Measures on Access of Foreign Investment (Negative List)”,
foreign investors are prohibited to invest in such business.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
Group exercises control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and enjoys substantially all economic benefits of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual
Arrangements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

The Group does not have any equity interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. However, as a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has power
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and is therefore considered to have control over them.
Consequently, the Company regards the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities as indirect subsidiaries. The Group has
consolidated the financial position and results of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the financial statements
during the year.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding
tax in respect of the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries of the Group established in Chinese Mainland
to the extent that the directors are of the opinion that
they would be probable for distribution in the foreseeable
future. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that should
be recognised. Further details are contained in note 26 to
the financial statements.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report

3.

FESHAER & (E)

$ER (&)
BRRE(E)

ARBUERGAHBERTAES
AR - AT BRADE
BART AL G ARBEBTE
B ARIESEGABEER
EBHENTEER  BENHE
AHBERTEENVEEWER -
BB A GABEERE 2 -
By AR 7@%Aa 18 5
EHEAT - AREEHHA KB
180515 055 £ 1 7
BB IS R o

ERERIREE

AN B B0 B B SZ B0 A T
JB 2B R BE S &8 A &Y TR A0 B AE AR R
BB EE HEERREENE
NANAITE R A K AIBE & 70 R %
BF - BEERERNELERIAAE
TR BEEBAFLERHE -
HBHEN T RERM 26 ©

HfFREER

TXEE R HREMREBRE BN
TEHERLMGETEERZAEM
TERERE EAAAEEHT &
BERERAHEENMBENREERF
HBEBRABNEKRER °



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwiill
at 31 December 2023 was RMB192,525,000 (2022:
RMB111,518,000). Further details are given in note 15.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on the ageing period and days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical expected default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every
reporting date, the historical expected default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical
expected default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
18 and note 19 to the financial statements, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their services and only has one
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the
operating results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(@) Revenue from external customers
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4. BESBAEAHE)

it 1= B

(@) ZREIBEFEFZWZE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®TR

Chinese Mainland R A B 402,130 296,886
Overseas RN 9,874 17,168
Total revenue AU 412,004 314,054

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets
All non-current assets of the Group are in Chinese
Mainland. Accordingly, no geographical information of
segment assets is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer

accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. g  Httlg A R 2
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W o :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFTR AR®TT
Revenue from contracts with BEP&aH MR
customers 412,004 314,054
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS EREHKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information () DEWZEFR
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥TT
Types of services RisER
Precision marketing and corporate BESHERBERRT
solutions ES 372,687 288,177
Medical knowledge solutions BENEBATR 16,141 12,261
Intelligent patient management BREEETEBRRAR
solutions 23,176 13,616
Total B3 412,004 314,054
Geographical markets i & %
Chinese Mainland R A D 402,130 296,886
Overseas N 9,874 17,168
Total #as 412,004 314,054
Timing of revenue recognition W g SR A
Services transferred at a point in time 7> 5 — B 18 24 88 s 1
Rz 7 330,036 253,630
Services transferred over time BE RS P HE RS BB R Y AR TS 81,968 60,424
Total 8=t 412,004 314,054
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

(@) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

5. W& Htulr A R (&)

ERSHkE(E)

@ "EW=EHE)

TR R EAMBBEHARER
E’J.ﬁr?\a&&iﬁﬁ%ﬂ COR=RER: RN
& R A N SR B 3B 1 ) R R
MEERBHOEENRE SR

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%Tr
Revenue recognised that was included #& 52 89 5T A %R JWJ(:.\
in contract liabilities at the beginning  #) & & &) Uk 25
of the reporting period:
Precision marketing and corporate BESHERBERRT
solutions ES 9,415 4,994
Intelligent patient management BREBEEEBMRAAIR
solutions 148 76
Medical knowledge solutions BENEBATE 186 —
Total ST 9,749 5,070
(b) Performance obligations (b) EBHEME

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Application software development service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered or at the point in time when
services are accepted according to the agreement.
Payment is generally due within 120 days from the
date of billing, except for certain customers, where
payment in advance is required.

ERAAKEETEENERM
U

JE FB BT BT R

BHEERBARKE  BER
1 AR 75 B By ] 5 B 3K B W B 0E
ER'H*ZEEEEEEZEEQO
BARZAHRIA - S BRI
?:gﬁﬁ'ﬁ%iﬁﬁ I8 e

%Hﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ’&?
=ZFFR

_7_

185



Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M

31 December 2023 202312 431H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)
Software licensing service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment in advance is
normally required.

Patient counselling service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 120 days from the date of billing.

Other services

The performance obligation is satisfied at the point
in time when the individual service is rendered and
payment is generally due within 120 days from the
date of billing.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

5. W& Rttt A Rivs (&)

ERSHkE(E)

(b)

BHEEGE)
BT &7 A IR 7%

JE %) B (L RE 1R 4 AR 7% 1y By P 22
B —ARRTERN IR ©

BAETRERMEREAEREZE
K BE—RBEEREZHIEI20
HARXNRIE -

H 1t R 7%

B BN AT BB AR 75 B iZ
K BE—RBEEREZHIEI20
HARXNRIE -

R1I2A3ESEE FRIREANE
FRETHBDAET) R
SE®RMOT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%Tr

Amounts expected to be recognised  TEHItE R A WS HYFUE ¢

as revenue:

Within one year —F R 114,951 119,787
After one year —F1& 67,345 60,266
Total B 182,296 180,053
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue after one year
relate to precision marketing solutions and corporate
solutions, of which the performance obligations
are to be satisfied within three years. All the other
amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:
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5. W& Htulr A R (&)

ERSHkE(E)

(b) BHREEE)

PEEEHN - FRERA/W
SMHBITENRETINRSER
TRHRERELHBERATR D
EMANTEAR EFTENE
ERR=FREKX - DR ER
TEANBEENMABEMR S E
REBAHER —FARRRD
W L RENSEIERE
ERBIATEARE -

HAi WA MRS DT

2023 2022
20234 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETRT

Other income and gains H At A R =
Bank interest income R1TF B WA 183,884 66,242
Government grants* I8 178 Bk > 3,680 7,990
Investment income from financial BARBETEEEZEH

assets at fair value through ANEENETREERER

profit or loss A 786 720
Others Hi 133 787
Total other income and gains Hfbug A KU a5 4258 188,483 75,739

* The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded

by the local governments to support the Group’s operations.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached

to these grants.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FBRBRAMAT

A% B B BATR I @M B (G

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): MN)THEEBES:
Notes 2023 2022
B 5+ 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFTT
Cost of services provided* B H IR Ak A 160,481 101,132
Cost of inventories sold EEFENAR 188 181
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREER
equipment & 13 1,594 1,464
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTRHEEERE 14(a) 5,301 6,095
Amortisation of other intangible assets** it & J2 & /& # §i* 16 2,476 1,428
Research and development costs MEHX 54,255 46,231
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of 2 5 EW K IERE
trade receivables, net CRERRE)FE 18 505 (232)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from AT & G
lessors He®EE 14(b) - (768)
Lease payments not included in the AKMAHEBEE
measurement of lease liabilities FOREN-ENE 14(c) 3,053 2,150
Bank interest income BITHR B WA 5 (183,884) (66,242)
Government grants B 7 475 5 (3,680) (7,990)
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE R - HER 6,757 288
Investment income from financial assets #EAAEEFERLE
at fair value through 2HTFABEENSE
profit or loss MEERERA 5 (786) (720)
Fair value adjustment of contingent IAREBHNRAAEE
consideration R 25 2,161 1,201
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BMELK
plant and equipment WIEBEREE 4 91
Auditor’s remuneration % 26N B & 2,043 2,113
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERAMAXZ(TEE
directors’ and chief executive’s EEZRERITEHRA
remuneration (note 8)): B M (M 3E8)) :
Wages and salaries I8k e 126,002 112,488
Pension scheme contributions*** RK 5T 8 FU 15,128 12,126
Staff welfare expenses EERAMAX 2,228 6,108
Share-based payment AR ABEER
expense NRFEX 5,744 8,748
Total Et 149,102 139,470

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report



PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

*

The employee benefit expense included in “Cost of services
provided” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income is RMB51,027,000 (2022:
RMB44,885,000) during the year.

* The amortisation of other intangible assets is included in “Cost
of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

***  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by

the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

6. BRREIAF (&)

* EERFHIBHAGEEZERE
fib 2 U R A (B 4R 4 AR 75 Ak A
R RFER A ARIES,027,0005T
(20224 : A R #44,885,0007T) °

v HMEVEERHECHARGES
REMmEEWRmROHERAKIA -

o AGFEASBEWEREDUANE
D EFOKF BRI

7. MERE
BMERADTWOT :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®ETR

Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) A& B & 7 2 (M 53 14(b)) 361 531

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERERTHRARHM

FEENESITHRAEBRSE RN N
BECETHAD -FEBRE GO
%£383(1)(a) ~ (b) * (c) M (f) 1§ A BdA
BAEEEEMNZERRAFE2S
R BT

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT AREFTIT

Fees we 360 327

Other emoluments: H b B & -

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e EA EEREYRER

benefits in kind 4,828 4,374

Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 189 174

Share-based payment expense AR AEENNRAX 4,671 8,497

Total @Et 10,048 13,372

In prior years, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which
are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in profit
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(A)

(B)

Notes to Financial Statements

b e E e

31 December 2023 202312 431H

8. EERERITBRARFHM =)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (A) BWIAFRTES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

FANTEIERTEETNEES W

during the year were as follows: ™

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR®TT

Richard Yeh =S 120 109

Ma Jun 5= 120 109

Wang Shan =+ i 120 109

Total HmEt 360 327
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAVYEEMNBIYFNITES

independent non-executive directors during the year

(2022: Nil).

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

B E B & (20224 1 &)

(B) MITEERFHITES

Salaries,
bonuses, Pension  Share-based
allowances and scheme payment
Fees benefits in kind contribution expense Total
e w4 NRGBREER
we BERENER BHRETEMR HREAX hy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTR ARETTR ARETR ARETR
2023 2023F
Executive directors; BITEE:
Tian Liping* ¥ - 1,732 - 3,107 4,839
Tian Lixin iRV - 1,293 63 782 2,138
Tian Lijun HUE - 1,193 63 782 2,038
Zhou Xin AR - 610 63 - 673
Subtotal N - 4,828 189 4,671 9,688
Non-executive directors: JEHITEZE :
Eiji Tsuchiya BEHE= - - - - -
Kazutaka Kanairo t6—E - - - - -
Total a5t - 4,828 189 4,671 9,688
BIRANRERAE

—z-=FEf
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EEREETHRAEBHFMZ)
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND (B) MITEERFHITEE(2)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Salaries, bonuses,
allowances and  Pension scheme Share-based

Fees  benefits in kind contribution payment expense Total
e A AR AEEM

we RERENEN RAEFEMRK A% @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

2022 20204

Executive directors: WrEE:

Tian Liping* M ¥ - 1,596 - 5,653 7,249
Tian Lixin i - 1,162 58 1,422 2642
Tian Lijun BUE - 1,095 58 1,422 2575
Zhou Xin i - 501 58 - 579
Subtotal Nat - 4,374 174 8,497 13,045

Non-executive directors; FEHITEZE:

Eiji Tsuchiya BEHE= - - - - -
Li Zhuolin ZER - - - - -
Total e - 4,374 174 8,497 13,045
* Tian Liping is the chief executive of the Group. * BAYFAAER&ESTHRAR -
There was no arrangement under which a director REAN BEESIESTH
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any A B W EE ok [ & BN E 1 {a] 7
remuneration during the year. & HE °
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2022: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2022: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

9. HEE

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H
=FMES

REAN IEERTMEEEE=
REFQR0RF =ZREF) FHAR
EFHFMOFBEER EXWES - R
FAFARBEFTRRSITHA
BT MRS % B (& 8 (20224
ME) W FHMFIEEs T

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREFTIT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and Fre A RN EBEWER
benefits in kind 2,039 1,828
Pension scheme contributions RIREET SR 126 116
Share-based payment expense AR AEENNRAX 3,287 4,203
Total et 5,452 6,147

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands are as follows:

FMNTFATHERNIFEST RIS
SITBRAENZ=FHMEES AB W
T

Number of employees

BEE A"
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,0017% 7T £2,500,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 T £3,500,0007 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,001 T 4,500,000/ 7T 1 1
Total 4B et 2 2

In prior years, share options were granted to a non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employee in respect
of his services to the Group, further details of which are
included in the disclosures in note 28 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

REAFE CHBIFEFRIER
SITBABNERSHFMEERASE
BMEHENREMETEERE &
F%*iliﬁ#ﬁﬂ%i&%ﬁﬁ%%ﬂ’ﬁ&ﬁg
EfP - -REBHANBEDERN
ﬁ?@ﬁﬁﬂxﬁéﬁﬁ REBERKXLEH
BE MREMNFESAMBRE
MREFALDABIEZERIERD
THRAENERSHHESFHEKE
A o

%Mﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ?
TECC=EER
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10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, the Company is not subject to any income tax in
this jurisdiction.

The statutory tax rate for the subsidiary in Hong Kong is
16.5%. No Hong Kong profits tax on the subsidiary has
been provided as there was no assessable profit arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

The provision for current income tax in Chinese Mainland
is based on a statutory tax rate of 25% of the assessable
profits of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined
in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law.

Jinye Tiancheng, Yimaihutong, Medcon and Focus
Innovation are accredited as High and New Technology
Enterprises and were entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15% (2022: 15%) during the year. Shijiazhuang Maili,
Yinchuan Yimaitong, Beijing Yimaitong Medicine Co., Ltd.,
Linberg and Shanghai Yimaitong Huilin Medical Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Huilin”) are accredited as Small and Micro
Enterprises and were entitled to a preferential tax rate of
5% (2022: 2.5%) during the year.

The income tax expense of the Group during the year is
analysed as follows:

10. FRf8#R

REBERRERBEERELNKK
BASEXERREMREEME
AR [ B A B PSR -

REFASHEENHRA AR AR
AIH AR ZADARE RSN T A E
i e

REBZHBRAREEHR XA
16.5% - HRNFAMBEBREBEE
FERB BN I ERHBRRZ
BB G IRERE -

7N 5% [E $225% B 0% E B R (IR B\ (F
BEXMEHRZEE) HEFBEM
J& 1~ B e AR B A 5t R R B A 3t B
HIPT S BB -

CERK BIRER - ZTHERE
FRIFERAESTEMEE F
NE B TS K B15% (20224 -
15%) > AR BR - R ) EAR B -
trRBRBEBEZFERAF  JER
FEEBRBERBEMEZERAT
(EENDERTABNUELE R
BB EB5% (20224 : 2.5%) ©

AEBENFAMSHASONAT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTR ARETT

Current — Chinese Mainland BVER — B A
Charge for the year FE Rk 1,983 8,938
Underprovision in prior years BAFEREBETRE 2 809
Deferred tax (note 26) iR XE 7% 18 (M 5226) (613) (1,131)
Total tax charge for the year FEMKRHIERE 1,372 8,616

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report



10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate in Chinese Mainland to the
tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

10. FREM (&)

ERARRPEAMEERERFTEDN
B B0 A1 s A A A5 TR S B iR B R A
R EOHRARERMNT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Profit before tax Br 5 A S A 253,132 135,037
Tax at the statutory tax rate 2R B A A TE B R 25% T B
of 25% in Chinese Mainland ORI 63,284 33,760
Preferential tax rates enacted by local it 77 # & | T 898 B/ X
authority (8,620) (5,888)
Effect of tax rate differences in other HM e AR K= EF
jurisdictions = (41,786) (16,950)
Income not subject to tax BARE KA (1,574) (1,409)
Additional deductible allowance ®E SN 25 R S AT H0 Rk O B
for research and development
expenses (6,432) (5,351)
Expenses not deductible for tax LEE =3 58 3,389
Additional deductible allowance for EITHEBRENREINTENE
share options exercised B (6,338) (2,998)
Tax losses not recognised RAERMIEEIE 2,953 2,659
Tax losses utilised from previous BATEC A IEEE
periods (175) (408)
Adjustments in respect of current tax  #t i@ B BN EA & B AE H 9
of previous periods =& 2 809
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on B EI0% BN T T R E
the distributable profits of A= B B A | A 9 R i
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries -2 - 1,003
Tax charge at the Group’s effective RASEERMEGFENT
tax rate T8 X 1,372 8,616
BIKBEREAERATR
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11. DIVIDENDS 11. B2
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARET
Interim — RMB10.67 cents (2022: Nil) A H} — SR LB ARE
per ordinary share 10.67% (20224 : &) 78,010 —
Proposed final — RMB12.48 cents BEaAH - SRITARAR
(2022: RMB6.54 cents) per ordinary  #12.48%) (20224 : A R #&
share 6.54%) 90,725 46,928

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 721,911,495 (2022: 714,408,486) in issue
during the year. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the year is adjusted to reflect the ordinary
shares issued under the share award scheme adopted by
the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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EREABNZEAREERES
A FERF s B & B 317 X 8 A% 0
15 #721,911,4950% (20224 :
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LB o
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Continued)

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

12. BARRERSKAARGESEER
BH(E)

SREAREERF 2 HEIER

is based on:
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T
Earnings 2R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity NAIEBRIEBEARE
holders of the parent, used in the Haf - ARFTES
basic and diluted earnings per % B AR K 5 2 A
share calculation 242,301 117,321

Number of shares

v <=
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Shares % 12
Weighted average number of ordinary 4 A E % 17 3% 18 % b0 ##
shares in issue during the year FHE - BRFTES
used in the basic earnings per fix & 2
share calculation 721,911,495 714,408,486
Effect of dilution — weighted average # &% 2 — i@ i
number of ordinary shares: T
Share options B i 12,671,548 22,093,282
734,583,043 736,501,768
BIRANRERAE

—z-=FEf
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERBH
Electronic Office Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
ETRE  BOERG RE HENRRE @it

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETn  ARETR

31 December 2023 2023%12/31A
At 1 January 2023 7202351 A18

Cost A 5,945 536 733 7,067 14,281

Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (3,620) (387) (408) (6,598) (11,013)

Net carrying amount FRFE 2,325 149 325 469 3,268
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1A18 - Mk

accumulated depreciation Z2iiE 2,325 149 325 469 3,268
Additions RE 745 5 - - 750
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 30) Y& Fi B A A (M330) 199 1 - - 200
Disposals HE (4 - - - (4
Depreciation provided during ERFRAE

the year (note 6) (Ht3t6) (1,146) (64) (201) (183) (1,594)
At 31 December 2023 net of #2023F 124318 * 11

accumulated depreciation BEimE 2,119 91 124 286 2,620
At 31 December 2023 12023412 A31R

Cost A 6,802 542 733 7,067 15,144

Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (4,683) (451) (609) (6,781) (12,524)

Net carrying amount REFE 2,119 9 124 286 2,620

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - MERRR(Z)
(Continued)
Electronic Office Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
ETRE  BAERE nE  HENERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEETn  ARETR  ARBTRT  ARETRT  AR%Tx

31 December 2022 2022512H31R
At 1 January 2022: R202F1/18

Cost KA 4,506 629 733 7,067 12,935

Accumulated depreciation ZithE (2,580) (468) (207) (6,379) (9,634)

Net carrying amount EH¥E 1,926 161 526 688 3,301
At 1 January 2022, net of 1202241418 - A1k

accumulated depreciation ZiiE 1,926 161 526 688 3,301
Additions NE 1,274 104 - - 1,378
Acquisition of a subsidiary WhE-ARELT 97 47 - - 144
Disposals e (42) 49) - - 1)
Depreciation provided during ERFRAE

the year (note 6) (Kt &F6) (930) (114) (201) (219) (1,464)
At 31 December 2022, net of P2022E12 7318 + 11

accumulated depreciation BREHTE 2,325 149 325 469 3,268
At 31 December 2022: 2022612 A318 :

Cost A 5,945 536 733 7,067 14,281

Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (3,620) (387) (408) (6,598) (11,013)

Net carrying amount EHFE 2,325 149 325 469 3,268

BB ARAT
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14. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used
in its operations. Leases of office premises generally have
lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

14,

HE

EEEEBEEA
AEBHBASEMARAETWED
HEAY WAEYWERENAE
BEB2ESF - —REBERT A&

BRI ERNEE 2N EERER
HEEE -

) EREEE

AEEEAREE Y REER
FREBERMT

follows:

Office premises
WAEYWE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2022 720221 A1H 13,569
Additions NE 2,769
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wit B Bt /&8 & A 1,061
Depreciation charge (note 6) wEEA (Mae) (6,095)

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022412 A318 &
2023F1A1H 11,304
Additions NE 2,150
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) U B BT 8 2 /) (FfF 5E30) 302
Depreciation charge (note 6) e B A (M iEe) (5,301)
As at 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 8,455
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14. LEASES (Continued)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)

Lease liabilities

(b)

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

14. #HE(#E)

FRECBREAE)

HEEE

(b)

HEABWEEERFAEZH

movements during the year are as follows: BAMAT:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTRT AR%Tr
Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1TEREREE 11,262 13,169
New leases EE 2,150 2,769
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) & & 1 B 2 &) (B 5230) 322 1,105
Accretion of interest recognised FARERBFEE M
during the year (note 7) (B 5£7) 361 531
Covid-19-related rent concessions HHEAFEEISHEBER2
from lessors (note 6) & = (Fff 5%6) - (768)
Payments N (5,903) (5,544)
Carrying amount at 31 December M2 A3 EREE 8,192 11,262
Analysed into: DR
Current portion Bl HA &6 7> 4,549 5,136
Non-current portion JE BN EA 28 3,643 6,126
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBENI MO EERE
note 36 to the financial statements. 7% 2% M9 5236 °
BIKBEREAERATR
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. B8 (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) FREFESEBEAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) MEZERNESMEBERIBLT

leases are as follows:

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®TR

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 361 531
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ~ FREELENEER

assets 5,301 6,095
Covid-19-related rent concessions PHAFEEIEHEBERS

from lessors BE - (768)
Expense relating to short-term HEMEEEENRX

leases (included in administrative (G AT S0 (BT 7%6)

expenses) (note 6) 3,053 2,150

Total amount recognised in profitor RIEZABRNE 58

loss 8,715 8,008
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note d) HEMRERLBBEENH
31(c) to the financial statements. KM FE31(C) °
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Notes to Financial Statements

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for

impairment testing:

o Medcon cash-generating unit;

° Focus Innovation cash-generating unit;
° SCMedcon cash-generating unit; and

° Linberg cash-generating unit.

b e
31 December 2023 20234 12 431H
15. GOODWILL 15. W&
RMB’000
AREF T
Cost as at 1 January 2022 R202241 A1H &I A K 69,723
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B B B8 A &) 41,795
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H M R EF B 111,518
At 31 December 2022: 2022912 A31H :

Cost and net carrying amount A B BR TF B 111,518
Cost as at 1 January 2023 M2023%F1 18 B A & 111,518
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 30) W B8 Bt /88 & &) (B 3£30) 81,007
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H M EREF B 192,525
At 31 December 2023 2023512 H431H

Cost and net carrying amount BN K BR EFHE 192,525
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 8 E AR

BREHAFRBNBESEEN
TReEELBMETRENR:

s XHERSELBM:

e HIRFHBEeELEBEN:

e HREBERSELBM: R

e NEREELFM-

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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15. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Continued)
Medcon cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Medcon cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a
financial budget covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The gross margin applied to the cash
flow projections is 52.00% (2022: 60.50%). The terminal
growth rate applied to the cash flow projections is 0.00%
(2022: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 11.50% (2022: 11.50%).

Focus Innovation cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Focus Innovation
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on a financial budget covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The gross margin applied to the
cash flow projections is 44.50% (2022: 44.50%). The
terminal growth rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 0.00% (2022: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 11.50% (2022: 11.50%).

SCMedcon cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the SCMedcon cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a financial
budget covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The gross margin applied to the cash flow
projections is 54.00%. The terminal growth rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 0.00%. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 15.00%.

Linberg cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Linberg cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a financial
budget covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The gross margin applied to the cash flow
projections is 41.00%. The terminal growth rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 0.00%. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 13.50%.
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15. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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15. B8 (&)
BERENKE)

PTEESELCELEMNRENE
HEMT:

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®TR

Medcon cash-generating unit THEReEEEM 69,723 69,723
SCMedcon cash-generating unit AKBEREEEM 53,449 —
Focus Innovation cash-generating unit E) X8I & EA E 41,795 41,795
Linberg cash-generating unit DEReELEEM 27,558 —

192,525 111,518

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the above cash-generating units for 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Gross margin — Gross margin is based on the average
gross margin achieved in the past three years before the
budget year.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth
rate is based on management expectations and does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry
relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Discount rate — the rate reflects management’s estimate
of the risks specific to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
gross margin and discount rate are consistent with
management’s past experience and external information
sources.

With regards to the assessment of the value in use of the
above cash-generating units, the directors of the Company
believe that reasonable possible changes in above key
assumptions would not lead to the carrying value of the
each cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2023.

FTE IR S E A BALR2023F K

2022F12H3IEMEAEEFERT

BREBEGF TXHAETEREERER

%/nuiié: B 3 1T P R E BB B AT
RS —@HRRE:

EFE - ENEEREEREFE
AI—FERNFHERE -

K RE — ERKREEEN R
REBBOESR ATHBEES
B BT ARR M TR R T
Bk -

MEF — BRERRREIEE Y HE
B E R B AT o

BEEEMERBERXFHBRR
WEEREEE FJzEE’JZ<<<%ﬁ&$7\\ﬁ|3
BRRRE—B -

ME LB EELEENFERAERD
FEmE AARESTRA L
REINAEAREEHIITFEREX
IR & FE 4 B AL A BR T (B 1B 702023
F12A31BM AT KRE S EE -

%Mﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁT
TECC=EER
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. Hti R I &

Deferred
development Customer
Software costs relationship Total
Bt BERERL EFB# @i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETRT  ARETn
31 December 2023 #2023F12431R
Cost at 1 January 2023 net of accumulated ~ R2023F1B1BMM A K2
amortisation TEH 8,881 8,143 7,312 24,336
Additions — internal development NE - ATRE 721 31,055 - 31,776
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 30) Yo B 1 B 2 @) (P 3230) - - 13,100 13,100
Amortisation provided during the year (note ) % R HEHIE 3 (H 6) (156) - (2,320) (2,476)
At 31 December 2023 20235124310 9,446 39,198 18,092 66,736
At 31 December 2023: 120234128318 :
Cost KA 10,828 39,198 20,852 70,878
Accumulated amortisation Eg- £ (1,382) - (2,760) (4,142)
Net carrying amount FHFE 9,446 39,198 18,002 66,736
31 December 2022 12022612 31R
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 720221 B1B &R A+ H1fR
amortisation HE:§: 9,303 - - 9,303
Additions — internal development HE - MR - 8,143 - 8,143
Acquisition of a subsidiary KEkBAR 566 - 7,752 8,318
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) R zHH2 £ & 4 (Ff 36) (988) - (440) (1,428)
At 31 December 2022 20224124318 8,881 8,143 7,312 24,336
At 31 December 2022: 12022512 A318 :
Cost KA 10,107 8,143 7,752 26,002
Accumulated amortisation Eg- £ (1,226) - (440) (1,666)
Net carrying amount FEEE 8,881 8,143 7312 24,336
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF DEFERRED
DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The intangible assets of the Group include the deferred
development costs which are the expenditure incurred in
the development phase of each project. The management
of the Company tests the deferred development costs
which are not yet available for use for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired, by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amounts of deferred development
costs have been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections which are based
on financial forecast approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
14.50%, which is determined by reference to the average
rates for in progress research and development projects
with similar business risk and after taking into account the
risk premium in connection with the related research and
development efforts.
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16. HttEBRE (=)

i 3 B 5% RX 2 iY ik {6 A&

REBNELEERREELTMERK
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ARBIEERBELEFYHRHAAMH
150 PR 4R A A 35 AR ZAHE TTORLEDRI B -
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BEA B S BEEITHE o

A FE B % R R B9 AT R [ 2 R AR IR
AEEFEETE ZAEERARSE
METER - MIERRERSREE
ABHAENMKED -RERER
AP A B BE IR K [514.50% - Th 2 E
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF DEFERRED
DEVELOPMENT COSTS (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
deferred development costs as at 31 December 2023.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of deferred development
costs:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks in respect of the related research and
development efforts.

Profit margin ~ — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the profit margin is the expected
commercialising markets.

Growth rate — The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the forecast period is based on the
estimated growth rate of the Group taking into account the
industry growth rate, past experience and the medium-term
or long-term growth target of the Group.

The values assigned to the key assumptions are consistent
with historical experience of the Group and external
information sources.
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17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. RBHELATIHRE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTIT
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 360 355

The Group’s shareholding in the associate comprises
equity shares held through a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The Group’s investment in the associate
is accounted for under the equity method of accounting
because the Group has significant influence over the entity.

The Group’s other payable balance with the associate
is disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

AEEMFHZEERARIRERIES
BARNREEWBE QR FTEE R E
=D AR EAEEHZEREE
BEATESN - $EIKWM“TW
HEREREZE

7N £R B B 5 B 2 R R Y EL AR R
HEBRBRERGEEM BRI E
33 °

e ARFEBMT

Percentage
Nominal value of ownership
Place of of issued/ interest
registration registered share attributable to Principal
Company and business capital the Group activities
BRT /M AEBEGFEE
N ERNYE S SR BRAEE BmEolt FEEK
Yunnan Medcon PRC/Chinese RMB1,000,000 30 Provision of
Information Technology Mainland information
Co., Ltd. service
(“Yunnan Medcon”)
ﬁrﬁ?ézalif BMAR PE hERH A R1,000,0007 REEERS
RE([EMEBE)
%mﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ

=ZFFR

_7_
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17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17. REAEATFMNRE(2)
The following table illustrates the financial information of THRIWRAEBBHERNGA ZHBE
the Group’s associate: P
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARETRT

Share of the associate’s profit for FRDGEZE QB M & F
the year 5 12
Share of the associate’s total DIEEBE RN E R =B
comprehensive income 5 12
Carrying amount of the Group’s REBREZERRIKED
investment in the associate FREE 360 355
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. HBEWRIA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTRT AR%Tr
Trade receivables Z 5 W KIE 111,190 95,893
Impairment B (1,319) (814)
109,871 95,079
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly AEEHARPZHANESBRA
on credit. The credit terms granted generally ranged up EERET —METHZI180KHW
to 180 days, depending on the specific payment terms in EEH REEGHONEBMNREK
each contract. The Group seeks to maintain strict control HmME - REBROREBIZES A
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are REBERWKRIE - BHABRBESR
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group ERETHEN ASBAYEFMA
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements EORWABEKFEEMNERD
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are SEMERREAYR - BEHEKK
non-interest-bearing. HAFHE -
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. BHBURIE (Z)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RBERRIZEZBEHZ5) I &

the reporting period, based on the invoice dates and net of BREERENE ZERFKREBNERR
loss allowance, is as follows: DT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Within 6 months DR E A 106,424 94,533
6 to 12 months NETZHEA 2,633 131
1 to 2 years —EMF 761 397
2 to 3 years Mz = 53 18
109,871 95,079

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BORKFENREBEERES

trade receivables are as follows: m
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARETT
At beginning of year F1 814 1,046

Impairment/(reversal of impairment),  J& & /(B E & [E]) /F 58

net (note 6) (Fff 3¥6) 505 (232)
At end of year FR 1,319 814

RERSHHERBRBEREETR

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on ageing and days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

BEO At ERHEEEHE - &
BEERAFBUBREAEANEE
EPENKRELRBHRBEL - &%
AAERRTBEMELER  EEE
MEELNLRRKRESEHATESHH
RBESMF - B ATAR MR R
ARFEBEEEMERES

%Mﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ?
TECC=EER
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

18.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

HABWRE(E)

NTHEINBRAEEE S EKKE
ERBEREENEERRNER:

7R 2023F12 A31H

Trade receivables ageing

EREWTERER
Less than 61012
6 months months 1102 2t03 Over 3
andpast and past yearsand yearsand years and
Current due due pastdue pastdue pastdue Total
DReA  6Z12F 1Z26Rk 2E3FR  RBSER
0B REH REH fabi -] ol @t
Expected credit loss rate EHEEREE - 0.3% 5.9% 40.3% 61.0%  100.0% 1.2%
Gross carrying amount BERE
(RMB'000) (AR®TT) 91,857 14,606 2,798 1,274 136 519 111,190
Expected credit losses BHEERE
(RMB'000) (AEBFT) - 39 165 513 83 519 1,319
As at 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
Trade receivables ageing
BHRNFERR
Less than 61012
6 months months 1102 21038 Over 3
and past andpast  yearsand  yearsand  years and
Current due due past due past due past due Total
DPR6EAR 6E1R2EAK 1E2ER  2Z3FR  HBBEIER
A jakis i k] jak:i jak:i @5t
Expected creditlossrate ~ BH{EEEEE - 0.2% 7.1% 38.7% 81.3%  100.0% 0.8%
Gross carrying amount BEEE
(RMB'000) (AR%EF7) 71,646 22,930 141 648 107 421 95,893
Expected credit losses BHEEER
(RMB'000) (AR%EF7) - 45 10 251 87 421 814

Note: The Group estimated the expected credit loss rate to be
minimal on the current trade receivables.
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. EHEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%Tr
Contract assets arising from: BREEXRE:

Precision marketing and FBEEHERBESR E=S

corporate solutions 44,303 28,893
Intelligent patient management BB ETEMRA

solutions 1,547 201
Medical knowledge solutions BEEMBBMATR 199 38
46,049 29,132

Contract assets are initially recognised in relation to
revenue earned from the provision of precision marketing
and corporate solutions, intelligent patient management
solutions and medical knowledge solutions as the receipt
of consideration is conditional on successful completion of
multiple services. Upon completion of multiple services, the
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to
trade receivables. The increase in contract assets in 2023
was the result of the increase in the ongoing provision of
services at the end of the year.

Included in the Group’s contract assets are amounts due
from entities controlled by M3, Inc., a shareholder of the
Company, of RMB6,355,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB6,045,000), which are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of
the Group.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at 31 December is as follows:

BREERIBERRIRMHBELH
REERBARATER SHBEEERE
RITRRBEHNBERTEAEWR
@ AWEBREBURRKIEXZ
HRF - REZERB KK - HER
RAEMNEENZBERER OIBEER
5 W RIE - 2023 - AR EE
B 3 AN TS B R R 5 4B 4R 11 AR 7% B 45
AT EL ©

2023F12ABIEAEBAENEEN
B AR E B EMS, Inc. FT 5 %I & 52
B 45 R I8 A R #6,355,0007T (2022
F AN R #6,045,0007T) 0 % X EIR
RHEFAEBEITEEFNHELOEE
BRREE -

RI12A31E - A KHE &N B H KK
A E BT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETIT

Within one year —%F R 46,049 29,132
BiIREREERAT

—z-=FEf
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19.

20.

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the
expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on
those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and
the trade receivables are from the same customer bases.
The provision rates of contract assets are based on ageing
of trade receivables for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

19.

20.

sHnRE#E)

RERSOHFERBEEEEETR
BN Ut EBEHEEEE -3
EENEERHGEEEBBENEEX
NZEE5RRFENREBEERARE
£ REAEHNEERBEIREKK
HHYREBE—BEFE - GHNEEN
BEERDENREEEUBEEXD
ZEBFPHNEIRERRFRIBERRKRE
FEoZidBERBMTHENELR
EENEEEUALRRRELHTE
SHERBESEH  BaiMRFME
REEMRAFEANHEREMEEFENE
B o B 22023F K2022F12H31H
MNEBEBEBRBEHTHARE -

ARRIE - AR RER A
RE

2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARFTR ARETT

Prepayments TR K IE 10,462 5,756
Deposits and other receivables % & & CH th e W 5RIE 5,212 4,657
15,674 10,413

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

21.

A LM A e e Rl & E ST
| R LG A H e A IR
8 - R2023F & 2022912 A31H -
EERHEEIHARE -

BoRREHELRESEAR
=10k A0 g

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBE T IT

Unlisted investments, at fair value FEMEE  AAEE 42,640 29,640

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by a bank in Chinese Mainland. They
were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
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22. BeRBeFRMREMER

DEPOSITS
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Cash and bank balances H e KIRITHE & 75,092 92,039
Time deposits EHFR 4,325,177 4,187,663
Subtotal INET 4,400,269 4,279,702
Less: DA
Non-Current time deposits EMBEHER 42,014 92,438
Cash and cash equivalents HekRaFZEEY 4,358,255 4,187,264
Denominated in RMB UWAREE 462,489 458,467
Denominated in HK$ A TTEHAE 1,598,990 1,986,207
Denominated in US$ INETEE 2,337,988 1,834,498
Denominated in GBP AR EEETE 802 530
Cash and cash equivalents and RERBSZTEMRATHER
time deposits 4,400,269 4,279,702

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods from seven days to thirty-six months
and earn interest at the fixed time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBEAAERALBSEMER
AT R B A R KON E B R 1
DI RCHEIE - EENNEEERE) -
REEREFBERELETINER
BRRTHARBLBRASEMER

RITFRREBERTFRNERFE
HOF B A RBRERA S o EHFRD
HEMTRERE=Z+TRXEATE
I 1% F M7 KA R REUH B - 8R1T
RicsxmEEEORT -

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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23. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

23. BHEARIA

R|EHR AR H

ZEEHENES

JEN RIER BRI DT IR T

follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Within 3 months DA =1{E A 12,722 2516
3 to 6 months e ] 1,099 82
6 to 12 months ~NE+-{E@A 797 89
Over 1 year HBid—F 153 22
14,771 2,709

Included in the Group’s trade payables are amount due to
M3, Inc., a shareholder of the Company, of RMB778,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB276,000), which are

repayable on demand.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within six months.

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023F12A31H AN B B F B 3k
H A B EARRREMS, Inc. & R
B A R #778,0007T (20224 : A B
#276,00070) ' Z KB BR BERKE

=+
e

BHENREBEAFE A —RRVANE

ARGEHE -

24, HtiFEFRIAR BB A

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ARBFTR ARETT

Payroll payables ERTE 65,528 50,917
Contract liabilities AEHAaE (a) 39,759 9,749
Taxes other than income tax BRETIS B AN B 1B 8,745 10,178
Deferred revenue 5 3 W 2 4,012 3,060
Accrued expenses FE &R 2 280 1,759
Other payables H b FE S 3RIB (b) 16,914 10,250
135,238 85,913
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)
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24, RthEMNRREENBRAE)

B o :
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) EHBEFBOT:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® T
Short-term advances received from 2 EF 52 Bj 5
customers
Precision marketing and corporate FBAEE R
solutions fRAR TR 39,212 9,415
Intelligent patient management B BEERW
solutions R R 191 148
Medical knowledge solutions BEMERR
TR 356 186
39,759 9,749

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
render services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 was
mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received
from customers in relation to the provision of Precision
marketing and corporate solutions at the end of the reporting
period.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand. Included in the Group’s other payables are amount
due to Yunnan Medcon, an associate of the Company, of
RMB280,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB280,000).

EHNRBERERHERBMERNE
HI#h 3R - R2023%F - A B EME
MEERBREF P W E KR
EHMRREHBESHREERRY
ZE BB REE M -

HEMmEMNRBERTEABERERE
i o 2023F12A31A A £ B H 4th &
NRBABEARRBE ARER
X R R A A R #280,0007T
(20224 : A R #280,0007T) °

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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25. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

As parts of the equity transfer agreements in relation to the
acquisition of Medcon, Focus Innovation, SCMedcon and
Linberg, a portion of the consideration was determined to
be contingent, which is dependent on the net profits of
Medcon for the years ended/ending 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023, the net profits of Focus Innovation for the
years ended/ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024,
the net profits of SCMedcon for the years ended/ending
31 December 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026 and the net
profits of Linberg for the years ended/ending 31 December
2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively. The movement
of the fair value of contingent consideration payables is as
follows:

25. EMHARNKE

BIEBEBWEXEE  BXaH
AREERIEOREESEEZHZ
HoREEETRAIARE 25K
T 3£ i@ FE A E20214F » 20224F &
2023F12H31H IF F E &8 Fm ) -
BT Bl ¥ A £20224F - 2023F &
202412 A31H I FE W FE A -
F K BB ER B 220234 ~ 20244 -
20254 K2026F12A31H IE FE W
EE | M PIEE 2= 20234F  20244F -
2025 K2026%F12A31H IF FE W
FaAmE- BRAKXAREHD R
BEEZFBHWOT:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%Tr
At beginning of year F 9] 41,759 38,309
Arising from acquisition of SCMedcon U B £ f B £ £ 4 ([ 7£30)
(note 30) 26,393 —
Arising from acquisition of Linberg Uk B B 18 &= A (K E30)
(note 30) 15,645 —
Arising from acquisition of Focus WEEFEIFESE
Innovation — 22,299
Payments -3 (10,020) (20,050)
Reclassified to other payables ENOEEHMENRKIE (10,033) —
Fair value changes (note 6) NAEBEZE (K E6) 2,161 1,201
At end of year FR 65,905 41,759
Current Bl ER 18,242 13,956
Non-current JEBNER 47,663 27,803
65,905 41,759

Further details are disclosed in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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26. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:
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26. RERIE

FRNELCHAEENABEESWT

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS EERIEEE
Fair value
Impairment Share-based  adjustment
of trade Accrued Deferred payment  of contingent Lease
receivables expenses revenue expense  consideration liabilities Total
L] L HEHREE AAREAR
HE Ei B EEYE  WOERX EERE HERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTR  AR%Tn
At 1 January 2022 #02E1A18 157 3412 633 213 66 2,140 8,543
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERELR - k) - - - 2% 58
Deferred tax (chargedcredited to profitor -~ REE (1) /3 ABER
loss [note 10) RE(IE10) (3) 370 (174 1,509 180 (478) 1472
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2020E12A31A R
023E1 718 122 3812 459 3,644 246 1,690 9973
Acquisiion of a subsialary (note 30) WEREAR (a0 - - - - - 16 16
Deferred tax (charged)credited to profitor &% (A1) /3 AE
loss note 10) BE(HH0 76 652 143 (718 8 (639) (40d)
At 31 December 2023 12023512318 198 4,464 602 2,926 38 1,067 9,585
BIRANRERAE
“EZFFR

—_—
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 26. BERIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRNELEHEEERBEEHOT :
the year are as follows: (Continued) (&)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES EERIEAR
Fair value
adjustments arising
from acquisition of
subsidiaries  Right-of-use assets Withholding tax Total
RHERBAAME
EWRAEERE EREEE Rk EH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
At 1 January 2022 RO00E1 A1 1,449 2210 1,259 1918
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to ~ IMBH(GEA) /B HETH A
profit or loss (note 10) (B3E10) (221) (541) 1,003 241
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEHELR 1,145 2 - 1171
At 31 December 2022 and R2022E12F31A R
1 January 2023 2023E1R1H 2,378 1,695 2,262 6,330
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss B % 3f A B E LT B
(note 10) (F3x10) (405) (612) - (1,017)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B A (M 30)
fote 30) 3,75 15 - 3,090
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A31H 5,243 1,098 2,262 8,603
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets ERVHEDN  ETEEREEE
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial MEBECEYBRERPETHEE -
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax AEBERYBREENMENERT
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: WMIBHEB T
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFTRT ARBTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised  RER & IS i R ERBIE

in the consolidated statement of HBEEEFE

financial position 8,518 8,283
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised TE MBI RER

in the consolidated statement of %R HEEES

financial position 7,536 4,640
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland
of RMB43,086,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB21,257,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company, based on the Group’s operation and expansion
plan, estimated that part of the retained earnings of
subsidiaries in the PRC would be retained in Chinese
Mainland for use in future operations and investments. In
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB185,615,000 at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB113,836,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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26. EIERIF (Z

2023128318 » A& &£ B % &
At EENRBEEREAAR
#43,086,0007T (20224F : A R
21,257,0007T) * A A3 A 3K 88 K 2R 1B
REEF BR—ZEZERAFAEM -
REBRERKIKABLE LA F
AHBESEERENEREEN &
W ERZEEEERELEHEE
FE °

BEFBEMCERGHE)  RPE
WK N E D EMIINEIREH
EIRAAR B AMMNI0O%TENE - B
B8 47 & 200841 A18 # & & I
200712 A31BE BRI EF -
fisl 5 AR B A b B AN B3R & 3 T AT A
BRI ARKHBE  ATHRAR
EREMHE AEEMNEA/RE
B10% - At AEBEARZERN
R B A 3 X 37 B B B 2 /) 1 2008 4 1
A1B 15 8 & ik 2 5 A% B 8
WIBHER o

RBEBHKR AR EEREASE
EMmEERERME G #EH
BB A B) A5 A AR B A AR B 3E o 1R
BRAFMUIEAREBERIKEE - EF
RE ZEWBRRNAEERIL
TR IR BB BEAF - 1R2023F 12
A318 @ B E A B AR AR
& MH B M I & B i SRR E R IR
BENEREZERABAHEOABAR
#185,615,0007C (2022%F : A R ¥
113,836,0007T) °

A2 B 1R R R 1 2 AR 8 3 4 B
EFEHEYE -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B®&
SHARES B in
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Us$ us$
E3 P
Authorised: JETE ¢
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 50,000,000,000/% & 3 I &
US$0.00001 each f%0.00001% 7T 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITEHE:
726,962,500 (2022: 717,348,000) 726,962,500 (20224 :
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 717,348,000) i & 3@ iy &
each f%0.00001% 7T 7,269 7,173
Equivalent to RMB HER AR 46,000 45,000

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

RRBZBRAEHHELLT

is as follows:
Number
of shares
in issue Share capital
BT
B&HEE 1'%
RMB’000
AREFTIT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 713,225,500 44
Issue of shares for share award scheme  FtA% {5 #E B 5t 2| 2 17 A% 15 4,122,500 1
At 31 December 2022 and 72022512 A31H }2023
1 January 2023 F1A1H 717,348,000 45
Issue of shares for share award scheme  ZtA% 7 28 Bh 5t 212 17K 2
(note) (M 5E) 9,714,500 1
Repurchase (note) f& Bl (BT 5F) (100,000) —
At 31 December 2023 72023412 4318 726,962,500 46
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27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
SHARES (Continued)
Note:

In April, May and July 2023, the Company issued 2,441,000, 545,000
and 6,728,500 ordinary shares with par value of US$0.00001 each,
respectively, for the exercise of share options under the Company’s
share option scheme.

The Company purchased 100,000 of its shares on the Stock
Exchange for a total cash consideration of HK$744,945 (equivalent
to approximately RMB683,000), and all 100,000 shares were
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2023 (equivalent to
approximately RMB683,000).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 March 2021, the Company adopted the pre-IPO
share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”). The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is intended
to provide employees of the Group with an opportunity
to enjoy the success and incentives to their future
performance. The participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are employees or directors of a member of the
Group or associated companies of the Company that are
determined by the board at its discretion.

The option period in respect of the options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be from the listing
date until the 5th anniversary of the listing date after which
unexercised options shall lapse and the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall terminate. The options shall be vested
in four equal tranches with the vesting date on the first,
second, third and fourth anniversaries of the listing date.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 26,754,000
shares, representing 3.88% of the issued share capital
of the Company immediately following the completion of
the global offering (without taking into account any shares
which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of the
over-allotment option and any option granted or may be
granted under the share option schemes). The exercise
price per share shall be RMBO0.38 per share.

Notes to Financial Statements
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& (E)
B (&)
B i

M2023F4H - 58 K7A - AR E BT E
AT IR B BB D Bl 7T
2,441,000/ - 545,000/% }26,728,5000%
JI% T {8.0.00001 3% 7T #) 3% 38 AR o

AARMNAAIR 2 K E744,045%8 L (&
R # A B #683,0007T) X B 2 Fr BE @
100,0000% B 13 + 2 #5100,0008% % 15 B K
HZE2023F 12 A31HIEFEFEHHEERY
A R #683,0007T) °

LI fn B B 22 a9 1 3R
HXROMRER MR ERR

R20214F3A29H ARG DM E
RARBEEABERETSTERA
HRENBERETED BALH
BENEREFIEELS TAEE
REMSETIALEBENKRE L HE
BREZRNERR -BHBXAREER
BRETIN2EEEAEBRKE
NAIAANRBE AR MEEBXE
E HEFERBERT -

BRXARMBEEABERZETETBR
BNEEHAEBLTHBREE EW
FHEFEREBEF HEREHKRTE
B RERE R MERARHE
ERBEREAESERL - B
BAUANESHEALRGEE  FEBEH
DRl ETHBERE—E - F @ -
FZEMELEBSE -

TERBEERAARE SR ERES
RN EERERTEEITH
B% 17 48 Z T~ 15 18 3826,754,000 8% (#8
EREBEHRBEEZTKEARAD
BT A H3.88% (T et K A 1T iR
HREBERBREBERENSSERE
5K A BE IR A 1 ] BE IR M T B2 AT Y
ERBEMD) - BRBHTEEAS
B A% 15 A R #50.387T °

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no dividends (including distributions made upon
the liquidation of the Company) will be payable and no
voting rights will be exercisable in relation to an option that
has not been exercised. Shares allotted and issued on the
exercise of an option will rank equally in all respects with
the shares in issue on the date of allotment. They will not
rank for any rights attaching to shares by reference to a
record date preceding the date of allotment.

On 2 April 2021, an aggregate of 26,754,000 share
options were granted to 62 grantees under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. The following share options were
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

28. LRI SEEMMER(E)

HROMBERMRER ()

RIBERAFEEABERES SN
BRER - WARTITE 2 BRE TS ZIK
RE(BEARBBRMIEND )
REBEZRE - HITEBREME
TR BAT 2 BT mE RN %
EHZRBETRNDEBERSERN -
MY EZALHEERNEEE B
B P 13 P B 2 AE frT A R o

R2021F4 A28 @ R 8 X A B %
ERERES S me2E AR ARE
:.%267540001 EBRE - FRNE
RARBEER BB M ARITE
HEREDT

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
MEFHITEE BRE#HE

RMB per share

BRAR®ET
At 1 January 2022 2022F1A1H 0.38 26,754,000
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.38 (3,622,500)
Forfeited during the year F R 0.38 (80,000)

At 31 December 2022 and 2022F12 A318 &

1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 0.38 23,051,500
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.38 (9,714,500)
At 31 December 2023 202312 H31H 0.38 13,337,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was RMBO0.38
per share (2022: RMBO0.38 per share).
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

Notes to Financial Statements
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28. LI BEEMHARE)
HROMBERMRER ()

PR 4 SR - M AR AT 8 B DR 9 7T
EERITEHNT

are as follows:

2023
2023F
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BRE#HE TEE TR
RMB per share
BRARET
2,500 0.38 15-7-22 to 15-7-26
2022 7H15H £2026%F 7H15H
2,500 0.38 15-7-23 to 15-7-26
2023F7H15H £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15-7-24 to 15-7-26
2024 7H158 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15-7-25 to 15-7-26
2025 7A15H 220264 7H15H
13,337,000
2022
20224
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
i I 7 2 E 1T1EE 1712 A
RMB per share
BRARET
3,053,500 0.38 15-7-22 to 15-7-26
20229 7H15H £2026%F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15-7-23 to 15-7-26
2023F7H158 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15-7-24 to 15-7-26
2024 F7H158 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15-7-25 to 15-7-26
2025 7H15H 220264 7H15H
23,051,500

BIEREERAT
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB8,201,000 (2022: RMB14,994,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted
was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

28.

LI BEEMHFARE)
HROMBERMRER ()

AN N B E2023F12A318
TFEREIBEREAI AR
#8,201,0007T (20224 : A ER &
14,994,0007T) ©

7 7Y 55 T 0 LA B4R 45 5 60 B R A 2
fo B BRI SRR 48 B
LB R HE 2 KR M 7 50 BB 4
Bt it o TRIIEAEAEY 28
NEH

2021

20214

Dividend yield (%) I B (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA % 18 (%) 53.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1 2 f F 2K (%) 3.05
Expected life of options (year) AR TR T F I (F) 5.00

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 9,714,500 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 9,714,500 ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of US$97.145 (before issue
expenses), as further detailed in note 27 to the financial
statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
13,337,000 share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 13,337,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of US$133.37 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 13,337,000 share options outstanding under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.8% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.
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RFEBHKR BEBXAEEER
BB AR #E AT 8l A /) F18,337,00017 1)
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 June 2021, the Company adopted the post-IPO
share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”), whose implementation is conditional on the
listing. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to incentivise
and reward the eligible persons for their contribution to the
Group and to align their interests with that of the Company
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company. The participants of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme are employees or directors of
a member of the Group or associated companies of
the Company that are determined by the board at its
discretion.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the listing
date, being 69,017,600 shares, or such higher limit as the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited may allow pursuant
to a waiver granted at its discretion. Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the scheme
mandate limit.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
listing date, after which period no further options will be
granted but the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto which are at that time or become
thereafter capable of exercise under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, or otherwise to the extent as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.
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28. LRI SEENMERE)

BXOMBEEEMARENS

20216 A18H » AR BRI HRMAE
RARMBEERBRESS(TERA
HREEBRETEDELMER
AEMR) BB ERESERALY
AEBNEE UNBEBHRENHF
HEARNTONMZEEE  UASEBHRE
MAORBARAREE - BXAMAE
ERBREFINZ2EEALEE
KE AR ARNRBE R NAINIES
REEF HESSHBERE -

EESBHTERBEARRNEARMA
BEXBRETS REMNEME
A% 5T 81 A 2 36 BE AR R B
THROHEEERAEETHEBA L
MHHE TG ZEN10% (B
69,017,600 W) X EBH ER S
FTERARBEEMERELNASR
ARATFMEMRSRE - RErE:
EIEELERE  BTHRERREAD
AERA A AABREEBRETSRE
o] E A 5 B B9 6 3R K A BE AR A o

BEXRARBEERBERESEH LD
FHE+FHEABRLER  Z
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AHBEERBERETEMNGXDA
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no dividends (including distributions made upon
the liquidation of the Company) will be payable and no
voting rights will be exercisable in relation to an option that
has not been exercised. Shares allotted and issued on the
exercise of an option will rank equally in all respects with
the shares in issue on the date of allotment. They will not
rank for any rights attaching to shares by reference to a
record date preceding the date of allotment.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 24 December 2021, the Company adopted a share
award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) which shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years from that date.
The main purposes of the Share Award Scheme is to
encourage and retain selected personnel to work for the
Group or to make contribution to the Group and to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance
goals, with a view to achieving the objective of increasing
the value of the Company and aligning the interests of
the selected personnel with the shareholders through
ownership of shares. The eligible participants of the Share
Award Scheme are employees (full time or part time),
directors, officers, agents or consultants of the Company,
its subsidiaries or related entities. The total number of
shares to be issued pursuant to the Share Award Scheme,
together with the total number of shares to be issued under
all other employee incentive schemes of the Company,
including without limitation, the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the adoption date.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2023 Annual Report

28.

LI BEEMHFARE)
HROMBEEMERERE)

REARXRNHEERBREIN
BRER - WARTITE 2 BRE TS ZIK
RE(BEARBBRMIEND )
REBEZRE - HITEBREME
B RBITZ BN E ATy R A
EHZRBETRNDEBERSERN -
MY EZALHEERNEEE B
B P 13 P B 2 AE frT A R o

B 17 88 WY &+ &

AN A T R20215FE12 A248 B £ 49 B%
mEBFE(ROEBTED B
ZHBAER BHI10F - KD EB
HENEZENRERRBEE AR
EETIHESAAEEELERMAE
BAB HE—THEREEXNES
B2 BEERAADRREE BH
BABEBEERDBEEEARKR R —
B o RIDEEETEMNEKR
HEAAQGT - HWEB QR K EH
ERHNEE(EBER EF -
ESABE - RIBASEBR - BRER
DEETEREITHORMDEE - N
RABBEARQNG A HAME B B A
E(REETRAEBRAHAEERE
RETE) BMBITHRGOBE 715
BBAAARREMNBEPHEEHTRA
#110% °



28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

On 17 January 2022, an aggregate of 500,000 shares
was granted to one grantee pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. The amount payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of the grant of the shares is US$0.00001
per share. The shares granted shall be satisfied by the
proposed allotment and issue of 500,000 new shares.
The shares shall be vested in eight equal tranches (each a
“Tranche”) with the vesting date on 19 July of each year
beginning in 2023 and ending in 2030 (each such date
on which the shares are to be vested being a “Vesting
Date”).

The vesting of each Tranche shall be subject to: (a) the
target revenue of the business division of the Group in
which the grantee serves for the financial year immediately
preceding the Vesting Date of such Tranche having been
met (“Target A1”); (b) the target profit of the business
division of the Group in which the grantee serves for the
financial year immediately preceding the Vesting Date of
such Tranche having been met (“Target A2”); and (c) the
target cumulative consolidated revenue of the Group for
the financial year(s) in the completed assessment period
having been met (“Target B”, together with Target A1 and
Target A2, the “Performance Targets”).

In the event that any of the Performance Targets is not
met, the shares granted to the grantee will be clawed back
as follows: with respect to each Tranche, in the event that:
(@) all of the Performance Targets have been met, all of
the shares under such Tranche (i.e. 62,500 shares) shall
vest on the Vesting Date; (b) Target B has been met, but
one or both of Target A1 and Target A2 have not been
met, provided that 80% of both Target A1 and Target A2
have been met, 25% of the shares under such Tranche
(i,e. 15,625 shares) shall lapse and the remaining 75% (i.e.
46,875 shares) shall vest on the Vesting Date; and (c) (i)
Target B has been met, but the business division of the
Group in which the grantee serves failed to meet 80%
of either one or both of Target A1 and Target A2, or (ii)
Target B has not been met, 50% of the shares under such
Tranche (i.e. 31,250 shares) shall lapse and the remaining
50% (i.e. 31,250 shares) shall vest on the Vesting Date.
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28.

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of the shares granted was RMB8,331,000
which was estimated as at the date of grant using the
market quoted price, of which the Group recognised a
share award expense of RMB2,214,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group.

SHARE PREMIUM

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of shares issued and the consideration received.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

The share-based payment reserve represents the
share-based compensation reserve due to equity-settled
share options and share awards.

STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC
accounting standards, to their statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve reaches 50% of their registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law
of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may be
converted to share capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.
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29. RESERVES (Continued)

30.

EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION RESERVE

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of entities of which the functional
currency is not RMB.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

(@

On 12 June 2023, the Group acquired a 50% interest
in SCMedcon from third parties and obtained
control of the operating and financial activities
of SCMedcon. SCMedcon is principally engaged
in the business of organising medical exhibition
conferences and provision of medical services.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
business strategy to achieve external growth by
strategically pursuing partnership and acquisition
opportunities. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition is RMB65,000,000 and shall be paid
in cash at a maximum of five instalments, with
RMB35,750,000 paid at the acquisition date and
the remaining four instalments to be paid later. The
purchase consideration will be adjusted downwards
if SCMedcon’s audited net profit for the guaranteed
periods does not reach the agreed guaranteed profit.
For the details of the acquisition information, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12 June
2023.

As stipulated in the equity transfer agreement, the
existing shareholders (the “Sellers”) of SCMedcon
have granted the option to the Group so that if the
actual cumulative audited net profit of SCMedcon for
the years ended 31 December 2023, 2024, 2025 and
2026 (“SCMedcon guaranteed periods”) does not
reach 55% of the guaranteed profit for the SCMedcon
guaranteed periods, the Group has the right, but not
an obligation, to require the Sellers to repurchase
SCMedcon’s equity held by the Group. As at 31
December 2023, the Group expected not to exercise
the option and the value of the option was assessed
to be minimal.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in SCMedcon at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of SCMedcon’s identifiable net
assets.
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 30. a2
(@ (Continued) @ (#&)
FREBENWERTZEE

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities

of SCMedcon as at the date of acquisition were as FEEMNARAEBENT:
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
R BRERN
B 2 AREE
RMB’000
AREET T
Property, plant and equipment Ry 13 42
Other intangible assets HEMEEEE 16 7,500
Trade receivables B S EWRIE 3,548
Contract assets AHMEE 1,764
Prepayments and other receivables T8~ /I8 Jo H At FE Uk
FE] 3,100
Financial assets at fair value through profit Tﬁ’&fﬁﬁfﬁ EJr;E-gHﬁ
or loss BEHAEamN T
A& E 6,410
Cash and cash equivalents HRekRie %{E ) 5,436
Trade payables = ANEE (818)
Other payables and accruals Hiab B3 Iﬁﬁf €&t
& H (2,273)
Tax payables FE A< F 18 (1,610)
Contract liabilities aHEaE (637)
Dividend payable FE SRR B (3,200)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 26 (1,875)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEARBEUHZNE
ERERRE 17,387
Non-controlling interests FEE IR HE (8,693)
Goodwill on acquisition WEE R g2 15 53,449
Purchase consideration R E 62,143
Purchase consideration KERE
Cash Re 35,750
Contingent consideration liability FRAREEE 25 26,393
Total consideration RE#RE 62,143
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(@

(Continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted
to RMBS3,548,000 and RMB3,011,000, respectively.
The gross contractual amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables were RMB3,548,000 and
RMB3,011,000, respectively, and it is expected that
the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have
been expensed and are included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill of RMB53,449,000 recognised above
comprises the brand awareness and the value of
expected synergies arising from the acquisition which
are neither separable nor contractual and therefore
do not meet the criteria for recognition as intangible
assets under HKAS 38 /ntangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

As part of the equity transfer agreement, contingent
consideration is payable, which is dependent on the
net profits of SCMedcon guaranteed periods. The
initial amount recognised was RMB26,393,000 which
was determined using the discounted cash flow
model and is within Level 3 fair value measurement.
At the date of approval of these financial statements,
no further significant changes to the consideration are
expected.
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 30. a2
(@ (Continued) @ (#&)
Significant unobservable valuation inputs for the fair IAREBEAALBEFAENEK
value measurement of the contingent consideration AAERGHERABSRT:

are as follows:

Discount rate Ak 35 & 3.93%
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the WENBARMRERESM
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: wm
RMB’000
AREFT
Cash consideration BEeERE (35,750)
Cash and bank balances acquired BESBEEMETES 5,436

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents  FTAREEFHERESREN

included in cash flows from investing RekReFEMRLFE
activities (30,314)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included AL EEEFTBIR & EH
in cash flows from operating activities W B 22 5 Bk AR (100)
(30,414)
Since the acquisition, SCMedcon has contributed BREUAKR AREEREZE
RMB12,284,000 to the Group’s revenue and 2023F12A31H L FE R A&
RMB3,544,000 to the consolidated profit for the year WA E B A K #12,284,000
ended 31 December 2023. ThkizeafMBERARY
3,544,0007T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning WMEFREFENEE FAR
of the year, the revenue from continuing operations SEFELENREREAR
of the Group and the profit of the Group for the SEMEMNEFHAEAR
year would have been RMB430,014,000 and 430,014,000t & A R &
RMB246,108,000, respectively. 246,108,0007T °
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(o)

On 12 October 2023, the Group acquired a 60%
interest in Linberg from third parties and obtained
control of the operating and financial activities
of Linberg. Linberg is principally engaged in the
provision of research services to pharmaceutical
companies. The acquisition was made as part of
the Group’s business strategy to achieve external
growth by strategically pursuing partnership and
acquisition opportunities. The purchase consideration
for the acquisition is RMB33,930,000 and shall be
paid in cash at a maximum of five instalments, with
RMB17,000,000 paid at the acquisition date and
the remaining four instalments to be paid later. The
purchase consideration will be adjusted downwards if
Linberg’s audited net profit for the guaranteed periods
does not reach the agreed guaranteed profit. For the
details of the acquisition information, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 12 June 2023.

As stipulated in the equity transfer agreement, the
existing shareholders (the “Sellers”) of Linberg
have granted the option to the Group so that if the
actual cumulative audited net profit of Linberg for the
years ended 31 December 2023, 2024, 2025 and
2026 (“Linberg guaranteed periods”) does not
reach 50% of the guaranteed profit for the Linberg
guaranteed periods, the Group has the right, but not
an obligation, to require the Sellers to repurchase
Linberg’s equity held by the Group. As at 31
December 2023, the Group expected not to exercise
the option and the value of the option was assessed
to be minimal.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Linberg at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of Linberg’s identifiable net
assets.
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 30. ¥¥SHE)
(b) (Continued) (o) (#&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities AERWEBRAIBNEERE
of Linberg as at the date of acquisition were as BOARBENET:
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
RUKERERN
B 5 AREE
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 13 158
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 302
Other intangible assets Hth\mEEE 16 5,600
Deferred tax assets BEMIBEEE 26 16
Prepayments and other receivables TE A RRIE K A At E UL
Bz 162
Trade receivables g5 rEKRIE 10,585
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ@&fﬁé‘g?—%{%% 943
Trade payables 2 5 3 (4,997)
Other payables and accruals H b & K IE K J& 5+
28 (2,401)
Tax payables JE A~ B¢ 18 (153)
Lease liabilities 7TE EaE 14(b) (322)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEMIEEE 26 (1,415)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAABEAHRE
=R E AR 8,478
Non-controlling interests FEE R HE (3,391)
Goodwill on acquisition g AiSg:0ns S 15 27,558
Purchase consideration WERE 32,645
Purchase consideration KERE
Cash B4 17,000
Contingent consideration liability SRR EAE 25 15,645
Total consideration REBRE 32,645
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(o)

(Continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted
to RMB10,585,000 and RMB125,000, respectively.
The gross contractual amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables were RMB10,585,000 and
RMB125,000, respectively, and it is expected that the
full contractual amounts can be collected.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB30,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have
been expensed and are included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill of RMB27,558,000 recognised above
comprises the brand awareness and the value of
expected synergies arising from the acquisition which
are neither separable nor contractual and therefore
do not meet the criteria for recognition as intangible
assets under HKAS 38 /ntangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

As part of the equity transfer agreement, contingent
consideration is payable, which is dependent on the
net profits of Linberg guaranteed periods. The initial
amount recognised was RMB15,645,000 which was
determined using the discounted cash flow model and
is within Level 3 fair value measurement. At the date
of approval of these financial statements, no further
significant changes to the consideration are expected.
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
(b) (Continued) (b)

Significant unobservable valuation inputs for the fair
value measurement of the contingent consideration
are as follows:
Discount rate A IR &

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

30. ¥¥EH (=)

#)

SARMEAAEEEHEA

TABEHEEBAEDT
3.73%

W AT RS R E S
0 :

RMB’000
ARBT T
Cash consideration BEeERE (17,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired EESRENMEBTES 943
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents  FTAREEFHERESREN
included in cash flows from investing RekReFEMRLFE
activities (16,057)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included it AL ZEEFTBIR & = HY
in cash flows from operating activities U BB X 5 A AN (30)
(16,087)
Since the acquisition, Linberg has contributed B LAR - BIERE E2023

RMB6,686,000 to the Group’s revenue and
RMB1,924,000 to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue from continuing operations
of the Group and the profit of the Group for the
year would have been RMB426,877,000 and
RMB245,169,000, respectively.
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(A)

(B)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB2,150,000 (2022: RMB2,769,000) and
RMB2,150,000 (2022: RMB2,769,000), respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for office premises.
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31. RERKRERME

(A) EXFREXH

RERN AEERBAEYWE
HETHETEAEEELMA
EGBEMNIBREFREDF A
A E #2150,0007T (20224 :
A B #2,769,0007) & A R #
2,150,000 (20224 : A R ¥

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

2,769,0007T) °

(B) MR EBELERRMHEE

Lease

liabilities

HEAE

RMB’000

AREET T

At 1 January 2022 7202241 A 13,169
New leases MHE 2,769
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B B B A &) 1,105
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors HEAFEZBEHEHASER (768)
Changes from financing cash flows HERSRENED (5,544)

Interest expense B RFZ 531

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022F12 A31H &

20231 A1H 11,262

New leases e 2,150
Acquisition of a subsidiary gy =N 322
Changes from financing cash flows MERTRENED (5,903)

Interest expense B 361
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 8,192
BIRANRERAE

—z-=FEf
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

3. FERERERMEFEE)

(C) HEHA&RHEH

u‘I’)\,Zv?l/:l\ i/}mgimiﬂﬁiﬁ
SR EESTMT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFTRT ARBTT

Within operating activities KEEBA 3,053 2,150
Within financing activities BMEEHA 5,903 5,544
8,956 7,694

32. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any significant commitments.

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related parties are as follows:

32. &if

RFERR AEERETHNEKX
EHE o

33. ABAXRS

AREEBEB I FBOT:

Company Relationship with the Company
AT il NN ol RES

M3, Inc. Shareholder of the Company

M3, Inc. ZAN/NETE S

M3 USA Corporation (“M3 USA”)

M3 USA Corporation (“M3 USA”)

M3 (EU) Limited (“M3 (EU)”)

M3 (EU) Limited (“M3 (EU)”)

M Panels Research Services PVT Ltd. (“M Panels”)

M Panels Research Services PVT Ltd. (“M Panels”)
Qualitative and Quantitative Fieldwork Service AB (“QQFS”)
Qualitative and Quantitative Fieldwork Service AB (“QQFS”)
Liwen Bianji Co., Limited (“Liwen Bianji”)
IRBHBEX X ERERR(HEHE )

Yunnan Medcon
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An entity controlled by M3,
M3, Inc.iE IR B 88

An entity controlled by M3,
M3, Inc.iE IR B &8

An entity controlled by M3,
M3, Inc.iE IR B 88

An entity controlled by M3,
M3, Inc.i5 IR B 88

An entity controlled by M3,
M3, Inc.i5 IR B 88

An associate
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nc.

nc.

nc.

nc.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

33. MBEAXSR (&

(@ The Group had the following transactions with related @ ANEERFAMEEEETH
parties during the year: RPWT:
Notes 2023 2022
Bt 5 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®T
Precision marketing and fEAE R BH R 1 R R
corporate solutions RAREHET:
provided to:
M3 USA M3 USA (1) 3,961 5,463
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) (i) 4,577 1,424
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. (i) - 283
M Panels M Panels (i) 331 560
QQFS QQFS (i) 929 799
8,968 8,529
Intelligent patient management BB ETEMR
solutions provided to: HREMHT:
M3 USA M3 USA (i - 346
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) (i - 70
- 416
Software licensing fee to: BUHFAIBET:
M3 USA M3 USA (i) 301 172
License and service fees to: FARRBEET -
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. (iii) 558 529
Editing service fee to: mERBET
Liwen Bianji 18 8118 (iv) 308 72
BIRANRERAE

—z-=FEf
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) The Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The service fees were determined on normal commercial
terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis, on similar
basis as the Group conducted businesses with other
independent third parties.

(i)  The software licensing fee to M3 USA was determined
on the basis of arm’s length negotiations between the

parties.

(i) The license and service fees were determined on the
basis of arm’s length negotiations between the parties.

(iv)  The editing service fee was determined on the basis of
arm’s length negotiations between the parties.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

33. MBEAXR (&

(@)

AEERFRNEBER T ETH
ZTEMT (&)

B =

MRT% B 4 — AR R
EEmEE  HEEE
BERAEMBIE=T77E
GiER s

:F
==

e
Ei

34‘\ )E' H“\

[AIM3 USASZ Y & 81 fF 5F 7 2
DEERTRTHERETE

AR AR BT IE - T RN TR

EEE -

RERBBEDENATHENE
o

HEAM TR EE SR

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®ETRT

Contract assets BHEE
M3 USA M3 USA 3,888 3,672
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) 1,598 1,666
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. 69 160
M Panels M Panels 629 395
QQFS QQFS 171 152
6,355 6,045
Trade payables =0Y N sl
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. 778 276
Other payables H Ath fE 518
Yunnan Medcon EFEME 280 280
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (Continued)

The outstanding balances with related parties were all
trade in nature except for the amount due to Yunnan
Medcon. Details of the Group’s balances with related
parties are disclosed in notes 19, 23 and 24 to the
financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 2023412 431H

33. MBEAXH (&

>

b) HEEABITMAREESSR: (8)

|

BREN T EB X B BENFREN
HEBOTNREEEHRERE
ZHMEE o NEE BB S
HRAEBRENMBRERME
19 ~ 2324 »

i

€ AEETEEEBASHM:

Group:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT AREFTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEREYEF
in kind 8,274 7,189
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFHEI K 440 384
Share-based payment expense UWRHABEENNRAX 6,284 11,430

Total compensation paid to key SHETEEEEAERN
management personnel B iiFk 14,998 19,003

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)
() and (a)(iii) above also constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EEHFMOFRIANMBERE
B 3E8 ©

BIECETRADFUAZ - B Lt
@) F@UNVEENBEETRSZNE
REBERERS -

BN ARAT
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. BERNBSHEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBEBHR FRIERITAZRK
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as HEWT:
follows:
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST RUEMBFHENEMEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFTRT ARBTT

Trade receivables B2 EMRIE 109,871 95,079
Financial assets included in FTATER ZRIE - H A R GRIE

prepayments, other receivables REMBEEN SR EE

and other assets 5,212 4,657
Time deposits TE BT 3K 42,014 92,438
Cash and cash equivalents BehIReEEY 4,358,255 4,187,264

4,515,352 4,379,438

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH BAREBEHNEAHEEAES
PROFIT OR LOSS HERMEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARETRT

Financial assets at fair value through #Z QAR EBETEBEHEFHTA

profit or loss B emEE 42,640 29,640
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST RESREFIENEMAE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARETRT

Trade payables 2 5 IR 14,771 2,709

Financial liabilities included in FAAEMENRIBERETE A
other payables and accruals MeRAE 17,194 12,009
Lease liabilities HEB®RE 8,192 11,262
40,157 25,980
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34.

35.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 20234127315

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. BENESHERMTIA(Z
(Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH BARBEHEAHREHHAES
PROFIT OR LOSS MeEmER
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT
Contingent consideration payables TS ARE 65,905 41,759
FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. €M THEMAREERAREE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities approximated to their
respective carrying amounts.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals and the current portion of lease
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease liabilities
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own
non-performance risk for lease liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period were assessed to be insignificant.

F®

MR2023F12A31H AEFB M E
ENBEMNAABEEEZENE
HEHRS °

EEEDNE HeMReEFEY -

BHRWKE BHEMNKRE G
ATER IR - E b I RIE M B b

BENSMEE  FTAEMBEMNR
AMEFERANERAGE HESR
BRI R EESDEER
EHEHLAE T2RAXRZKFIAR
REIAEIE -

TREEMBENARABEZEM
TR-—ERIRZCRARFREE
BRINFRBBEBITANSREIIE -

HEBENFNHABLL W REE
EERAAEBERLUGR  FERARRK
BTHHANTAREREHHN
RHBAFHRAKRREREMAE -
AEERGERRIHEERGNE
STENRBEHN N AEEED
WEFE/MTRAE °

BIEREERAT
—z-=FEf
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

35. aMIAMARRERLRRE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent
certain financial products issued by commercial banks
in Chinese Mainland. The Group has estimated the fair
value of these unlisted investments by using the valuation
technique based on the sum of principal and interest
receivable.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payables has
been estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires
management to calculate some appropriate inputs, such
as discount rate. Management believes that the estimated
fair value resulting from the valuation technique, which
is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related change in fair values, which is
recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that it was
the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial liabilities together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023
and 2022:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022

E®(E)

AEBERENIIFLMIKRE  BHE
MR RRITEITNE TERMEM °
AEBEERERERAEZ EFE
ZMEEERMEEZSIFE LR
BHNAEE-

ENHXARENRAABEENER
BEMSERIMNEIFORRK
EARBREERGERMEE
HEEREEENESRNEENE
ABE PIMBRE - EEERR
BERMEENEFT 2 EEGA
REMBRARRIMEBAAEE
EHEIABRR)AE ARB/ER
THRKBEENEER-

TS RHABHEENEENATEHK
B A B iR B20234F K 2022412 A31
B SBREDITHE :

R2023%F & 2022F 12 A31H

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair value to
technique inputs Rate the input
EEFABEBA AABEHBARBHNRR
il {8 £ i HE M BEE
Contingent Monte Carlo Discount rate 3.45%-3.87% 5% increase/decrease in
consideration simulation (2022: discount rate would result
payables 3.65%—-3.85%) in decrease/increase in fair
value by 0.2%
(2022: 0.2%)
e S ARE SHRERR BRI X 3.45%%3.87% MEKIE HS%ERRNE
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS R R M &

31 December 2023 202312 431H

35. EMTAMAARERLARKRE
E®(E)
LRREFER
TRIAREEEHM TANAAE
BFfEFH:

BARBEFENEE:

R2023F12 A31H

Fair value measurement using

RABETERA
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
REBTSZH EXTEER EAFTUEER
RE AEE BASE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—%&) (B=®R) (B=R) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%¥TR AR%¥Tn AR%Tn
Financial assets at fair value BRAREENEAESE
through profit or loss B ABZNERE
B - 42,640 - 42,640
As at 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
Fair value measurement using
RAEBEFERA
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
REBMSE EAUEEE BAMIEER
WE A8 BARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E5—4&) (BZ®R) (=) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBT:R
Financial assets at fair value RANEBEFAEERZ
through profit or loss PiABEMERE
3 - 29,640 - 29,640
%Hn’iﬁﬂ&ﬁ R H)

=ZFFR

.
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. @I AN ABERAARKBE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) FWE)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) DRBEER(E)
Liabilities measured at fair value: RAREBEFENES:
As at 31 December 2023 2023512 A31H

Fair value measurement using
AEEFERA
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
REBTSH EATEER EAFITEER
BE A8B BAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(5—-%) (F=&) (EF=&) @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFRE ARETR AR®Tn AR®Tx

Contingent consideration payables & 1< 2k A X (B - - 65,905 65,905
Fair value measurement using
ARBETERRA
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RER  EBARUHERE EASTHER

miHHRE AR BARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F—4) (BE=8) (=) @5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTE ARBTRT ARETR

Contingent consideration payables J& f<f 2k A 1 (B - - 41,759 41,759
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value TR 2HEEMEGREBEHES
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no —HEE—_HF2EHRREEGT
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and sEE TERfF=-fEAE LY
financial liabilities (2022: Nil). (20224 : £&) o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations
in exchange rates between the RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect the
Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The
Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk
by minimising its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising
from foreign currency denominated financial instruments)
and the Group’s equity (due to exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations).

Notes to Financial Statements

b e E e

31 December 2023 202312 431H

36. &R kR EEER R E

AEBENIZSRIABRERE R
ReEEY ZFeMIANTIR
BENERASENEEEREES -
AEENEGEEERELEZRA
femEERRAE  WEHEER
AREZENRA -

AEESRTAEENTIEZRRA
SRR FEERREREE S
R EEEEMNAZEABRN
EERERE  EBAmT -

b8 R B3

SNERBRIEINEE RS FHEH WA
KRR ARBEARNEELZEER
A EMEENER KIS ZER
SEMBMRAREERE - AKHE
R NS SR ST R RR &/ ME T BR I E
T %1 69 5N L B e

TRITEMBEEBEERFT T E
BT - RS B R R & BB 7R AT
EAMOCRENEFESM TR A
SEEDCRERERINEBOER
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

36. @M AR EEARRBE ()

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued) ShHEmBE (=)
Increase/(decrease)
in rate of foreign Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
currency in profit before tax in equity
NEERH/(B) BEARAE/(R) Bxg /()
% RMB'000 RMB'’000
% ARBTR ARBTR
2023 2023%
If the US$ weakens against the HK$ AETARTRE 5 79,950 79,950
If the US$ strengthens against the HK$ WETREATLHE (5) (79,950) (79,950)
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARERETLEE 5 (61) 3,002
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ HARERELAE (5) 61 (3,092)
2022 20226
If the US$ weakens against the HKS WETRBLRE 5 91725 91,725
If the US$ strengthens against the HK$ WETHEATHE (5) (91,725) (91,725)
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARBRETLEE 5 (2,316) 14,178
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ A RE XX {E (5) 2,316 (14,178)
CREDIT RISK {5 & W B

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. € RMBETEEERBE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK (Continued) HERRE(E)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging B R R EARRER

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TEREBINERAEBEERRNE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EEENRaEERR  ZEEHR
which is mainly based on ageing information unless other REZDERBAENRERSEGR
information is available without undue cost or effort, and FEHMEANEBAZKAKE N
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting A ESHNE RRBEHROF
period. KEEER 48 o

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for I eHEREMEENREABEARE -

financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023 202312 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A H
FEBR rHRMEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F1RR FoRR FI3WR  WEAE st

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARETR

Trade receivables® B HEW IR - - - 111,190 111,190
Contract assets* BNEE" - - - 46,049 46,049
Financial assets included STIABRAFR - Hip

in prepayments, other PR FIE R HAt

receivables and other assets BENSREE

— Normal** — EE™ 5,212 - - - 5,212
Time deposits THHH 42,014 - - - 42,014
Cash and cash equivalents Re kB2 EEY

— Not yet past due — MRS 4,358,255 - - — 4,358,255

4,405,481 - 157,239 4,562,720

BEENSERAT
—p-=FFy 20!

—_—
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36.

AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

EREREEERRBE(E)

EREE ()

Bis E kR R FERPEER ()

As at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A& H
FEER rHEREEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER Epliy FER  BRE @t

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AREBTRT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTRT ARETR

Trade receivables* B AR KIE - - - 95,893 95,893
Contract assets* ANEE" - - - 29,132 29,132
Financial assets included ATABEMFE . Eb

in prepayments, other FEMRIE R B A

receivables and other assets BENGREE

— Normal** - EE* 4,657 — - — 4,657
Time deposits EBRER 92,438 - - - 92,438
Cash and cash equivalents ReLkREEEY

— Not yet past due — BAREH 4,187,264 - - — 4,187,264

4,284,359 - - 125,025 4,409,384

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the * RAEBERAGLELFEZTERED

Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, further
information is disclosed in notes 18 and 19 to the financial
statements, respectively.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty and by geographical region. There
are no significant concentrations of credit risk within
the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different regions.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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36. @M AR EEARRBE (Z)

EERE2Z)
EEAEERESREKZESH 2
EERBFMAS/CHE SN ER
KM FE18

AERASEERERTAEE
%%_Etﬁx% FfT LA £ 75 4 R

cFEEETRBEER /XY
?M&ﬂ@@ﬁ%ﬁ HRAEE
B RWAHRBENEFEER MR R
o ARAEERESAEESSD
[\ g e

R #f

i Bh 58 & L BR

AEEgERFEeREFEDY

KF - UHERFBERAEEEIEE

REGBEOKTY  UBNEEMS
LREBREeRERBNTE -

ATEIAEERREMRBRES
MR BN RO R EBIE D H
RS

31 December 2023

2023F12H31H
Less than 3 3to 1to
On demand months 12 months 3 years Total
REX SEAMUR 3Z12{8A 1Z23F @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR®Tn AR¥Tx
Trade payables B SN TIE 14,771 - - - 14,771
Lease liabilities HEERE - 1,377 3,408 3,718 8,503
Financial liabilities included in ~ &F A E 3 [ (1 708 I
other payables and accruals B EBRASRHE
& 17,194 - - - 17,194
Contingent consideration R RARE
payables - - 18,362 51,348 69,710
31,965 1,377 21,770 55,066 110,178
%H)ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁf‘ﬁﬁj

=ZFFR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. ¢ EBREEAERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) mEBEEEEZ)
31 December 2022
2020512 A31H
On Less than 3to 1to
demand 3 months 12 months 3 years Total
RER  3ARMAR  3ZE12{EA 1235 @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTE ARBTRT ARETT ARBTRT ARETR

Trade payables BESRMNFIE 2,709 - - - 2,709
Lease liabilities MEERE - 1,504 3,669 6,350 11,523
Financial liabilities included in ATAE MR 50IE
other payables and accruals LEGERNS
BEE 12,009 - — - 12,009
Contingent consideration ERHARE
payables — - 14,463 29,589 44,052
14,718 1,504 18,132 35,939 70,293

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
borrowings divided by total equity. The gearing ratio was
zero since there was no borrowing as of 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022.
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 37.

38.

There were no other significant events that required
additional disclosure or adjustments occurred after the end

of the reporting period.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
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BEMEER

FLTMBRAR

R EMTEE TEELETMH
O BFRIME R BHEKREIR -

BREARA R WS B R e B8

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RERWMT:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RERAR 2”& 52,824 42,228
Total non-current assets IEMEBEERE 52,824 42,228
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries A ENGIE S 285,533 245,414
Prepayments, other receivables and T8 I8 - E th jE U 3k 18 &
other assets HEi&EE 102,202 100,564
Cash and cash equivalents BehIReEEY 3,936,573 3,862,700
Total current assets MBEERE 4,324,308 4,208,678
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables =0y g 138 136
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 138 136
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 4,324,170 4,208,542
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEBRBEE
LIABILITIES 4,376,994 4,250,770
Net assets BEFE 4,376,994 4,250,770
EQUITY =
Share capital fi% 72 46 45
Reserves (note) 15 (BT ) 4,376,948 4,250,725
Total equity B R 4,376,994 4,250,770
BiIREREERAT

—z-=FEf
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31 December 2023 202312 431H

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. X AFIMBRAE(Z

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: M 3
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KABRERENT
Exchange  (Accumulated
Share Share option fluctuation losses)/
premium reserve reserve retained profits Total
(Bt ER)/
B4 B & BRERE EXRDRE BRER @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTR AREFT AEEFT AREF AREFT
At 1 January 2022 7202241718 3,898,396 14,257 (53,264) (30,313) 3,829,076
Profit for the year EREF - - - 63,378 63,378

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEARAHEHR AR
the Company’s financial statements JlERZERER

into presentation currency - - 353,159 - 353,159
Total comprehensive income for the year ERN2E R 28 353,159 63,378 416,537
Share-based payments IRABEENNTR - 17,245 - - 17,245
Final dividend declared and paid BERRENRARE - - - (12,133) (12,133)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022412 4318 22023

1 January 2023 #1A1H 3,898,396 31,502 299,895 20,932 4,250,725
Profit for the year FREH - - — 165,918 165,918

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEARANEHR AR
the Company’s financial statements JIERERER

into presentation currency - - 69,317 - 69,317
Total comprehensive income for the year ERN2E R 28 - - 69,317 165,918 235,235
Issue of shares By 5,943 - - - 5,943
Shares repurchased BERRH (683) - - - (683)
Share-based payments ABRHAEENNK - 10,415 - - 10,415
Dividend declared and paid BERREMRE - - - (124,687) (124,687)
At 31 December 2023 320236128318 3,903,656 0,917 369,212 62,163 4,376,948

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  39. #it/fMt R =*

The financial statements were approved and authorised for §$;§ 72202443 A 258 #it /i Jo 5 HE T 3
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2024. MBRE -
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